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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
"Director(s)") of EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
(the "Company’), | am pleased to present the annual report of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
"Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting
Period").

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Our group continues to steadily advance towards realising our
aspiration — "to contribute to the health of both the mind and
body of people” — embodied in our corporate name, “Creative
Health/ £l f2 " by striving to become a “Specialised Trading
Company”, that connects the healthcare industries of China,
Japan and the broader Asian region as a business development
partner, as our envisioned future.

Leveraging Hong Kong's advantage as a central hub in Asia, our
business focuses on trading across China, Japan and other parts
of Asia. In addition to our founding apparel ODM business, we
handle a wide range of products related to healthcare in our core
business. We are also actively promoting product and business
development through partnerships with startups and research
institutions in China and Japan.

In recent years, our business environment has undergone several
significant changes. These changes have revealed new challenges
that require flexible, medium- to long-term strategic responses.
During the Reporting Period under review, we reassessed our
roadmap towards our envisioned future and initiated a shift
in our business portfolio — from a hybrid model combining
prior investment-driven and profit-generating businesses, to a
consolidated focus on profit-generating businesses. Specifically,
during the Reporting Period, we have disposed of our Japan-IRO
business and In-house R&D business, thereby consolidating our
business assets around profit-generating businesses.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERHME

For the Reporting Period under review, the Group’s revenue
decreased by approximately HK$100.1 million or approximately
15.5%, from approximately HK$644.6 million for the year ended
31 March 2024 to approximately HK$544.5 million for the year
ended 31 March 2025. The Group recorded a profit of HK$30.4
million (for the year ended 31 March 2024: loss of HK$26.5
million).

Our Healthcare and Medicated Products Business (the "HCP
Businesses”) comprises the health and medicated food
distribution business managed by R&E Co., Ltd. and its subsidiary,
and the laboratory supply distribution business operated by EP
Trading Co., Ltd. and its subsidiary. The health and medicated
food distribution business recorded growth in both revenue
and profit, in spite of a slowdown in the markets. The laboratory
supply distribution business also recorded growth in both
revenue and profit, despite headwinds such as the depreciation
of the Japanese yen.

In our Garment Business, amid an increasingly challenging
business environment characterised by intensified price
competition, we strategically reviewed our transactions with a
focus on profitability. As a result, net sales declined significantly
compared to the previous fiscal year. Furthermore, profitability
did not meet expectations, and the business faced considerable
difficulties.

In the IRO with CRO service and In-house R&D business, the IRO
business, as a result of efforts to narrow the service scope and
target customer base, maintained revenue at approximately the
same level as the previous fiscal year. Moreover, excluding other
gains from the disposal of the Japan-IRO business, it succeeded
in achieving profitability. On the other hand, while the In-house
R&D business made steady progress in each pipeline, overall
progress fell behind the original plan, resulting in a decrease in
the expenses related to research and development compared to
the previous fiscal year.

Additionally, the other gains arising from the disposal of the
Japan IRO and In-house R&D businesses were also recorded
during the Reporting Period.
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PROSPECTS

While continuing to consolidate our focus on profit-generating
businesses, we have identified three key challenges and are
steadily advancing efforts to address each:

1. Strengthening and Expanding Existing Profit-
generating Businesses:

Health and medicated food distribution business:

While striving to expand sales of existing products, we will
proactively anticipate changes in market preferences and
trends to timely update our product offerings. Concurrently,
we will continue to explore and identify products with
potential that have not yet gained widespread recognition
in the market. Additionally, we will endeavor to develop
new sales channels.

Laboratory supply distribution business:

While maintaining and firmly defending the performance
of our existing core products, we will allocate additional
resources and implement expansion strategies for products
with growth potential. From a medium-term perspective,
we will simultaneously endeavour to explore new product
categories from new suppliers or in new areas. Furthermore,
we will advance the adoption of various technologies to
achieve more effective and efficient operations.

Garment business:

In the face of the ever-changing business environment,
the Group has adopted a series of flexible and diversified
strategies on garment business. These include optimising
product mix, strengthening supply chain management, and
improving production efficiency to enhance competitiveness
and market adaptability. We are committed to continuously
innovating and enhancing our business processes to ensure
that our products and services can meet the changing
needs of consumers while maintaining our market share in
the industry.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERHME

China-IRO business with CRO service:

In the CRO services, we will continue our ongoing efforts
to refine the service scope and target customers, while
strengthening collaboration with partners to increase the
number of orders received. Additionally, we will focus on
talent development to achieve more efficient operations.
Regarding the IRO services, we intend to focus on areas
where demand is expected to grow in the future and
steadily build our track record one by one.

Optimising the Business Portfolio:

Building on previous actions such as acquiring the China-
IRO and HCP Businesses and disposing of the Japan-IRO
business and In-house R&D businesses, we will accelerate
the optimisation of our business portfolio in line with our
envisioned future.

Exploring and Launching New Profit-generating
Businesses:

We will actively pursue partnerships with other companies
and leverage these collaborations to explore new business
domains optimally aligned with our strategy. For example,
we are progressing with an initiative to enter the cosmetics
business sector by leveraging our minority investment made
in February of this year in a cosmetics venture company.

Our Group will continuously enhance the necessary
functions toward our vision which is to create the business
co-creation platform satisfying a wide range of needs and
demands from product development and manufacture to
distribution in the healthcare industry in the China, Japan
and the broader Asian region as a business development
partner.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | wish to take this opportunity to extend
my sincere appreciation to the Group’s management and staff
for their commitment and dedication throughout the year. |
would also like to express my heartfelt gratitude to all of our
business partners, customers, suppliers and the shareholders (the
“Shareholders”) of the Company for their continuous support.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
Washikita Kenichiro
Chairman and executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEN WD

INTRODUCTION

In pursuit of our vision to become a specialised trading
company connecting Japan, China, and Asia through the
healthcare industry as a Business Development Partner, our
Group is currently engaged in three core business segments:
the Healthcare and Medicated Products Business, the Innovative
Research Organization (IRO) Business with Specialised Contract
Research Organization (CRO) Services and In-house R&D Business
("IRO with CRO Services and In-house R&D Business"), and
the Garment Business.

The Healthcare and Medicated Products Business encompasses
two main areas: the Health and Medicated Food Distribution
Business and the Laboratory Supply Distribution Business.

The IRO with CRO Services and In-house R&D Business is further
categorised into three divisions: the Japan-IRO Business, the
China-IRO Business, and the In-house R&D Business.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Healthcare and Medicated Products Business (the “HCP
Business”)

Health and medicated food distribution business:

In March 2023, we acquired 65% equity interest in R&E
Corporation Limited ("R&E"). Through R&E and its subsidiaries, we
have been engaged in the import and distribution of Japanese
food products in the Chinese market.

Our strengths in this business lie in our ability to identify
Japanese health and medicated food products with strong latent
demand, as well as our extensive distribution network across the
Chinese market.

During the Reporting Year, despite facing challenges including
regulatory constraints and an economic slowdown in the market,
we had an improvement in business performance as a result of
our strategic initiatives such as the development of new sales
channels which helped sustain our growth.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Laboratory supply distribution business:

In December 2022, we acquired 100% of the shares of EP Trading
Co., Ltd. ("EPTR"). Through EPTR and its subsidiaries, we have
long been engaged in the import and distribution of non-clinical
research materials and equipment—primarily manufactured in
the USA—to both the Japanese and Chinese markets.

Our key strength in this business lies in our extensive customer
network, which covers nearly 100% of pharmaceutical companies
and academic research institutions across Japan.

During the Reporting Period, despite facing headwinds from
the continued depreciation of the Japanese yen against the
U.S. dollar, the successful outcome of our large-scale projects—
part of our medium-term initiatives—contributed to a notable
improvement in business performance.

HCP Business recorded revenue of approximately HK$169.6
million for the Reporting Year, representing an increase of
approximately 21.6% as compared to approximately HK$139.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2024. The Group's gross
profit for the Reporting Year in this segment amounted to
approximately HK$38.1 million (for the year ended 31 March
2024: approximately HK$29.6 million). The increase in revenue
mainly arose as a result of the growth in the laboratory supply
distribution business. The increase in gross profit mainly arose as
a result of cost control on health and medicated food distribution
business.

IRO with CRO Service and In-house R&D Business
IRO Business

The Group has been aiming to provide one stop solution to
academia, biotech-ventures and pharmaceutical companies in
Japan and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), based on
our knowledge and experiences of drug development support
businesses that we have cultivated over many years in Japan and
the PRC.

We have called it “IRO Business” (Innovative Research
Organization Business) which is quite a new business model to
provide services for business development and commercialisation
support including the entry of the PRC companies into the
Japanese market and the entry of the biotech-ventures in Japan
into the PRC. This business is also characterised by the fact that
most of the business development clients are mainly in the early
stage which require consultation and there shall be long-term
benefits once these clients’ business proceed.

EEENWED N

ERERmTHESE -

T F+ R BMKRBETEPESERA
AI(TEPTRJ) 100%A 17 » REAAZKR - F1P9iE
BEPTREE T AR - AR B AFMABETS
EOMDHEEEEZEHRERNIERRAEM R
AR

HPIEZFHAINZOEBERRFIEZH
BEPMG  BITRETBAMARERRME
M TR -

HEMA - BE@ERA B TREREND
MAER - BEATHIEEZ —HRIWERNK

WEE - 3T EENBEERTT

WMEFE HCPEB B W E L1696 8 & H
T BBE_E_NMF=A=1+—HIFEY
1395 BB TIEMAI16% - BMEFE - £F
D EHENO AN I BEET(HE_Z=
WE=ZA=+—HLEFE : £9296B8EBT) °
H&zéiﬁuixmﬁA?ﬁﬁAZﬁﬁuﬂu%iﬁ%‘%mﬁ
R -FEFEMEBHMNREMEBERFDIHE
TEEI R Al o

IROEZCROPR 75 1 A SR HT 3% £ 7%
IRO¥ 7

SE-—EINRFMHZEREBAMFEAR

HAME ([ E ) e B 5 3 SR E R A
‘*?MDZ B REAMPENSEMR - YR
EEMBERTRE—EAFRITR -

B 2 BIIROE I (B RTMIBERT) - &

E-RAEHANEERLN - BEREHES
RMARCXERY  BREDTEEEEA

BA™MS » WREBBARNEYRMEEEA
FE - ZEBN S —EFE j(;r%l%?f%%
REPIZRNEMER FTEXKHA  —BE

78 2 Al Ak
LR PREBRERR - EﬁaﬁXEEﬁ*'JﬁT& °

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025
2024/2025 F3;

11



12

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEN WD

Japan-IRO Business:

With a review of the roadmap towards our target vision, and
guided by a policy to shift our business portfolio from a “hybrid
of prior investment-driven businesses and profit-generating
businesses” to a “consolidation into profit-generating businesses”,
and having considered the time required for this business to
become profitable and achieve business synergy with other
businesses of the Group, we determined that the disposal (the
"Disposal’) of EPS Medical Consultancy (Japan) Limited, which
is principally engaged in the provision of IRO services, represents
a good opportunity to divert our investment to other business
segments of the Group and completion of the Disposal has taken
place in October 2024.

China-IRO Business with CRO Service:

The China-IRO business, which was acquired by the Group in
September 2022, achieved certain improvement in terms of
business performance by strategically narrowing down service
areas and controlling costs, especially in CRO services.

In-house R&D Business

In relation to the In-house R&D Business, it has been focusing
and making steady progress on the initiatives of (i) exploring the
potential for anti-obesity and anti-diabetes using the brown fat
cell induction technology; (i) creating a new treatment option so
that EIM-001 becomes an alternative to highly invasive surgical
bypass surgery in peripheral artery diseases; (iii) pursuing the
possibility of sublingual vaccines, focusing on the importance of
secretory IgA, which is considered to have influenced defense
against allergic diseases as well as against new coronaviruses; and
(iv) developing medical devices specialised in iBTA technology.

As with the Japan-IRO Business, we have reviewed the roadmap
towards our target vision and, in line with our strategic policy to
shift the business portfolio from a “hybrid of prior investment-
driven businesses and profit-generating businesses” to a
“consolidation into profit-generating businesses,” we have
taken into consideration the current development progress of
each pipeline, as well as the time and capital required to realise
our market entry in China. Based on this assessment, it was
considered that the Disposal represents a good opportunity to
divert our investment to other business segments of the Group
and completion of the Disposal has taken place in March 2025.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IRO with CRO Service and In-house R&D Business

IRO Business with CRO Services and In-house R&D Business
Unit recorded revenue of approximately HKS$45.2 million for
the Reporting Year, representing an increase of approximately
18.5% as compared to approximately HK$38.1 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024. The gross profit for the Reporting Year in
this segment amounted to approximately HK$10.5 million (for
the year ended 31 March 2024: gross loss approximately HK$0.08
million). The increase in revenue and gross profit was mainly
attributed to the ongoing efforts of the Group in optimising
industry resources in the competitive PRC specialised CRO service
business, which contributed to the improvement in margin.

Garment Business

The Group is engaged in the Garment Business, providing
apparel supply chain management service for knitwear products.
The Group provides one-stop apparel supply chain management
solutions for its clients ranging from fashion trend analysis,
product design and development, sourcing and procurement of
materials, production management, quality control to logistics
services. The Group does not possess its own labels. All the
Group's knitwear products are manufactured in accordance with
the specifications and requirements set out by the Group's clients
in the sales orders, some designs of which are recommended
or inspired by the Group. Since the Group does not own or
operate any manufacturing operations, the Group outsources the
whole manufacturing process to third-party manufacturers with
manufacturing operations located in the PRC, Thailand and/or
Cambodia.

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded revenue of
approximately HK$329.7 million in this segment, representing a
decrease of approximately 29.4% as compared to approximately
HK$467.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2024. The Group's
gross profit for the Reporting Year in this segment amounted
to approximately HK$46.0 million (for the year ended 31 March
2024: approximately HK$69.7 million). The decrease in gross
profit of the Group in this segment was primarily attributable to
the decrease in the overall sales volume of the major customers
headquartered in the USA.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEN WD

During the year under review, the overall market recovery
progressed at a more moderate pace than expected, weighed
down by rising protectionism and simmering geopolitical
tensions. While certain macroeconomic indicators showed
consecutive improvements, consumer confidence remained
fragile amid this complex environment. To navigate these
challenges, our sales teams focused on expanding our client
base, diversifying manufacturing sources, and accelerating
product development. These efforts are aimed at sustaining our
garment business with a profitable margin while positioning the
Group for resilient growth in the evolving market landscape.

Performance Review

The Group's total comprehensive income attributable to owners
of the Company was approximately HK$36.3 million for the
Reporting Year (for the year ended 31 March 2024, the total
comprehensive expense attributable to owners of the Company
was approximately HKS$22.3 million). The increase of the total
comprehensive income attributable to owners of Company
is mainly attributable to (i) the increase in the other gain of
approximately HK$43.2 million inclusive of the gain on disposal
of the Japan-IRO business and In-house R&D businesses; and (ii)
the decrease in administrative expenses of HK$14.4 million in
relation to the delay in development progress of the In-house
R&D business.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue from Healthcare and Medicated Products Business

Revenue derived from the Healthcare and Medicated Products
Business (HCP Business) of the Group increased by approximately
HKS$30.1 million or 21.6% to approximately HK$169.6 million for
the year ended 31 March 2025 from approximately HK$139.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2024. The increase in
revenue mainly arose as a result of the realisation of expansion
in sales. As for the sale in health and medicated food distribution
business, the development of new sales channels contributed to
the increase in revenue. As for the sales in the laboratory supply
distribution business, the successful outcome of large-scale
projects largely contributed to the increase in revenue.
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Revenue
PN
Year ended 31 March
2025 2024 _Change
—E-RF —EUF FEhL R
HKS’000 HKS'000 %
FET FET
Health and medicated food distribution R {2 B2 &5 8 (7 ) 315
business 101,682 91,681 10.9
Laboratory supply distribution business & 5 %= A a7 4 ¥ 7% 67,910 47,807 42.1
Total HEt 169,592 139,488 216
Revenue from IRO with CRO and In-house R&D Business IRO X CROF (A R Aff 2% 3£ 75 Wk 25

Revenue derived from the IRO with CRO Services and In-house
R&D Business of the Group increased by approximately HK$7.1
million or 18.5% to HK$45.2 million for the year ended 31 March
2025 from approximately HK$38.1 million for the year ended 31
March 2024.

BHE-_ZT_RAF=-A=+—HILFE ke«
S BECROMRTE & N BROf 35 SEFEHIROM A R ELE
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Revenue

WA
Year ended 31 March

BEZA=t—LFE

Rate of
2025 2024 _Change
—E_R%E —E-F i )l S
HK$’000 HKS000 %
FET FET
IRO with CRO IRO K& CRO 45,102 38,143 182
In-house R&D N 2R B 112 6 |,766.7
Total HEt 45,214 38,149 18.5
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEN WD

Revenue from Garment Business

The Group's knitwear products are divided into three categories,
namely womenswear products, menswear products and kidswear
products. During the Reporting Year, the Group's revenue was
mainly derived from the sales of womenswear products, which

I 30306

AEBEZHBERS D /=EER - NKE
o BRER  BEEXEM RBEFE - AK
SEZWSETBRAEELEER - HIERE

FREAEEBENZL868% (BE_T_MF=

accounted for approximately 86.8% (for the year ended 31 March  A=1T—HIEFE : WzE4I72.5%) - TERET
2024: approximately 72.5%) of the Group’s total revenue for the AKBEREBE—T_AF=HA=+—HILM{#
Reporting Year. The following table sets out a breakdown of the ~FEZIREMMERIZIH 2 Yz=A4
Group's revenue by product category for each of the two years
ended 31 March 2025:
Year ended 31 March
2025 2024 Change
—E-HF —E-EF k0o
HK’000 % HK'000 % %
FET TF#ET
Womenswear i 286,080 86.8 338,604 72.5 (15.5)
Menswear ==p5 39,320 11.9 117,833 252 (66.6)
Kidswear g 4,316 1.3 10,541 2.3 (59.1)
Total Bl 329,716 100.0 466,978 100.0 (29.4)

During the Reporting Year, the sales volume of the Group
amounted to approximately 3.6 million pieces (for the year ended

RBEFE - AREHBREERFE/Y
36ABMH(BE_T_WF=A=1+—HBLLHF

31 March 2024: approximately 5.7 million pieces) of finished & : #s7H&EMH) - U THIWREBE—ES—F
knitwear products. Set out below are the total sales quantity of ®£=g8=4+—F I WEAEESERER > &5
each product category for each of the two years ended 31 March g
2025:
Year ended 31 March
BE=ZRA=1t—LFE Rate of
2025 2024 Change
—E-HF —ZEuF gapthx
Pieces ‘000 %  Pieces 000 % %
HETH 2T
Womenswear W 3,214 89.0 3,993 70.5 (19.5)
Menswear BE 318 8.8 1,476 26.0 (78.5)
Kidswear £ 81 2.2 200 35 (59.5)
Total HBIHE 3,613 100.0 5,669 100.0 (36.3)

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The selling price of each of the product category depends
primarily on, among other things, (i) the complexity of the
product design; (ii) the size of an order; (iii) the delivery schedule
set out by customers; (iv) the costs of raw materials; and (v) the
production costs as quoted by the third-party manufacturers.
Accordingly, the selling price of the Group's products may differ
considerably in different purchase orders by different customers.
Set out below are the average selling prices per piece of finished
product sold by the Group by product category for each of the
two years ended 31 March 2025:

EEEWmED M

BREMBRZEEBETERT(EFRBE)TIE
HIME : ()VEMKXTEERE : ()G ERR |||
%fiﬁﬁmﬁéﬁﬁvfﬁﬁ% D (VEMBKA - Ky

=T BBERMMTRAEERA o Eit KEIZF
mEERIBERATREP Z T RIRER] E M AR
ERE - UTHIAKERBE_T_AF=A
=t+—BUEMEFESMEKRIRERERE
DB ERE -

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—LFE

2025 2024 Rate of Change
—E-HE T[4 BELLE

Average selling Average selling

price (Note) price (Note)

THEE FHEE

(HED) (W3E)
HKS HKS %

BT BT
Womenswear Lo 89.0 84.8 5.0
Menswear B 123.6 79.8 54.9
Kidswear 2 53.3 52.7 1.1

Overall average selling {z}%ﬂrﬁii&j

price per piece =L 91.3 824 10.8

Note: The average selling price per piece represents the revenue for

the year divided by the total sales quantity for the year.

The Group's revenue from the garment segment decreased by
approximately 29.4%, or approximately HK$137.3 million, from
approximately HK$467.0 million for the year ended 31 March
2024 to approximately HK$329.7 million for the Reporting
Year. The decrease in revenue was primarily attributable to
the decrease in purchase orders of the Group from the major
customers headquartered in USA and Japan.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEN WD

Womenswear

During the Reporting Year, the Group’s revenue from the
garment segment was mainly derived from the sales of
womenswear products. Revenue derived from the sales of
womenswear products decreased by approximately HK$52.5
million or 15.5%, from approximately HK$338.6 million for the
year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$286.1 million for
the Reporting Year. Such decrease was mainly attributable to the
decrease in sales quantity from approximately 4.0 million pieces
for the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately 3.2 million
pieces for the Reporting Year, which outweighed the increase in
average selling price per piece of womenswear products from
approximately HK$84.8 for the year ended 31 March 2024 to
approximately HK$89.0 for the Reporting Year.

Menswear

The Group’s revenue derived from the sales of menswear
products decreased by approximately HK$78.5 million or 66.6%
from approximately HK$117.8 million for the year ended 31
March 2024 to approximately HK$39.3 million for the Reporting
Year. Such decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in
sales quantity from approximately 1.5 million pieces for the year
ended 31 March 2024 to approximately 0.3 million pieces for
the Reporting Year, which outweighed the increase in average
selling price per piece of menswear products from approximately
HK$79.8 for the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately
HKS$123.6 for the Reporting Year.

Kidswear

Revenue derived from the sales of kidswear products of the
Group decreased by approximately HK$6.2 million or 59.1%
to approximately HKS4.3 million for the Reporting Year from
approximately HK$10.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2024.
The decrease in the revenue of the Group’s kidswear products
was mainly attributable to the decrease in sales volume of
the Group's kidswear products from approximately 0.2 million
pieces for the year ended 31 March 2024 to less than 0.1 million
pieces for the Reporting Year, which outweighed the increase
in average selling price per piece of the kidswear products from
approximately HK$52.7 for the year ended 31 March 2024 to
approximately HK$53.3 for the Reporting Year.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gross profit and gross profit margins
Healthcare and Medicated Products Business (HCP Business)

The Group's gross profit in this business segment increased to
approximately HK$38.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2025 from approximately HK$29.6 million for the year ended 31
March 2024, representing a increase of approximately 28.7%. The
increase in gross profit mainly arose as a result of expansion in
sales. As for the health and medicated food distribution business,
the improved cost control contributed to the increase in the
gross profit.

IRO with CRO Services and In-house R&D Business

The Group’s gross profit increased to approximately HK$10.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2025 from gross loss of
approximately HK$0.08 million for the year ended 31 March
2024. The increase in gross profit was mainly attributed to the
ongoing efforts of the Group in optimising industry resources
in the competitive PRC specialised CRO service business, which
contributed to the improvement in margin.

Garment Business

The Group’s gross profit declined to approximately HK$46.0
million for the Reporting Year as compared with approximately
HK$69.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing
a decrease of approximately 34.0%. The Group's gross profit
margin decreased to approximately 14.0% for the Reporting Year
from approximately 14.9% for the year ended 31 March 2024.
Such decrease in the Group's gross profit margin was mainly
attributable to the increase in average production cost per piece
of womenswear products for the Reporting Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEN WD

Other income, gains and losses

Other income, gains and losses mainly consists of sample sales
income, exchange loss and fair value gain on promissory note
due to non-controlling interests. Other income, gains and losses
increased by approximately HK$38.3 million for the year ended
31 March 2025 to HKS$50.2 million from approximately HK$11.9
million for the year ended 31 March 2024. The increase in other
income, gains and losses of the Group was attributable to the
gain on disposals of the entire issued share capital of EPS Medical
Consultancy (Japan) Co., Ltd. and EPS Innovative Medicine (Hong
Kong) Limited which were wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company immediately prior to completion of the disposals in
October 2024 and March 2025 respectively, during the Reporting
Year. Details of the disposals are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 2 October 2024, 8 October 2024, 19
February 2025 and 31 March 2025 and the Company's circular
dated 14 March 2025.

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses mainly consist of research
and development cost and related administrative expenses
in In-House R&D Business. Such expenses have decreased to
approximately HK$18.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2025
from approximately HK$24.3 million for the year ended 31 March
2024, representing a decrease of approximately 25.5%. Such
decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease of expenses in
research and development trials during the year.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly consist of advertising
expenses, commission expenses, logistic expenses, sample
costs and staff costs and benefits of merchandising staff. Selling
and distribution expenses decreased to approximately HK$35.3
million for the year ended 31 March 2025 from approximately
HK$48.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing
a decrease of approximately 27.7%. Such decrease was mainly
attributable to the overall decrease in the selling expenses of the
Garment Business.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consist of audit fees, legal
and professional fees, overseas and local travelling and general
administrative expenses. Administrative expenses decreased
to approximately HK$49.6 million for the year ended 31 March
2025 from approximately HKS$55.0 million for the year ended
31 March 2024, representing a decrease of approximately
9.8%. Such decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease of
general administrative expenses in Japan-IRO business which
was disposed in October 2024 and the decrease of legal and
professional fees and audit fees during the year.

Finance costs

Finance costs increased to approximately HKS$8.3 million for the
year ended 31 March 2025 from approximately HKS$7.1 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024. Such increase was mainly
attributable to the increase in the finance costs arisen from the
promissory note due to a related party.

Total comprehensive income (expense) attributable to
owners of the Company

Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$36.3 million for
the year ended 31 March 2025 compared with the total
comprehensive expense attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$22.3 million for the year ended 31 March
2024, representing an increase of approximately HK$58.6
million. The turnaround from the total comprehensive expense
to income attributable to owners of the Company was mainly
attributable to (i) the increase in other gain of approximately
HK$43.2 million inclusive of the gain on disposals of the Japan-
IRO business and In-house R&D businesses; and (ii) the decrease
in administrative expenses of HK$14.4 million in relation to the
delay in development progress of the In-house R&D business.

BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The Company’s basic earnings per share for the year ended 31
March 2025 was approximately HK7.41 cents, as compared to the
basic loss per share of approximately HK4.41 cents for the year
ended 31 March 2024. The turnaround from basic loss per share
to basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2025
was due to increase in profit attributable to the owners of the
Company as a result of (i) the increase in revenue generated in
the Healthcare and Medicated Products Business; and (ii) increase
in other incomes, gains and losses as mentioned above, for the
year ended 31 March 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEN WD

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK1.0 cent per share for the year ended 31 March 2025 (for
the year ended 31 March 2024: Nil) to those shareholders whose
names appeared on the register of members of the Company
as at the close of business on 27 August 2025. Subject to the
approval of shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company, the final dividend will
be paid in cash on or before 17 September 2025.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group's operations
were generally financed through its internally generated cash
flows and borrowings from banks and equity financing. The
Directors believe that in the long term, the Group’s operations
will be funded by a combination of internally generated cash
flows and bank borrowings and, if necessary, additional equity
financing.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had net current
assets of approximately HK$151.5 million and HKS$6.9 million,
respectively, including cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HKS$135.7 million and HK$115.5 million, respectively. The Group's
current ratio increased from approximately 1.0 as at 31 March
2024 to approximately 2.9 as at 31 March 2025. Such increase
was mainly due to the significant decrease in current liabilities
of approximately 60.9% as compared to the balances as at 31
March 2024. They were mainly attributable to the decrease in the
amounts due to related parties and ultimate holding company
upon the disposal of the Company’s subsidiary during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

Gearing ratio is calculated based on the total loans and
borrowings (including bank borrowings due within one year and
lease liabilities) divided by total equity at the respective reporting
date. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group's gearing ratio
was 0.04 and 0.08, respectively. The Group entered into a
banking facility agreements with the amount in aggregate of
up to approximately HK$7.8 million (at 31 March 2024: HK$20.0
million). The Group’s rate of unutilised banking facilities was
63% as at 31 March 2025. With the existing available cash and
cash equivalents, the Group has sufficient liquidity to satisfy its
funding requirements, but the Group will continue to look for
fund raising opportunities in order to further strengthen the
Group financial cash position, if necessary.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts prudent treasury policies. The Group's credit
risk is primarily attributable to its trade and other receivables. In
order to minimise its credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team to perform ongoing credit evaluation
of the financial conditions of the customers including but not
limited to the determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that appropriate
follow-up action(s) is/are taken to recover overdue debts and
reduce the Group's exposure to credit risk. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt at the
end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate expected
loss allowance is made. The Group generally grants an average
credit period of 30 to 90 days to its customers. Most of these
counterparties are either owners or sourcing agents of apparel
retail brands based in Japan and the USA. The management of
the Group considered that the credit risk on amounts due from
these customers is insignificant after considering their historical
settlement records, credit qualities and financial positions of
the counterparties. In management of the liquidity risk, the
Board closely monitors and maintains levels of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
the currency of Japanese yen (“JPY”) and Renminbi (“RMB").

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

For the year ended 31 March 2025, there was no change to the
authorised share capital of the Company which is HK$10,000,000
dividable into 1,000,000,000 Shares of a par value of HKS0.01
each.

On 22 April 2024, a total of 22,177,419 subscription shares were
allotted and issued to two subscribers (the “Subscription”) at
the subscription price of HK$0.992 per subscription share, which
were satisfied by cash.

For details of the Subscription, please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 9 April 2024 and 22 April 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEN WD

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES OR JOINT VENTURES

Disposal of EPS Medical Consultancy (Japan) Limited (“EPS
Medical”)

On 2 October 2024, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement with EPS Holdings, Inc., a controlling shareholder of
the Company, for the disposal of the entire equity interest of EPS
Medical, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company prior to the
completion of the disposal which is principally engaged in the
provision of IRO (Innovative Research Organisation) services at a
consideration of JPY1.00. Completion of the disposal took place
upon the signing of the share transfer agreement on 2 October
2024.

Details of the disposal are further set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 2 October 2024 and 8 October 2024.

Disposal of EPS Innovative Medicine (Hong Kong) Limited
(“EPS Innovative”) and its subsidiaries (“EPS Innovative
Group”)

On 19 February 2025, (i) the Company conditionally agreed to
sell, and EPS Holdings, Inc., the controlling shareholder of the
Company, conditionally agreed to acquire the entire issued
share capital of EPS Innovative, at a consideration of JPY1.00;
and (i) the Company also conditionally agreed to sell or procure
to sell, and EPS Holdings, Inc. conditionally agreed to purchase
certain intra-group loans owned by EPS Innovative Group for a
consideration of JPY1,250,000,000. Completion of the disposal
took place on 31 March 2025.

Details of the disposal are further set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 19 February 2025 and 31 March 2025 and
the circular of the Company dated 14 March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 March 2025,
there were no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures by the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not hold any significant
investment with a value of 5% or more of the Company’s total
assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 27 June 2025 in relation to business update on the
proposed acquisition by the Group of the controlling stake in
a company incorporated in the PRC principally engaged in the
manufacturing and sale of pharmaceutical products, the Group
currently has no other plan for material investments and capital
assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at
31 March 2025 (as at 31 March 2024: HKS Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group did not have material capital commitment as at 31
March 2025 (as at 31 March 2024: HKS2.6 million).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Certain trade and bills receivables, other receivables, bank and
cash balances, trade and other payables are denominated in
foreign currency of the respective group entities which are
exposed to foreign currency risk. Although the Group’s revenue
and major expenses are mainly in US$, the functional currency of
the Company is HKS, as HKS is pegged to USS, the Group does
not expect any significant movement in the US$/HKS exchange
rate. The Group has operations both in the PRC and Japan and
the Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure in relation to JPY and RMB should the
need arise.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEN WD

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of each of the below reporting years, the following
assets were pledged to banks to secure certain banking facilities
granted to the Group:

EERR

RIATEREFER - WTIEECHETTRT
NERAEERER 25 TR1TRE ¢

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—1tFE

2025 2024
“EZRF —ENF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
Pledged bank deposit EHEPRITIFR 4,000 9,000
EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES EBERSFMEEE

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed a total of 135 full-time
employees (as at 31 March 2024: 136). The Group's staff costs
included Directors’ emoluments, salaries, other staff benefits,
contributions to retirement schemes and share-based payment.
For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group's total
staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments) amounted to
approximately HK$45.5 million and HKS$54.3 million, respectively.
Remuneration is determined with reference to market terms
and the performance, qualification(s), experience, position and
seniority of individual employee. In addition to the basic salary,
year-end bonuses would be discretionarily offered to those
employees with outstanding performance, in order to retain
employees continuously contributing to the Group.

The remuneration committee of the Company reviews and
determines the remuneration and compensation packages
of the Directors and senior management of the Company
with reference to their experience, responsibilities, workload,
time devoted to the Group and performance of the Group.
Share options may also be granted to the Directors and senior
management under the share option scheme.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group mainly carried
out its businesses in Hong Kong, the PRC and Japan. To the best
of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having made
all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied with all relevant
laws and regulations in Hong Kong, the PRC and Japan.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEN WD

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group aims to protect the environment by minimising
environmental adverse impacts in daily operations, such as
energy saving and recycling of office resources. The Group will
continue to seek better environmental practices and promote
the right environmental attitudes within the organisation. The
Group has complied with all relevant laws, rules and regulations
regarding environmental protection, health and safety, workplace
conditions and employment during the year ended 31 March
2025.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises employees as one of the valuable assets
of the Group and the Group strictly complies with the labour
laws, rules and regulations in Hong Kong and reviews regularly
the existing staff benefits for improvement. Apart from the
reasonable remuneration packages, the Group also offers other
employee benefits, such as medical insurance, birthday leave
to the eligible employees, etc. The Group works closely with its
customers in devising new product designs each season and
delivering knitwear products according to their requirements. The
Group’s Garment Business had maintained business relationships
with its major customers for a period ranging from 2 to 14
years. Over the years, the Directors believe that the Group has
fostered a trustworthy and reliable strategic partnership with its
customers built upon its proven track record of quality products,
industry and product know-how, market awareness, dedicated
management team and competitive pricing. The Group has also
established stable, close working and long-term relationships
with its suppliers. During the year, there was no material dispute
or disagreement with the employees, the customers and the
suppliers of the Group.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Group is focusing on the following three key challenges and
are steadily advancing efforts to address each challenge.

1. Strengthening and expanding existing profit-generating
businesses

2. Optimising the business portfolio
3. Exploring and launching new profit-generating businesses

Our future initiatives to “strengthening and expanding existing
profit-generating business” including the following:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEN WD

Health and medicated food distribution business

Although current market conditions remain challenging due to
regulatory constraints and persistent economic slowdown in the
market may be continued, in the medium term, we expect the
market demand to shift from recovery to growth. In this context,
we will continue to strengthen and expand this business based
on our strengths in identifying Japanese health and medicated
foods that have potential of high demand in the market and our
extensive sales network.

Laboratory supply distribution business

Although we believe that the demand for our existing core
products has matured and that significant growth is not
expected in the future, we will expand this business by actively
discovering new products and entering new areas in the market
while firmly maintaining the business of these core products.

China-IRO business with CRO service

While we expect that demand for CRO services will increase, the
competition in the market will continue in the future. We believe
that the key to future growth is to optimise our own resources
and strengthen cooperation with other companies to forge
complementary relationship within the industry. In parallel with
the enhancement of CRO services, we will also promote the IRO
business to realise the provision of a wider range of services to
biotech companies and pharmaceutical companies in the PRC
and Japan.

Garment Business

Regarding our Garment Business, ongoing economic and
global trade uncertainty, slowdown in demand as well as
shifting consumer behaviour continue to pose challenges to
the businesses of our customers and the fashion industry. We
will keep streamlining our operations and maintaining stringent
cost control in order to remain competitive and flexible. Our
diversified production base together with flexible supply chain
will enable us to work closely with our customers and respond
to their needs. We believe our diversified production base could
alleviate the pressure from the global trade conflict.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Washikita Kenichiro (“Mr. Washikita”), aged 61, is
the Corporate Officer of EPS Holdings, Inc. ("EPS HD"), which
is a controlling shareholder (as defined under the Rules (the
“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)) of the
Company. Mr. Washikita joined EPS HD in April 2024 and has over
37 years of experience in diversified business areas including
apparel and medical healthcare. Prior to joining EPS HD, Mr.
Washikita worked in Mitsui & Co., Ltd., a Japanese company
which is part of the Mitsui Group, an international group offering
diversified services worldwide, from 1987 to March 2024 in which
he had been the General Manager of various business units
and the Chairman and Managing Director of Mitsui & Co. (Hong
Kong) Ltd. He also served in various positions within the Hong
Kong Japanese Chamber of Commerce and Industry, being the
President from April to June 2018, the Vice President from July
2018 to June 2019 and from July 2022 to March 2024, and the
first Health Care & Medical Committee Head from September
2021 to March 2024.

Mr. Washikita graduated from Waseda University in Shinjuku,
Tokyo, Japan, majoring in B.A. Political Science and Economic
in 1987. He also received an MBA degree from Aoyama Gakuin
University in Shibuya, Tokyo, Japan in 2007.

Mr. Washikita did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.

Mr. Miyano Tsumoru (“Mr. Miyano”), aged 59, was appointed
as an executive Director with effect from 12 July 2022. He is
the Managing Director, Chief Operating Officer, LR Authorised
Representative and the member of both the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.
Mr. Miyano joined EPS HD in January 2002 and has over 34
years of experience in the domestic pharmaceutical industry in
Japan and has extensive experience in business development
and marketing. From 2005 up to 2016, Mr. Miyano had been the
executive director of Simian Conservation Breeding & Research,
Inc. Mr. Miyano graduated from the Faculty of Agriculture of the
Tokyo University of Agriculture and Technology in March 1991.

Mr. Miyano did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREERBZBERE

Mr. Narumi Shoichi (“Mr. Narumi”), aged 43, is the deputy
director of the business development office of EPS HD, which is
a controlling shareholder (as defined under the Listing Rules) of
the Company. Mr. Narumi joined the EPS HD Group in 2007 and
has over 15 years of experience in pharmaceutical development
and cross-border business and possesses expertise in finance,
taxation, strategic planning, and corporate governance. Currently,
Mr. Narumi is serving as an executive officer and director in
multiple global companies.

Mr. Narumi graduated from Saitama University in Saitama, Japan,
majoring in Molecular Biology. He also received a Master of
Science from Saitama University.

Mr. Narumi did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.

Mr. Chiu Chun Tak (“Mr. Chiu”), aged 61, was appointed as
an executive Director with effect from 1 November 2023 and
has been appointed as the Company Secretary, a LR Authorised
Representative and a CO Authorised Representative, all with
effect from 30 June 2021. Mr. Chiu graduated from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University majoring in accounting. He has
over 34 years of experience in overseeing accounting, auditing,
corporate finance, merger and acquisition, taxation and company
secretarial business. He is a Hong Kong practicing CPA and
a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chiu was the founder
of CT. Chiu & Co., CPA and has also worked in a multinational
company. Mr. Chiu has been appointed as the Senior Manager
in Charge of Business Planning & Promotion Division Emerging
Business Centre Finance & Accounting Office of EPS HD, which is
a controlling shareholder (as defined under the Listing Rules) of
the Company, since 1 April 2024.

Mr. Chiu did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Du Yao (“Ms. Du”), aged 42, started her career in Nihon
L'Oreal and has over 13 years of experience in research and
development in the skincare industry. Ms. Du founded Merry Plus
Corporation in 2020 and BioBeaute Co., Ltd in 2024 and she has
been acting as the chief executive officer of these companies.

Ms. Du graduated from Tokyo University majoring in Applied Life
Science and Agriculture in 2007. She also received the Master
of Pharmaceutical Science and PH. D of Pharmaceutical Science
from Tokyo University in 2009 and 2012 respectively.

Ms. Du did not hold other directorship in any other listed or
public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.

Mr. Liang Fei (“Mr. Liang”), aged 50, started working in EPS
Japan since 2004 and is the chairman and the general manager
of a non-wholly owned subsidiary of EPS HD. Mr. Liang obtained
a bachelor’s degree from Southeast University majoring in
information science and engineering in the PRC, a master’s
degree in information engineering from Chiba University in
Japan and an executive Master of Business Administration degree
from China Europe International Business School. Before joining
EPS HD, Mr. Liang worked for several Japanese technology
companies.

Mr. Liang did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Uematsu Takahiro (“Mr. Uematsu”), aged 59, is the
head of compliance group of EPS HD. He joined EPS HD in
January 2002 and has over 35 years of experience in product
management and investment strategy management for research

supply.

Mr. Uematsu graduated from Tokyo University of Agriculture and
Technology.

Mr. Uematsu did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREERBZBERE

Mr. Yan Ping (“Mr. Yan”), aged 61, was appointed as a
non-executive Director with effect from 1 November 2023. He
is a businessman and has extensive experience in biomedical
industry in the PRC. Mr. Yan was the chairman of the board of
directors and the general manager of z= & (B M) EFE T A
FRZ2A] from 2013 to 2017; was as the chairman of the board of
directors of z#T(FAE)APR A7) during 2018 to 2020, and from
2022 to September 2025; as the director (legal representative) of
#=HF(F AR A F] since October 2025; has been the chairman
of the board of directors of E/ZEF AV S M AR AT from
2021 to September 2025; and as Director of E)BZEFT A&
fiiBBR A A since October 2025. Mr. Yan graduated from Wuxi
Institute of Light Industry (ZE#E T 2 Z[7) (now known as
Jiangnan University (T AE2) in 1984. Mr. Yan is the brother of
Mr. Yan Hao, who indirectly owns as to 69.58% of EPS HD.

Mr. Yan did not hold other directorship in any other listed or
public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho (“Mr. Chan”), aged 58, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from
9 July 2021 and is responsible for providing independent
judgment on the Group's strategy, performance, resources and
standard of conduct. He is the chairman of the audit committee
and a member of both the remuneration committee and
the nomination committee of the Company. He obtained a
bachelor's degree in business administration from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1989 and a master’s degree in
business administration from the University of Manchester in
2003. Mr. Chan has been a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2003.

In the past 20 years, Mr. Chan has been the finance director,
financial controller and company secretary of several companies
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is currently an
independent non-executive director of Eagle Nice (International)
Holdings Limited, the issued shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2368) since November
2002 and an independent non-executive director of Gudon
Holdings Limited, the issued shares of which are listed on the GEM
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8308) since December
2023 respectively.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

He is currently also the company secretary of Green Leader
Holdings Group Limited, the issued shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 61) since
October 2024 and SuperRobotics Holdings Limited, the issued
shares of which are listed on GEM Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8176) since May 2022 respectively.

He was previously an executive director of Pine Technology
Holdings Limited, the issued shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1079) from June
2017 to May 2022 and Wai Chun Bio-Technology Limited (“Wai
Chun Bio Technology’), the issued shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 660), from
July 2022 to March 2023. He was previously also an independent
non-executive director of Wai Chun Bio-Technology from
November 2020 to July 2022, an independent non-executive
director of Wai Chun Group Holdings Limited, the issued shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1013) from March 2022 to July 2022 and an independent
non-executive director of Winshine Science Company Limited,
the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 209) from June 2023 to February
2025.

Mr. Choi Koon Ming (“Mr. Choi”), aged 57, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director with effect from 30 June
2021 and is responsible for providing independent judgment
on the Group’s strategy, performance, resources and standard
of conduct. He is the chairman of the remuneration committee
and a member of the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Choi
holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of British
Columbia and has over 29 years of experience in the financing
activities of corporate and property mortgage, real estate
development and property investment.

Mr. Choi has been the chief executive officer of Sunwah Kingsway
Capital Holdings Limited (“Sunwah Kingsway”, stock code: 188.
HK) since 2010 and an executive director of Sunwah Kingsway
since 2000. Mr. Choi has also been the non-executive director
of China New Economy Fund Limited (stock code: 80.HK) since
February 2022.

Save as the aforesaid, during the last three years, Mr. Choi was
a director of Sunwah International Limited, the shares of which
were listed on Toronto Stock Exchange up until 14 June 2021 at
which point it was privatised.
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EEREREERBZBERE

Mr. Saito Hironobu (“Mr. Saito”), aged 63, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect
from 1 November 2023. He has been working in Daiichi
Sankyo Company, Limited (“Daiichi Sankyo”), a Japanese
pharmaceutical company the shares of which are listed on the
Japanese (Tokyo) Stock Exchange (ticker code: 4586), for almost
35 years. He moved to the clinical strategic team and became
the team leader of anti-hypertensive agents named Olmesartan
in Japan from 1997 to 2005 and became a senior vice director to
register Olmesartan in the rest of world (Asia, South and Central
America and Saudi Arabia etc.). From 2012, he has been the vice
president of the new drug regulatory affairs department in Japan
and the co-chairman of the Global Regulatory Affairs Committee.
He has been the vice president of oncology clinical development
in Japan from April 2016. From April 2023, he has been the
Corporate Advisor of Daiichi Sankyo.

Mr. Saito has been the president of SAITO Concierge Co., Ltd
from September 2023. Mr. Saito received his Ph.D. from Chiba
University in Japan. He is also the vice chairperson of the ICH
Steering Committee of the Japan Pharmaceutical Manufacturers
Association (JPMA).

Mr. Saito did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.

Ms. Zhang Cuiping (“Ms. Zhang”), aged 47, is the partner
of Nishimura & Asahi (Gaikokuho Kyodo Jigyo) and has over 20
years of experience in the legal and business practice of both the
PRC and Japan, including investment and M&A between the PRC
and Japan, corporate governance and data protection.

Ms. Zhang graduated from Beijing International Studies University
and completed the LL.M. in Chinese Law from Renmin University
of China Law School.

Ms. Zhang did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Wing Kai (BRk ), aged 56, joined the Group in
November 2015, current as a director and the chief executive
officer of the Group’s garment business. He was responsible for
the operation and management of the Group’s garment business
since he joined the Group. Mr. Chan Wing Kai completed his
secondary education in Hong Kong in 1987. He obtained a
Level 1 certificate of the Japanese Language Proficiency Test
in February 1990. He completed a course entitled “Professional
certificate in business management” co-organised by Li Ka Shing
Institute of Professional and Continuing Education, The Open
University of Hong Kong and ET Business College in November
2008. Mr. Chan Wing Kai has more than 32 years of sales and
merchandising experience in the apparel industry. Prior to joining
the Group, he had been employed by South Overseas Fashion
Limited from March 1990 to March 1995 and he was dispatched
to Yamaichi Nitto Company Limited in Japan for on-the-job
training from March 1993 to February 1994. He then worked for
a knitwear manufacturing company, a subsidiary of South Asia
Textiles (Holdings) Limited from 1995 to 2000.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board recognises that the transparency and accountability
are important to a listed company. As such, the Company is
committed to establishing and maintaining good corporate
governance practices and procedures. The Directors believe
that good corporate governance provides a framework that is
essential for effective management, successful business growth
and healthy corporate culture in return for the benefits of the
Company'’s stakeholders as a whole.

The Company has adopted the provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Part 2 of
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Directors will continue to
review its corporate governance practices in order to enhance its
corporate governance standard, to comply with the increasingly
tightened regulatory requirements from time to time, and to
meet the rising expectation of the shareholders and other
stakeholders of the Company.

During the Reporting Year, the Group has complied with all
the code provisions of the CG Code, save as the deviation from
the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code for the period from 1
April 2024 to 31 March 2025, where Mr. Shimada Tatsuji ("“Mr.
Shimada"), a former executive director of the Company, and
following the resignation of Mr. Shimada, Mr. Washikita Kenichiro,
an executive Director, took up the roles of the chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer of the Company during
the periods from 1 April 2024 to 7 November 2024 and from 8
November 2024 to 31 March 2025 respectively. They have been
managing the Group's business and supervising the overall
operations of the Group in the respective periods. The Directors
consider that vesting the roles of the chairman of the Board and
the chief executive officer of the Company in the same individual
is beneficial to the management and the business developments
of the Group and will provide a strong and consistent leadership
to the Group. The Board will continue to review and consider
splitting the roles of the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Company at a time when it is appropriate
and suitable by taking into account the circumstances of the
Group as a whole.
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MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
for securities transactions by the Directors. Having been made
specific enquiry by the Company, all Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings and
the code of conduct concerning securities transactions by the
Directors for the year ended 31 March 2025.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition of the Board

Currently, the Board comprises:

Executive Directors

Mr. Washikita Kenichiro (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Miyano Tsumoru

Mr. Narumi Shoichi

Mr. Chiu Chun Tak

Ms. Du Yao

Mr. Liang Fei

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Uematsu Takahiro

Mr. Yan Ping

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho
Mr. Choi Koon Ming
Mr. Saito Hironobu
Ms. Zhang Cuiping
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Every newly appointed Director will receive a briefing by a
qualified professional on the general and specific duties of a
director under legal and regulatory requirements.

Mr. Washikita Kenichiro has obtained the legal advice referred
to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 6 November 2024. Mr.
Narumi Shoichi, Ms. Du Yao, Mr. Liang Fei, Mr. Uematsu Takahiro
and Ms. Zhang Cuiping have obtained the legal advice referred
to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 27 November 2024.

All of the above newly appointed Directors have confirmed that
they understood their obligations as directors of the Company.

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 29 to 35 of this annual report.

There was no financial, business, family or other material
relationship among the Directors save as disclosed in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

Regular Board meetings will be held at least four times a year
involving active participation, either in person or through
electronic means of communication, of a majority of Directors.

GENERAL MEETINGS

Save as disclosed below, all Directors attended the annual
general meeting of the Company on 16 August 2024 and
extraordinary general meetings of the Company on 28 February
2025 and 31 March 2025.

Due to the other work commitments, Mr. Yan Ping was unable to
attend all the general meetings and Ms. Du Yao and Mr. Liang Fei
were unable to attend the extraordinary general meeting on 31
March 2025.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings
held for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in the table

below:
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EXgEa
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HEE

TRERBBE
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Board meetings

attended/eligible to
attend
HE RERUEESS
Name of directors EEpR SRABHERH
Mr. Washikita Kenichiro Bl —mis 9/9
(appointed with effect from 8 November (RZZE_MFE+—A/\BEZE)
2024)
Mr. Miyano Tsumoru BEHRELE 19719
Mr. Narumi Shoichi SR — Itk 6/7
(appointed with effect from 2 December 2024) (RZE_NFTAZHEZT)
Mr. Chiu Chun Tak WEREEE 19/19
Ms. Du Yao Lt 617
(appointed with effect from 2 December 2024) (RZZE-_MF+-HA-BEZEE)
Mr. Liang Fei RIERE 717
(appointed with effect from 2 December 2024) (EA_ “ME+ZAZRERE)
Mr. Uematsu Takahiro ELINSY vt 717
(appointed with effect from 2 December 2024) (RZZE_MNE+-AZHEZF)
Mr. Yan Ping BFEAE 14/19
Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho REZELE 21/21
Mr. Choi Kowith effect from Ming =y e 19/21
Mr. Saito Hirwith effect fromobu ARG E 20/21
Ms. Zhang Cuiping SRV L 9/9
(appointed with effect from 2 December 2024) (RZZE_ME+-HAZHEZF)
Mr. Shimada Tatsuji SHE—LA 10/10
(resigned with effect from 8 November 2024) (RZZ=—mF+—AN\BEE)
Mr. Maezaki Masahiro RIS Esh e % 12/12
(resigned with effect from 2 December 2024) (R=ZE-_NF+=A=HET)
Mr. Mivazato Hiroki = EREEL 12/12
(resigned with effect from 2 December 2024) (R—ZE-_WNFE+ A -BH&T)
Mr. Kusaba Takuya B5thkE /12
(resigned with effect from 2 December 2024) (RZZE-_NF+=-A-HET)
Mr. Taniguchi Yasuhiko BRORELE 13/13

(resigned with effect from 10 January 2025)

(R-_F-AF—AT+B&HE)
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Group
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Group by directing and supervising the Group's affairs. All the
Directors shall make decisions objectively in the interests of
the Company. The Board focuses on (i) formulating the Group's
overall strategies; (i) authorising the development plans and
budgets; (iii) monitoring financial and operating performance;
(iv) reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's internal control
system; and (v) setting the Group’s values and standards. The
day-to-day management, administration and operations of the
Group are delegated to the executive Directors and the senior
management. The delegated functions are reviewed by the
Board periodically to ensure that they accommodate the needs
of the Group.

During the reporting year, the Company had a minimum of
three independent non-executive Directors and at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules that the number
of independent non-executive Directors must represent at
least one-third of the Board members and at least one of
the independent non-executive Directors had appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee’), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee’) and the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee’) of the Company.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage
on the liabilities of the Directors of the Group in respect of any
legal actions taken against the Directors arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and
the Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions such as (i) developing and reviewing the Company'’s
policies and practices on corporate governance, training and
continuous professional developments of the Directors and
senior management of the Company, and (ii) reviewing and
monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, and developing,
reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct of the Directors,
etc.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR

EXEER

EXeR AR NERAEE  EBEENE
BAKEZER  ARBREIIEAEEERK
Yo 2REBENARANEELETERE °
EZSHIROBIEANEE 2 ERBREE - ()T
HERASINEE © (i BERMBEREERE
(VEEAEBAMEIRRG 2K RVIEE
AEBEBERKE - AEEZBEFERE - TH
MEERERTEZREREERBRE - &=
SEHPRNRE 2B  UBRRFTEAEEF

& o

RFEFEHRB  ARAELBAE=ZZBIUIF
HITEFTYE —BENE LRGBS
TEE2VAGEFERE=D 22— URED
—EBBUFNTESHEEETXERIES
SHANEERNBEEREER AT - BIUIEH
TEFRRHEAARELZES([ERER
2 ¥HZEe((FMEES ) REEE
S((RBEEG])XE -

ARRERAREE SR 0 5E S M E T
MERITHAENEETLHEZORBRE
RRREFFIELEZ ©

EERBAE

ARBVEKRITCEEECRES  BHALES
ABREHESTSRERT - WO)HEREH
ARARBAEREGHBRLER  REEN
AAARREEBRHIBIILFEERER -
MiBHMEBERNARBRETEEREER
EZBREER - ARGIE - BELEEES
ZITRSTAIE -



The Board holds meetings from time to time whenever
necessary. At least 14 days’' notice of regular Board meetings is
given to all Directors and they can include matters for discussion
in the agenda as they think fit. The agenda accompanying Board
documents and related materials are deliverable to all Directors
at least 3 days before the date of every Board meeting in order to
allow sufficient time for the Directors to review the documents.
Draft minutes of every Board meeting are circulated to all
Directors for their perusal and comments prior to confirmation of
the minutes. The company secretary of the Group is responsible
for keeping the minutes of all meetings of the Board and the
Company’s committees. Every Board member has full access
to the advice and services of the company secretary of the
Group with a view to ensure that all required procedures, and
all applicable rules and regulations are followed and they are
also entitled to have full access to Board documents and related
materials so that they are able to make an informed decision and
to discharge their duties and responsibilities.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Directors recognise the importance of good corporate
governance in management and internal procedures so as to
achieve effective accountability. During the reporting period, the
Group has complied with the CG Code, save as the deviation
from the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. Mr. Shimada, a
former executive director of the Company, and following the
resignation of Mr. Shimada, Mr. Washikita, an executive Director,
took up the roles of the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Company during the periods from 1
April 2024 to 7 November 2024 and from 8 November 2024
to 31 March 2024 respectively and they have been managing
the Group’s business and supervising the overall operations of
the Group during the reporting year. The Directors consider
that vesting the roles of the chairman of the Board and the
chief executive officer of the Company in the same individual is
beneficial to the management and the business developments
of the Group and will provide a strong and consistent leadership
to the Group. The Board will continue to review and consider
splitting the roles of the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Company at a time when it is appropriate
and suitable by taking into account the circumstances of the
Group as a whole.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”)
provide that subject to the manner of retirement by rotation of
Directors as from time to time prescribed by the Listing Rules,
at each AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation and that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at the annual general meeting ("AGM”)
of the Company by rotation at least once every three years. A
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a
specific term subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Articles. Each independent non-executive
Director is required to inform the Company as soon as practicable
if there is any change that may affect his independence and
must provide an annual confirmation of his independence to the
Company.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contributions to the Board remains informed
and relevant. Every newly appointed Director will receive a formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion
of his appointment to ensure an appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Company and his full
awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Directors are
encouraged to participate in appropriate continuous professional
trainings at the Company's expenses to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors
will be arranged and reading materials on relevant topics will be
provided to Directors where appropriate. A record of the training
received by the respective Directors should be maintained
and updated by the company secretary of the Company. All
the Directors also understand the importance of continuous
professional developments and are committed to participating
any suitable training to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR

ZEREERES

ARrAEERRARTARY]D)RER EHRL
TRREZLEFTHERETAZRET  BE
ERREFAGE  ER=H9Z—MESHAR
FREAREFHAZRIB=FRARFMR
BEARE(BRRBFAE ) LRFERE—R -
REESFHTAEREBREL -

B IFFATEFREEEHRME - WEAREA
AlmERENREEESE - WHIREMAERE
BUIFFMTESEUIE 2 B8 - BBILIEMIT
EXANERAITEATEREBMNALR - B
ARARNPIRHEBEBY I FEBAE o

HEERRE

EEREMEERRIELCUAUETER
B URREEETABEEENMRIAMS
ZEATHEZSELER - SHREESER
BARIZARKEREIN  2EREAE
BRI BRAERBEFREERARR]ZE
BREENR  WERBMBESEN EHRAN
MEERRTR T Z2EERER - NARIEE
EE2HEQEZFHEREREIINERMENR
Fz M@ NEE - BRABARRXN - AT
HEHEFHEAMENELREFRHEAEH
TRZHBBMHNER) - RARZATME
RREFEEMSESTEIIEI 2K - 268
ENABFEEXHRIBEBMEIBT N2 EE
e E 2B EABRNEHRE 2 NHB R
REE °



During the reporting year, all the Directors namely Mr. Washikita
Kenichiro, Mr. Miyano Tsumoru, Mr. Narumi Shoichi, Mr. Chiu
Chun Tak, Ms. Du Yao, Mr. Liang Fei, Mr. Uematsu Takahiro, Mr.
Yan Ping, Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho, Mr. Choi Koon Ming, Mr. Saito
Hironobu, Ms. Zhang Cuiping, Mr. Shimada Tatsuji, Mr. Maezaki
Masahiro, Mr. Miyazato Hiroki, Mr. Kusaba Takuya and Mr.
Taniguchi Yasuhiko, had participated in appropriate continuous
professional development training sessions during their tenure of
office and relevant training records have been maintained by the
Company for accurate and comprehensive record keeping.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee on 23 January 2017, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee, respectively, are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with terms of reference in
compliance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23 of the Listing Rules and code
provision D.3.3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to (i) assist the Board in reviewing the Company’s
financial information; (ii) oversee the Group's financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems; (iii) review
and monitor the effectiveness of the scope of audit; and (iv)
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
external auditors.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three members,
namely Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho (the chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Choi Koon Ming and Mr. Uematsu Takahiro,
being two independent non-executive Directors and a non-
executive Director respectively. No member of the Audit
Committee is a member of the former or existing independent
auditor of the Company in the last two years. The Audit
Committee has reviewed this annual report, including the
audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2025.
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According to the current terms of reference, the Audit Committee
shall meet at least two times for a financial year. Three meetings
were held by the Audit Committee for the year ended 31 March
2025 to (i) review and discuss the audited annual results and
the unaudited interim financial results of the Group; (ii) discuss
and consider the issues arising from the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems; (iii) review and
recommend the appointment of external auditors and relevant
scope of works; (iv) review and consider continuing connected
transactions; and (v) review and consider the enforcement of the
Company’s controlling shareholders’ undertaking in relation to
the deed of non-competition executed in favour of the Company.
The attendance records of each member of the Audit Committee
is set out as follows:

RIEB AT CBELE - BERERESRSEMIK
FEEVRITMAEHE - BE_FT-_HF=HA
=+—HLEFE  BERZESGEHRT=RE
& NOBHMRIwRAKEBZEEREF XA
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B R NEBEEIE R AR 2 PR ¢ (i) 2R B 2R SN B
REED 2 RENARE TSR © (WEBNREE
FERERS « RWiRst E B R RIERAR
RELARR R B a8 APTER LA 55 3R 2 7
MZHITER - BRZEESKEBHFEERLZ
FOERE SR

Board meetings attended/
eligible to attend

Name of members of the HEESEERRE
Audit Committee EREEEHEN A BERHERE
Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho PREZAELE 3/3
Mr. Choi Koon Ming EHAASTE 3/3
Mr. Uematsu Takahiro EL/NSY e 1/
(appointed with effect from 2 December (R-ZZE_MFE+__A_BEZE)
2024)
Mr. Kusaba Takuya Bt st 2/2
(resigned with effect from 2 December (RZZE_ME+_A_HEHE)
2024)

Amongst three meetings held by the Audit Committee, one
of which was meeting with the external auditors without the
presence of executive Directors to discuss issues relating to
the audit and financial reporting matters for the year ended 31
March 2025.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with terms
of reference in compliance with Rules 3.25 to 3.26 of the
Listing Rules and code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee currently consists of three members,
namely Mr. Choi Koon Ming (the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee), Mr. Miyano Tsumoru and Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho, being
an independent non-executive Director, an executive Director
and an independent non-executive Director respectively.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to
(i) assess performance of executive Directors and approving
the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts; (i) make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration
policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior
management of the Group; (iii) review other performance-based
remuneration; (iv) ensure none of the Directors or any of his
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) determine his own
remuneration; and (v) review and/or approve matters relating to
share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Four meetings were held by the Remuneration Committee
for the year ended 31 March 2025. In the meetings, the
Remuneration Committee discussed and reviewed, among other
things, the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management and recommended to the Board on the grant of
share options under the share option scheme during the year
ended 31 March 2025. The attendance record of each member of
the Remuneration Committee is set out as follows:
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Meetings attended/
eligible to attend

Name of members of the HESEE
Remuneration Committee FMEEEREH B EERHERE
Mr. Choi Koon Ming EHWARSTE 4/4
Mr. Miyano Tsumoru EERELE 4/4
Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho PREZCE 4/4

Details of emoluments of the Directors and senior management
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in
note 11 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with terms of
reference in compliance with code provision B.3.1 of the CG
Code. The Nomination Committee currently consists of three
members, namely Mr. Choi Koon Ming (the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee), Ms. Du Yao and Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho,
being an independent non-executive Director, an executive
Director and an independent non-executive Director respectively.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i) review
the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board at least
annually; (i) identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members; (iii) assess the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; (iv) make recommendations to the
Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors; and (v) support the Company's regular
evaluation of the Board's performance.

Three meetings were held by the Nomination Committee for
the year ended 31 March 2025. In the meetings, the Nomination
Committee discussed and reviewed, among other things, (i)
the existing structure, size and composition of the Board to
ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate for the Group's business and is in compliance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules; (i) the recommendation to
the Board on re-election of retiring Directors at the forthcoming
AGM; and (iii) the assessment of the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors. The attendance records of
each member of the Nomination Committee is set out as follows:

REZEES
REZEECERY  UFTANAEERENR
T2 AR FB 31 R Z B E - TE%?

BEgd= %ﬁkﬁ(ﬂﬂ?ﬁﬂﬂﬂ%i(%m%é,\ 2
) MBEZRERRESEL)EK - %'JZ%?’%
MIERITEE  BITESZNBIUIFRTES o

RELZEEZTERIEROBFEELRIT —X

BEEeEE  RE - AREZTH: )VDe

EEREFESSKEZEBEAE © (i) HE

VIHMITEE BN  (WHEBEREHEFE

TEEEB EERNESSEHERESR &
VR A RIHEESE N E B ©

%Zi “HF=A=t—HILFE  BEZ
8g Egﬁ%ﬁ //’C;\% gL REZEE®
REM(EFEE) VEEGZRITRE - RE

N AR LME%,\IJEZK;‘%IZ%%WEWEW,\
BEE ZERME - RERER - XYNa LM
BMAIZRE  (WREERRBFRE LRER
REESAEFTSFEHERRS  Rii)FEE

MIERITEEZ B - REEZESENED
EEE L REETIIT

Meetings attended/
eligible to attend

Name of members of the BERLERE

Nomination Committee REZEENENHA BEREERY

Mr. Choi Koon Ming BT E 0/0
(appointed with effect from 10 January 2025) (R-ZE_RF—A+RHEZ(T)

Mr. Miyano Tsumoru =HEEE 373

Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho PRE=EA 3/3

Mr. Taniguchi Yasuhiko ARKREXE 3/3

(resigned with effect from 10 January 2025)
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2025 that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. The Directors aim to present a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Group's financial position and
prospects with timely publication of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. As at 31 March 2025, the Board was
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that might cast significant doubts upon the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. The responsibility of the
external auditor is to form an independent opinion, based on
their audit, on the Group’s consolidated financial statements
prepared by the Directors and to report its opinion to the
Shareholders. A statement by the external auditor, Confucius
International CPA Limited (“Confucius”), about their reporting
responsibility is set out in the independent auditor’s report from
pages 132 to 138 of this annual report.

Internal control and risk management

The Board is responsible for overseeing and reviewing the
Group's internal control and risk management systems as
well as monitoring its effectiveness on an ongoing basis. The
Directors recognise the need for risk management and internal
control in the Group’s strategic and operational planning, day-
to-day management and decision making process and are
committed to manage and minimise the risks that may impact
on the continued efficiency and effectiveness of the Group's
operations or prevent the Group from achieving its business
objectives. The Board with the assistance of the Audit Committee
annually reviews the effectiveness of the internal control and risk
management systems.
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The Group currently has no internal audit function. The Directors
reviewed the need for an internal audit function and are of
the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the
business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to appoint
external independent professionals to perform internal audit
function for the Group in order to meet its needs.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group engaged an
independent external consulting firm as the Group's internal
control adviser (the “Internal Control Adviser”) to undertake
a review and an assessment of the Group’s internal control
environment and operating cycles in the aspects of (i) policies
and procedures on ethics and combating fraud and corruption;
(ii) financial closure and reporting process; and (iii) cash and
treasury. The review process involved system documentations,
testing, interviews and assessment of the effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems of the Group.

The results of the independent review and assessment were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Subsequently,
improvements in internal control and risk management
measures, as recommended by the Internal Control Adviser, to
enhance the internal control and risk management systems of
the Group and to mitigate risks of the Group were adopted by
the Board. Based on the findings and recommendations of the
Internal Control Adviser, as well as the comments of the Audit
Committee, the Board considered the internal control and risk
management systems are effective and adequate.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
enforcement of the controlling shareholders’ undertakings in
relation to the deed of non-competition executed in favour of
the Company. Details of which were set out in the prospectus (the
"Prospectus”) of the Company dated 16 May 2017. The Board
confirmed that there are no other matters in relation to the
aforesaid undertakings which should be brought to the attention
of the Shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2025.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The remuneration of directors is determined by reference to
their respective duties and responsibilities in the Company,
their respective experience, prevailing market conditions and
applicable regulatory requirements. The remuneration of the
directors and members of the senior management by band for
the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out below:

Remuneration bands

FESR
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EEREEEEFMH

BEEFTMIERFEESERARFTNBE &
B BERMINEREERTEMESE - HE—
T-_RHFE=ZA=+—BIFE  EEkaEE
ERHRERYROT ¢

Number of persons

AE

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000
HK$ 1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the
five highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant
to the Listing Rules are set out in note 11 to the financial
statements.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The amount of fees charged by the external auditors generally
depends on the scope and volume of the external auditors’ work
performed. For the year ended 31 March 2025, the fees paid or
payable to the external auditors of the Company in respect of
the statutory audit services and non-audit services for the Group
are as follows:

Z 1,000,000 7T
1,000,001 £ 1,500,000/ 7T |
1,500,001 22,000,000/ 7T |

16

FREEME MR ETRAUABENERRS
HriEENE - THBHANPHBRKRME -

BB =

SNEBZ BB FT UL ER 2 B F & B — MR SN BB A% 8K
BT TESBERIEEME - HE-Z
“HFE=ZA=+—BIFE  BAKEZEFE
FAZ RTE S IR % AR A T B 5 sk B AR R R 4h
ez ERMT ¢

Fees paid/payable

Bt EAEA

HKS'000

Services rendered Frizfit Z IR7% FET
Statutory audit services ETEBIZIRTE 1,400
Non-audit services IEEZ RS 150
Total et 1,550
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chiu Chun Tak was appointed as the company secretary
of the Group (the “Company Secretary”’) on 30 June 2021.
The biographical details of Mr. Chiu are disclosed in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report. For the year ended 31 March
2025, the Company Secretary undertook no less than 15 hours
of professional training to update his skills and knowledge in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy’) on 28 December 2018. The Board Diversity
Policy aimed to set out the approach to achieve diversity of
the Board. A summary of the Board Diversity Policy, together
with the measurable objectives for implementing the Board
Diversity Policy, and the progress made towards achieving those
objectives are disclosed below:

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

In determining the composition of the Board, the Company will
consider from a number of aspects in terms of, among other
things, gender, age, cultural and educational background, or
professional experience. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, candidates will be considered against objective
criteria and having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

Measurable objectives

Selection of candidates as Board members will be based on
a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, expertise or
professional experience. The Board intends to maintain at least
one female Director in the Board going forward. The ultimate
decision will be based on merits and contributions which the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee will disclose annually, in the
corporate governance report, on the Board’s composition under
diversified perspectives (including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, expertise, or professional
experience), and monitor the implementation of this policy.
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Review of the Board Diversity Policy

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
annually to ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee
will discuss any revision that may be required and recommend
any such revision(s) to the Board for consideration and approval.

During the year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed
the diversity of the Board and considered that the Company
has achieved the measurable objectives of the Board Diversity
Policy in terms of age, educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of services. The
Nomination Committee has also reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and considered
them satisfactory.

Currently, the Board consists of male and female members. With
a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development, such that there
is a pipeline of female senior management and potential
successors to the Board in the future. In support of this goal,
the Company appointed two female Directors on 2 December
2024. The Nomination Committee will continue to monitor the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and the progress
on achieving those measurable objectives and will review the
Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis to ensure its continuing
effectiveness.

WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

The importance of gender diversity at the Board level is extended
throughout the Group’s workforce. We believe a diverse
workforce and an inclusive culture supports high performance
and the Company’s ability to operate effectively in the
communities in which it operates.

As at 31 March 2025, we had female employees accounting for
approximately 71% of the overall workforce (including senior
management) filled by women. The Company will adhere to
the principle of gender diversity at all employee levels and
will appropriately consider increasing the proportion of female
members in future elections, hirings and promotions.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) initially on 28 December 2018 and amended on 11
December 2019. A summary of the Nomination Policy, together
with the selection criteria and the nomination procedures made
towards achieving those objectives are disclosed below:

Summary of the Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy provides the key selection criteria and
general principles of the Nomination Committee in making any
recommendation on the appointment and re-appointment of the
Directors. It aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Group’s business.

Selection criteria

When making recommendation(s) regarding the appointment
of any proposed candidate(s) for directorships to the Board or
re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the Board, the
Nomination Committee shall consider a number of criteria
including but not limited to the followings:

(a) Reputation for integrity;

(b) Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the apparel
industry and other relevant sectors;

() Commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and
attention to the Group's business;

(d) Potential contributions he/she will bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and
gender diversity;

(e) The ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Group's success;

(f)  Compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the appointment of
an independent non-executive Director; and

(@) Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time.
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The appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or
re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the Board shall
be made in accordance with the Articles and other applicable
rules and regulations. The progress made towards achieving the
objectives set out in the Nomination Policy will be disclosed
periodically in the corporate governance report of the Company.

Nomination procedures

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for
the appointment of a Director in accordance with the following
procedures and process:

(@) The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall convene
a meeting, and invite nomination of candidates from Board
members (if any), for consideration by the Nomination
Committee. The Nomination Committee may also nominate
candidates for its consideration;

(b) In the context of appointment of any proposed candidate
to the Board, the Nomination Committee shall undertake
adequate due diligence in respect of such individual and
make recommendations for the Board’'s consideration and
approval;

() In the context of re-appointment of any existing member(s)
of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation, for the proposed candidates to stand for
re-election at a general meeting;

(d) The section headed “Procedures for Shareholders to Propose
a Director” in this corporate governance report sets forth the
procedures for Shareholders’ nomination of any proposed
candidate for election as a Director; and

(e) The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election
at a general meeting, and the ultimate responsibility for
selection and appointment of Directors is at the discretion
of the Board.

Review of Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy has been approved by the Board. Any
subsequent amendment of the Nomination Policy shall be
reviewed by the Nomination Committee and approved by the
Board to ensure that it remains relevant to the Group’s needs
and reflects both current regulatory requirements and good
corporate governance practices.
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MECHANISM TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT VIEWS
FROM DIRECTORS

To ensure independent views and input from any Director, the
following mechanism is established by the Board:

1.

Independence Assessment

Each of the independent non-executive Directors shall
provide a written annual confirmation of independence to
the Company on their compliance with the independence
requirements as set out under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Nomination Committee shall assess the independence
of independent non-executive Directors upon appointment
and annually to ensure they can continually exercise
independent judgement.

Composition of Board

Currently, one-third of the Board members are independent
non-executive Directors, which meets the requirement of
the Listing Rules that at least one-third of the Board are
independent non-executive Directors.

Board Proceedings and Decision Making

At least 14 days’ notice of regular Board and Board
committee meetings will be given to all Directors, and all
Directors are invited to include any matters for discussion
in the agenda. By at least 3 days in advance of every
regular Board and Board committee meeting, Directors
are provided with the meeting agenda and the relevant
board papers containing complete, adequate and timely
information to enable full deliberation on the issues to be
considered at the respective meetings.

All Directors are required to declare their direct/indirect
interests, if any, in any business proposals to be considered
at the meetings and, where appropriate, they are required
to abstain from voting on any Board resolution concerned.

Independent non-executive Directors should attend all
regular meetings of the Board and Board committees on
which they serve. They should also attend general meetings
of the Company to acquire understanding of the views of
the Shareholders.
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Remuneration of Independent Non-executive
Directors

Independent non-executive Directors receive fixed fee(s) for
their role as members of the Board and Board committees
and no equity-based or incentive based compensation
program is granted to independent non-executive Directors
as this may lead to bias in their decision-making and
compromise their objectivity and independence.

Access to Professional Advice and Up-to-date
Information

The Company Secretary provided induction pack and
orientation program for all new recruits to the Board. Such
program would familiarise the newly appointed Director
with the nature of the business, the corporation’s strategy,
the internal control and corporate governance practices
and policies, and directors’ duties and responsibilities.
Subsequent information packages are regularly provided to
the Directors to keep them abreast of their responsibilities
and infuse them with new knowledge relevant to the
Group's current business and operating environment.

To facilitate proper discharge of Directors’ duties and
responsibilities, all Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) are entitled to seek advice from
the Company Secretary as well as from independent
professional advisers at the expense of the Company.

Independent Views and Inputs Treasured and Valued

During the Board and Board committee meetings, the
independent non-executive Directors are encouraged to
express freely their independent views and inputs in an
open and candid manner. The chairman also encourages
qguestions and challenges from Directors, in particular
independent non-executive Directors and their comments
and concerns are closely followed up by the management.

In addition to Board meetings, the chairman schedules
a meeting annually with independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors to discuss
the affairs of the Group.
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The Company Secretary is required to prepare minutes that
record not only the decision reached but any concerns
raised or dissenting views expressed by Directors. Draft
versions of the minutes are circulated to all Directors for
their comment and confirmation before it is finalised
for records. Minutes of all Board and Board committee
meetings are available for Directors’ inspection.

The implementation and effectiveness of the above mechanisms
have been reviewed by the Board on an annual basis and
the Board believe these measures would allow Directors to
contribute effectively and independent views and input are
available to the Board and Board committees.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy")
on 28 December 2018. The Dividend Policy aims to set out the
general principles and guidelines that the Company intends to
apply in relation to the recommendation, declaration, payment
or distribution of its net profits as dividends to the Shareholders.
The Board shall take into account, inter alia, the followings:

(@) The Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves for
meeting its working capital requirements and future growth
as well as its shareholder value;

(b) The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio;

() The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute
dividends to the Shareholders, subject to the Articles and
all applicable laws and regulations and the factors set out
below;

(d) The Board shall also take into account the following
factors of the Group when considering the declaration and
payment of dividends:

the financial results of the Group;
the cash flow situation and possible effects on
liquidity and financial positions of the Group;

the business conditions and strategies;

the future operations and earnings;
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the capital requirements and future expansion needs;
the interests of Shareholders;
any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

any other factors that the Board may consider
relevant.

Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and
the Group and the conditions and factors as set out above,
dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board
for a financial year or period as follows:

an interim dividend;
a final dividend;
a special dividend; and

any distribution of net profits that the Board may
deem appropriate.

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
Shareholders’ approval provided that no dividend shall be
declared in excess of the amount recommended by the
Board;

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of
cash or scrip or by other means that the Board may deem
appropriate; and

Any dividend or bonuses unclaimed after a period of six
years from the date of declaration shall be forfeited and
shall revert to the Company in accordance with the Articles.

The Company will review the Dividend Policy as appropriate from
time to time. The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a
legally binding commitment by the Company that dividends will
be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the
Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.
There is no arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived
or agreed to waive any dividends during the year.
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DIVIDENDS

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK1.0 cent per share for the year ended 31 March 2025 (for
the year ended 31 March 2024: Nil) to those shareholders whose
names appeared on the register of members of the Company
as at the close of business on 27 August 2025. Subject to the
approval of shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company, the final dividend will
be paid in cash on or before 17 September 2025.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

As one of the measures to safeguard Shareholders’ interests and
rights, separate resolutions can be proposed at Shareholders’
meetings on each substantial issue, including the election of
individual directors, for Shareholders’ consideration and voting.
All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meeting will be
voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll voting
results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company after the relevant Shareholders’ meeting. An AGM
shall be held each year and at the place as may be determined
by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an AGM, shall be
called an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM").

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

The following procedures for Shareholders to convene an EGM
are subject to the Articles (as amended from time to time), and
the applicable legislations and regulations, in particular the
Listing Rules (as amended from time to time):

(@) Any one or more Shareholder(s) holding at the date of
the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company (the “Eligible
Shareholder(s)") carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company, shall at all times have the
right, by a written requisition (the “Requisition”) sent
to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong as set out in the manner below, for the attention
of the Board and/or the Company Secretary to require an
EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition;
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(b)

The Eligible Shareholder(s) who wish(es) to convene an
EGM must deposit the Requisition with which stating
the purposes of the meeting, signed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned to the Board or the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business at
Flat A, 17/F., Gemstar Tower, 23 Man Lok Street, Hung Hom,
Kowloon, Hong Kong;

The Requisition must state clearly the name(s) of
the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/its
shareholding(s), the reason(s) to convene an EGM and the
details of the business(es) proposed to be transacted in the
EGM, and must be signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned together with a deposit of a sum of money
reasonable sufficient to meet the Company’'s expenses in
serving the notice of the resolution and circulating the
statement submitted by Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned
in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the
Shareholders;

The Requisition will be verified with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation
that the Requisition is proper and in order, the Board
will convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in
accordance with the requirements under the Articles to all
the Shareholders. On the contrary, if the Requisition has
been verified but not in order, the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly,
an EGM will not be convened as requested; and

If within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the
Requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
EGM, the Eligible Shareholder(s) may convene a meeting
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed by the Company to
the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned.

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the proposal raised by the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned should be at least 14 clear days’ notice in writing and
not less than 10 clear business days.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE
A DIRECTOR

Pursuant to Rule 13.51D of the Listing Rules, the Company sets
out below the procedures to provide the Shareholders with
detailed procedures by which they can follow for nominating a
person for election as the Director(s):

(a)

According to Article 85 of the Articles, no person other
than a retiring Director at the meeting shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for
election as a Director at any general meeting unless (i) a
written notice signed by the Shareholder(s) other than a
proposed person (the “Proposed Candidate”) who is/are
duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting stating
his/her intention to propose the Proposed Candidate for
election as a Director; and (i) a written notice signed by
the Proposed Candidate stating his/her willingness to be
elected as a Director shall be validly served to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the head office of the Company;

The period for lodgement of such notices required under
the aforesaid Article will commence on the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than seven days prior to
the date of such general meeting and the minimum length
of the period during which such notices to the Company
may be given will be at least seven days;

In order to allow the Company to inform the Shareholders
of the proposal and to enable the Shareholders to make an
informed decision on their election at a general meeting,
the written notice must state the full name of the Proposed
Candidate and include his/her biographical details as
required under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and the
Proposed Candidate’s written consent to the publication of
his/her personal data; and

Upon receipt of the valid and verified written notices from
the Shareholder(s) to propose the Proposed Candidate
at the general meeting, the Company will then publish
an announcement in accordance with the requirements
under the Listing Rules or issue a supplementary circular.
The particulars of the Proposed Candidate will be included
in the announcement or supplementary circular of the
Company.
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RIGHT OF RAISING ENQUIRIES

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings, share transfer, registration and payment of
dividend to the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong
(details of which are set out in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of this annual report).

All any other enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong or by
e-mail to info@epshk.hk for the attention of the Board and/or the
Company Secretary.

Shareholders are reminded to lodge their enquiries together with
their detailed contact information for the prompt response from
the Company if they deem appropriate.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETING

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new
resolutions at the general meeting under the Companies Act
Cap. 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of Cayman
Islands. However, pursuant to the Articles, Shareholders who wish
to move a resolution may by means of the Requisition convening
an EGM following the procedures set out above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and its Shareholders and investors. These include
the AGM, the annual and interim reports, notices, announcements,
circulars and the Company’s website at www.epshk.hk.

During the year, the Company has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy
through discussions amongst Board members during board
meetings. The Company has reviewed communication activities
and engagement with Shareholders conducted during the year
and was satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness
of the shareholders’ communication policy which allowed
Shareholders to engage actively with the Company.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association is available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. There was no significant change in the
Company'’s constitutional documents during the year ended 31
March 2025.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

In compliance with the code provision D.2.6 of the CG Code,
the Board adopted a Whistleblowing Policy on 22 July 2022. It
provides employees and the relevant third parties who deal with
the Group (e.g. customers, suppliers, creditors and debtors) with
guidance and reporting channels on reporting any suspected
improprieties in any matters related to the Group directly
addressed to the designated person. Any reports should be
directed to the email account (jchiu@epshk.hk). All reported
matters will be investigated independently and, in the meantime,
all information received from a whistleblower and its identity will
be kept confidential. The Board and the Audit Committee will
regularly review the Whistleblowing Policy and mechanism to
improve its effectiveness.

ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

In compliance with the code provision D.2.7 of the CG Code, the
Board adopted an Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy on 22
July 2022. It outlines guidelines and the minimum standards of
conducts, all applicable laws and regulations in relation to the
anti-corruption and anti-bribery, the responsibilities of employees
to resist fraud, to help the Group defend against corrupt
practices and to report any reasonably suspected case of fraud
and corruption or any attempts thereof, to the management or
through an appropriate reporting channel. The Group would not
tolerate any forms of fraud and corruption among all employees
and those acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf
of the Group, and in its business dealing with third parties. The
Board and the Audit Committee will review the Anti-Fraud and
Anti-Corruption Policy and mechanism periodically to ensure its
effectiveness and enforce the commitment of the Group to the
prevention, deterrence, detection and investigation of all forms
of fraud and corruption.
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CORPORATEPURPOSE, STRATEGY AND
CORPORATE CULTURE

The Board defines the purpose, values and strategy of the
Company and considers that the Company’s corporate culture
is aligned. The Group is committed to investing in the apparel,
healthcare and IRO with CRO services and in-house R&D
businesses, creating value for consumers, and to delivering
attractive and sustainable returns to the Shareholders. Despite
the ever-changing operating environment, the Group places
strong emphasis on workplace safety, employee relations and
the efficient use of materials, energy and resources, promoting
a culture of ethical conduct and integrity. A healthy corporate
culture is important to good corporate governance which is
crucial for achieving sustainable long-term success of the Group.

ESG-RELATED MATTERS

The Company adheres to improving internal sustainability
governance, strengthening the management and control of
corporate development’s impact on the environment and
society, and creating value for our stakeholders. The Board
has overall responsibility for the Company’s ESG strategy and
reporting, and oversees the overall ESG governance of the
Company. In particular, the Board conducts a regular review of
the Group’s ESG-related matters and considered, among others,
(i) the adequacy of resource, staff qualification and experience,
training programmes and budget of those relating to Group's
ESG performance and reporting; (i) the changes, since the last
annual review, in the nature and extent of significant ESG risks
(if any); and (iii) the scope and quality of management’s ongoing
monitoring of ESG risks. For further details, please refer to the
Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
page 64 to 106 of this annual report.
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BOARD STATEMENT

The board of directors of the Group (the “Board”) is pleased to
present the Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) report
(the "ESG Report”), prepared by EPS Creative Health Technology
Group Limited (the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) to summarise the Group’s ESG key
issues, initiatives, and the sustainability performance of our
principal business for the year ended 31 March 2025. The ESG
Report is prepared in response to stakeholders’ expectations and
concerns about the sustainable development of the Group.

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy
and reporting. The Board is responsible for monitoring and
reviewing corporate governance practices across the Group,
and takes into account ESG-related risks in decision making
and maintaining effective risk management and internal
control systems. The Executive Directors are responsible for
formulating ESG management policies, strategies, goals, and
annual reporting and promoting related implementation. They
also identify, evaluate, review, and manage major ESG issues,
risks and opportunities while the management from different
business units are responsible for organising, promoting, and
implementing various ESG related tasks under the Group's ESG
management policies and strategies. The Board with an aim to
ensure that the Group's operations comply with the principle
of sustainability and to look after the Group's daily operations
and risk management matters in relation to the Group’s ESG-
related risks and deals with sustainability issues by regular
communication with senior management from key business
divisions, monitoring the Group's daily operations, reviewing
feedbacks from stakeholders and updating internal policies
whenever necessary. The material issues and tasks regarding
the ESG-related risks of the Group will be reported to the Board
regularly in order to review and re-formulate the polices and
plans for achievement of goals and targets.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group has set short-term and long-term sustainable
development vision and goals to achieve ongoing emission
reduction according to governmental requirements. Relevant
emission reduction targets and corresponding strategies are
established and sustainable development factors have been
incorporated into the Group’s strategic planning, business
model and other decision-making processes. The Board regularly
monitors and reviews the effectiveness of management
approach, including reviewing the Group's ESG performance and
adjusting corresponding action plans.

INTRODUCTION

The Group is committed to becoming an enterprise with high
level of social responsibility and understands the importance
of sustainable development of its business and community.
The Group pursues rewarding shareholders with better value,
provision of high-quality products and services to customers and
provision of adequate and competitive benefits to employees.
The Group takes the sustainable development of its business
as its long-term development goal, tries its best to reduce
the negative impact on the environment in its business, and
integrates climate related issues and ESG elements into its long-
term business strategic planning.

REPORTING SCOPE

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Code (the “ESG Reporting Code”) outlined in Appendix C2
of the Listing Rules and Guidance Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
("HKEX") and follows the principles of materiality, quantitative,
balance and consistency, and covers the operations and activities
of the subsidiaries in Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
("Hong Kong"), the People’'s Republic of China (the “PRC")
and Japan. This ESG Report was compiled in compliance with
the “mandatory disclosure requirements” and the “comply or
explain” provisions in the ESG Reporting Code. This report covers
our commitments, practices, and performance in various ESG
aspects for the period starting from 1 April 2024 to 31 March
2025 ("2025" or the “Reporting Period”). The reporting scope
of the ESG Report focuses on the primary businesses including:
trading of apparel products (“Garment Business”), trading
of healthcare and medicated products and leasing of medical
devices (“Healthcare Products Business”) and provision of
innovative research organization ("IRO”) and specialised contract
research organization ("CRO") services and in-house research and
development ("R&D") business in Hong Kong, the PRC and Japan.
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This ESG Report has been reviewed and approved by the Board,
both reviews and reports the core business operations and
activities of the Group.

APPROVAL OF THE REPORT

The Report was approved by the Board of the Group on 27 June
2025.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is responsible for the sustainable development of
the Group and guides its fulfillment of its corporate social
responsibilities. The Board believes that focusing on resources
management and occupational safety and health will help the
Group achieve its established vision and mission. The Board
have faith that prioritising ESG management can improve our
corporate image, mitigate ESG risks and strengthen the Group’s
capability to comply with relevant laws and regulations. These
efforts can further improve the competitiveness of the Group and
promote the sustainable development of the Group’s business.

The Group’s ESG philosophy is to create long-term value for
its stakeholders in alignment with the strategic development
and sustainability of its business. The Group is committed to
maintaining a rigorous corporate governance framework to
promote and safeguard the interests of shareholders and other
stakeholders, thereby upholding the Group's credibility and
reputation. The Group will continue to seek ways to develop our
business in a more efficient and environmentally friendly manner
and remains steadfast in our mission to build an inclusive and
sustainable society.

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group maintained the
same ESG management structure and process as the last
reporting period (from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024, “2024"
or the “Last Reporting Period”). The Group fully understands
that ESG policies and practices may change over time to reflect
the changes in business operations, structures, technologies,
laws and regulations, and the environment. The Group thus
continues to invest substantial resources to monitor ESG issues,
policies and practices and performance on an ongoing basis. Our
ESG strategies, management policy and approach are based on
compliance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements, the
principle of sustainability and opinions from our key stakeholders.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR

2&%&¢EE%$A%@&ME AR E
WHETERENRORBEE LB -

W]

ZREN—_E_RAFAAA-T++HEHEBRES
i ERA

/_\—.l II\IZI*%

EX2 ARSI EEENTIREER - UBERRD
AIETTEMREEET - $%$Ewﬁ§ﬁa
BNMBRL2RESEHAFIERMERNE

ERE - AEEZEHE  BALEREISGEHRE
RACERR « BEREK - WILEQRETE
BERME S - MR EEENHSE S A £
BERE o

REBHESGIR 2B MM 2R ﬁ@%ﬂ &R HE
18 - b B2 575 A BR S 3 R AN A 45 AR MR —
B o AEBEHOREREEZENR TEE E
AMRERRME MM SR EN NS - WRE
SXRERU  ERENEHFERSN - BN
B —EABTMARKENLE -

Eﬁiﬂw'%l%ﬁﬁt—ﬁiﬁﬁﬁm
ESGEEBABMAR(ZE_=FMWA—HBZ
T-_WFE=ZA=+—H (t—ﬂﬁ%%ﬁ
AEBEFHBESGHRRMEBSBEEXER - &
% Bl - AEAMRENSEmMAR - AltiF
BIRABREEESGEE « BERMAM o KK
IE’JESG REEMER T ERER ~ AIFEME
RN EBASZHEENER -
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The Group's visions and goals, and the ESG management policy
and approach can be summarised in the following statements:

1.

The Group is committed to successfully undertaking its
business, while providing strong returns to our investors and
supporters, mitigating risks associated with our operations,
ensuring a healthy and safe working environment to our
employees, and contributing to sustainable developments
for the local communities and the Group.

The Board from time to time approves and updates
strategies and policies which are incorporated with the
related environmental and social issues stated in the ESG
Reporting Code. The Board has assigned each department
to implement ESG policies in accordance with the
respective operations and activities. Through their normal
and routine channels, all departments report directly to
the Group's chief executive officer ("CEQ"), who has the
overall responsibility to ensure that the Board’'s approved
strategies and policies are implemented. The departments
are responsible to assist and advise the Board in managing
ESG matters such as identifying ESG risks and opportunities,
managing ESG issues as well as collecting data regularly
for the review of the ESG performance. The working group
reports to the Board on an annual basis.

It is the duty of the Group’s CEO and his operation
managers (collectively, the “Management Team”) to
examine and address all the environmental and social issues
detailed in the aspects and areas in the ESG Reporting
Code.

To promote the comprehensive risk management within
the Group, the Group has made a basic assessment
of relevant ESG risks through the Board’'s extensive
understanding of the business and the communication with
different stakeholders, and incorporated the relevant risks
into the risk management and internal control system.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLE

The ESG Report has been presented into two subject areas,
namely environmental and social. Each subject area has various
aspects to disclose the relevant policies, key performance
indicators ("KPIs") and the status of compliance with relevant
laws and regulations as addressed by the ESG Reporting Code.
The Group has complied with the disclosure requirements of the
“mandatory disclosure requirements” and “comply or explain”
provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Code. Certain KPIs which
is considered as material by the Group during the Reporting
Period are disclosed in the ESG Report. The Group will continue
to optimise and improve the disclosure of KPIs.

During its preparation, the Group adheres to the reporting
principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency by:

&R A

KRESGHRED AMBETENTESHE - BRI
Mre#HlE  -SEEZTEFETANEEREER
AR - BRAETIEIR([KPIs]) LA R ESGHR
SIS TS RMEREERERMETER o &
S BB BSFESGHR & HE S| R A M A 58 HI 1 &
ME IR TETREREIEXNEERE -
EENFEHRNEEEEENZHBREENE
EREBEELSGRER - AEEBEEE(LR
EKPISHIIREE ©

ERELBRET  AEBRBATHTAETEER
% 81 - FEN-BERHRERA

The Group’s Application
rEENER

Reporting Principles Interpretation

HERA B=

Materiality The report should disclose significant
impacts on the environment and society,
or aspects that materially affect how the
stakeholders assess the Company and make
decisions.

5214 ZHERRBHRENELENEATE -

FEFHEFERRT AR RESE

EXFENER -

Quantitative

applicable.

1t
B WHEEMRIER NAEB AT

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR

The KPIs disclosed in the report shall
be calculable and comparable where

BEPHRENBERENEEEIAUAE

The Group conducted questionnaires to
understand its stakeholders’ expectations.
Based on the results of the questionnaires,
the Group identified and reported the Group’s
material sustainability issues. The details are
explained in the section of “Stakeholders
Communication and Materiality Assessment”.
AEEBRBERIFHENRNEETHEH
L - REASHENER  XEEZRIL
BETEENERAHENRE - F1EF
2HEBEFENERRCEL -

Under feasible situation, the Group recorded,
calculated and disclosed quantitative
information and conducted comparisons
with past performance if applicable. Details
of the calculation standards/methods for the
reporting of emissions/energy consumptions
are disclosed together with the data tables in
relevant sections.

EATHEART - AEBEZH - sTERE
BELEN  TEEANERTEBER
BETLR - REHRERBEFENET
HIRE AN AENRAEE R
BRRIR— IR -
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The Group’s Application
rEENER

Reporting Principles Interpretation

HEFA Bx

Balance The issuer should objectively and truthfully
report its current year ESG performance.

T BOAERSE  EEMHREEAFEN

ESGRKIR o

Consistency

to understand corporate performance.
—
ISR T L B A B AR (R SR o

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group maintained the
same ESG management structure and process as the Last
Reporting Period. The Group fully understands that ESG policies
and practices may change over time to reflect the changes
in business operations, structures, technologies, laws and
regulations, and the environment. The Group thus continues
to invest substantial resources to monitor ESG issues, policies
and practices and performance on an ongoing basis. In order to
contribute to the sustainable development on the environment
and society, whilst maximizing the benefits to our employees
and the stakeholders, the Group has continued to exercises due
responsibility in maintaining the highest level of ethical standards
when conducting its business and upholds strict compliance
with all relevant laws, rules and regulations in all ESG matters.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Board relies on comments and opinion from the
stakeholders to help the Group to better understand the risks
and opportunities in different aspects. The Board believes that
understanding the views of the Group's stakeholders lay a
solid foundation for the long-term growth and success of the
Group. The Board values opinions on the road to sustainable
development and seeks to create value for its stakeholders,
internally and externally, and the communities in which it
operates.

The ESG Report should be prepared in a
consistent manner, its KPIs can be compared

ESGHREBNA—Bm T A\ mE - HEsE

The Group followed the principles of
accuracy, objectivity, and fairness to report its
achievements and challenges in sustainable
development.

AEEEFEERGE  FTHEUENQEENR
A |ETHEAEAFHBER T EMESH
PR AN E ER D DB ©

The Group used its best endeavours to ensure
consistency in preparing the ESG Report and
manages its ESG data for future comparison.
REBEZRARE NHERBAERESCHREH —H
1 - WERHESGEIRIA R REITLH R -

ERERERAN - SERFEE E—ERE B
RIMESGE IR EBAIMRIE - ARBE TR IEARESG
BRMEBIESHEEZESENERMBELEE
b ARBLEKZE - &8 - 5t - EZE2R
BIRIRBRE(E - At - AEBBEEIRAK
EEAR  LIEEEITESGHERE  MEMNEE
MRIB - ARERBEMGSNAIFERRE @ [
BeAXMEBRMHEIERFMNENTZ - A5E
RARESHFERTEAENEXTLYRERS
BEEEYRAIBESCEEREBRRETIE
MREE  SER R -

KhhESR

EXeHEERFNENTELER © AhE
AEBE BB TR ENRR NS - B
Z2RE  BRAKEFNENERB/AE
BERRPREELANDEERENER - FHit
EFZe5lARTREZRNER XK
RRSNERE 1D E R R SRR A& E
18 o
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The Board identified the Group's employees, customers,
investors and shareholders, suppliers and business partners
and community at large as its key stakeholder groups. In daily
business activities, the Board communicates with different

stakeholders through multiple channels as below:

EXEgHAEENET  BEF  REEKK
R HEBLREGEFLEELRIISERE
MEEE - EAEEHEHT EFSBBA
TEREREEIRENESS

Stakeholders Concerns Communication Mechanisms
=& B8 E 1Y R BERE
Employees - Providing safe and suitable working environment for - Email
staff - Staff performance evaluation
- Career development - Staff recreational activities
- Rights and interests of employees - Staff training
- Remuneration and welfare
8T - RHZENEENITERE - EBEFEH
- BEERE - BIBBGHE
- BIkx - BTREEE)
- FHBREA - BIHEI
Customers - Product and service quality - Customer service hotline
- Complying with applicable laws and being responsible - Email
for product and service liability - Company website
= Respecting customer privacy and information security
B - EmMR%nE - BPRBERR
- BTBEREERAEAEEGSNREET - EFBH
- EEXFEBALMNEERE - ARAUh
Investors and - Corporate governance - Email

Shareholders

BEERBR

Financial performance

Information disclosure

Protection of investors’ and shareholders’ interests
Improving operational efficiency to generate stable
returns in the long run

ANERIE

BURVE S

EERKE

REREE MRS
EREENE - ARHBAEERENLR

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited

EPS RIEMEEEABRAT

Annual general meetings
Company website
Reports, announcements
and other publications

EFHE
FEBRAR

NCIE S

s RERE LIRS
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Stakeholders Concerns Communication Mechanisms
BtHE B8 E BV R R BERE
Suppliers and - Complying with applicable laws and eradicating - Email
Business Partners corruption behaviour = Business negotiations
- Maintaining sound cooperation relationship for mutual -  Contracts and agreements
growth - Company website

GUESE S
1ERH

Community

gaui)

= Formulating stringent procurement system and
controlling risks

- BTERARENIMBEISTTR - EBEFEHG
- FRERONEERE - KEKE - AE#RA
- TIEBRBHORBHIE - Z5ER - aRMNRE
- ARAuh
- Community development support - Email
= Enhancing the environmental protection consciousness - Company website

of staff and encouraging them to make commitment
to the society

- XPFHEREER - EFEM
- ERETHRBERESJFALZEMGASEEELA - QFELE
s
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STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

The Board values and pays active attention to the expectations
and demands of the stakeholders for the ESG performance of
the Group. The Board welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on the
Group's ESG approach and performance. Suggestions can be sent
to the Board via the following:

Address: Flat A, 17/F., Gemstar Tower, 23 Man Lok
Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
+852 2334 2088

info@epshk.hk

Phone number:
Email:

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG
reporting by understanding the key ESG issues that are important
to the business of the Group. During the Reporting Period, the
Company undertook its annual materiality assessment exercise.
The objective of materiality assessment is to identify ESG topics
that are material and relevant to the Group's operation.

Through regular communications with stakeholders and
reviewing of the information collected, the Group has identified
the following ESG material areas and aspects indicated in the
following table:

A Material
82

)

(REZWh-7
5
A

it (HE

B3P

o
Az
=]

External Assessment (Impact on Stakeholders)
AN ¥

Immaterial

TEE

FirERE

EFeHEERIEREIFNEHAEHE
ESGRIRHHER BN - EFSBUAR N E L
AEBMESGIERKRBIIREER - ZEAR
BATNTABEAGCESS ¢

ik BB NEAMRLEERHS
T TEAE

TEERIS:  +852 2334 2088

BFHEH:  info@epshk.hk

BEEMFM

AEEBBATHREAREXFEENBEHRESG
M @ EESGHREF A TEEMRA - F|;E
HRN - AR TFEEEUTEHIE - E2
MFEHNENERAErAEELEHEENEER
ESCEESHIBNEM -

BHREFNENEHNBBLRBHREBKNE
£ AREBEEER TIIRE - 8 MEANE
EHELEm - RTRPIR

® B4 ® R7
® B3 ® RS
® B) ® B6
B8 ® B]
¢
e A3
LY
A4
Material
E-

>

Internal Assessment (Impact on Business)

AERHE (BEBIRFE

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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Subject Areas

FTEHR

Subject Aspects
FEEHE

Environmental
B

Al.
Al.

Emissions

e

A2.
A2.

Use of Resources

BREM

A3.
A3.

Environment and Natural Resources

BREMAREIR

A4.
A4.

Climate Change
FURSHL,

Social
e

Employment and Labour Practices

BRESETIER

B1
B1

. Employment

ER®

B2.
B2.

Health and Safety
EEMZ 2

B3.
B3.

Development and Training

TR Mg

B4.
B4.

Labour Standards
BEnzAE

Operating Practices
2EED

BS.
BS.

Supply Chain Management
HEEER

B6.
B6.

Product Responsibility
EmEE

B7

. Anti-corruption
B7.

RES

Community

o)

BS.
BS.

Community Investment

HERE

The above ESG material areas and aspects have continued to be
strictly managed and monitored through the Group’s established
management structure, process, policies and guidelines as

described in this ESG Report.

FAESGE B4 S K [ m 5 & 15 B ANESGIHR
LM ASEECEYNERLER B2 BGR
NIEEI TR E IR M S o
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THE GROUP’S ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL
AREAS AND ASPECTS AND THEIR PERFORMANCE

A. ENVIRONMENTAL AREAS AND ASPECTS

The Group is principally engaged in the Garment Business,
Healthcare and Medicated Products Business and IRO, CRO and
in-house R&D business which headquartered in Hong Kong. The
Group provides one-stop apparel supply chain management
solutions for its customers ranging from fashion trend analysis,
product design and development, sourcing and procurement of
materials, production management, quality control and logistics
services. All of the knitwear products were produced by the
third-party manufacturers engaged by the Group. As such, the
relevant environmental laws and regulations are not applicable
to the Group itself. Notwithstanding the aforementioned, the
Group required its suppliers to comply with the relevant laws
and regulations relating to not only environmental but also labor,
social and safety. The Group also implemented environmental
protection policies in order to reduce the possible pollution
resulted from its business activities on the environment. These
policies including but not limited to the policies on reducing
carbon dioxide ("CO,") emission and water consumption, waste
management and other eco-friendly measurements in the
Group's business operations. The Group implemented these
policies through (i) reminding staff to switch the light on only
when it is needed and turn off when staff are out of office; (ii)
reminding staff to set the temperature of air-conditioner to an
energy-efficient level; (iii) emphasising on the use of recycle
paper when printing internal documents and double-sided
printing for external documents; (iv) reminding staff and relevant
person-in-charge to process daily waste properly and to treasure
water resources and avoid wasting; (v) reminding staff to turn
off water taps after use; and (vi) endeavouring to promote water
conservation in the offices which resulted a limited amount of
water consumption during the Reporting Period. The Group will
continue to review the environmental impact of its operations
and assess whether its environmental protection policies are in
compliance in all material respects with applicable environmental
laws and regulations in Hong Kong, the PRC and Japan including
but not limited to (i) Environmental Protection Law of the PRC;
(i) Water Pollution and Control Law of the PRC; (iii) Prevention
and Control of Pollution from Environmental Noise Law of the
PRC; (iv) Air Pollution Control Ordinance Law of Hong Kong; and
(v) Water Pollution Control Ordinance Law of Hong Kong. During
the Reporting Period, the Group’s business operations are wholly
office operations, and thus, the key environmental impacts from

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR

FEENRBENTEEREERRAER
L)

A. REEERER

AEBRE—RUEREEY -  RERBHEER
N B E RS LA R EAIRO ~ CROM A ZRA 3% %
o BEZNER - AEBAXFIRRHE I
ANREHEESEHRAFR @ BREREEES
- Em&RTAE - MRERREKRE £
EER  mEZEHEMRRE - A M
AASEBEAME = FREEEE - Atk - 48
ARNRRERFZRITBEARNAEELRT - &
ELMAFETEANAER @  AEB{DERKE
HERETRIEE 4T  HeMT2BEBN
MEERER - ZREENEEREREEE - LUK
DHEEREB A EE ARSI o EBLBUR
BREBTRMB D Gk Co2l) B FIK
A BEYEBEUARAEEXBEZERHNE
MIRIRIEE - AEBEBBAN T AN IETELR
R (VREEIREZFERAAE  WEET
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ENRER S - ST ENONEB SO 1B + FRF A EE
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2  AEBEBEERESHLBBHRENTE
Y HERRBRESEMBERTEFEE
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= AREMBATREE) « (i) (PEARK
MBIRIRRFISAIRZE)  (v) (EBRFRITTE
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the Group’s operations mainly related to (i) energy; (ii) paper
consumption; and (iii) local and overseas business travels. As
such, the environmental impact from the Group's operation
is minimal compared to that of many other industries. During
the Reporting Period, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations related to
environmental protection, air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste by the Group.

A1. EMISSIONS
(i) Hazardous and Non-Hazardous Air Emissions

Carbon dioxide (CO) is the non-hazardous greenhouse gas
("GHG") generated indirectly from the use of electricity in our
operation.

The table below recorded and compared the Reporting Period
and the Last Reporting Period’s resultant indirect air pollutant
emissions:

RE #HEREARARE
BEERBAMAL - Al - AEEZHY
RANOERHEEBROLR | (VEFHTE |
R Gi A BB 5N B A Bl o E it - 823
S EMMTEMN - ARENLEHERNTE

B/ e RIERAR - AEB Y EBREZER KD
BTERRRRE BERIOBEREBIR - K
Kktihs - BEREBEZEERMNELENE
RERIR o

Al. B
(i) BERE  BEREHMK

—REHR(CO,) REEERRETEAENHE
EANEZRERE(IGHG]) °

T%uEﬁItEfT#ﬁi
EEERBHMER

b —{EHRE B

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEFE

Items of emissions"“ " Unit 2025 2024 Changes
BERUE B 20 iy —E-hEF —TMF vl
CO, indirect emission™o @ Kg 54,756 65,992 -17.03%
& bk e /NIN
Intensity (CO,/m? floor space of Hong Kong, Kg 18.67 30.88 -39.54%
the PRC and Japan offices)
BEFKREOABNBCAE (RS - Atk AF FHX
BAPAE)
Note 1. Emission factors for calculations in this ESG Report made it/ @  ZRESGIHREFATEMNERET - 2ZHE
reference to the "How to prepare an ESG Report-Appendix 2: BB R BFTR20245F 12 31 B EH A
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs (version updated IR BLESGHR S — FigR2 « IRIREREBUE
on 31 December 2024)" by The Stock Exchange of Hong BKPVEIREIEFEMET - RIESEHA o
Kong Limited, unless otherwise specified.
Note 2:  Emission factors for purchased electricity are sourced from # f/7#2 : BEENMEERETF  BEFEHERS

BlE e BEREREVMEEVE and based on data
stated in J\CA Climate - FIT Version 6.0” published by Japan
International Cooperation Agency.

To reduce indirect CO, emissions, we have formulated a
sustainability strategy that will continue to improve our energy
saving practices, including strictly controlling the electricity
consumption of our production facility. We target to lower the
indirect CO, emission per m* per year by 1-2% through the
reduction of electricity consumption per m?.

iunﬂﬁﬁ/' EREHINEBE K A AR
7 & B B9CUICA Climate-FIT 6.0hR) ©

BT RD F’ﬁ%_ﬁ{tﬁﬁ%iﬁ& C RPIBIE T A

BRRRE - BEERSHPINEREEE \1
FEER AR 2 %UEE R ES - HMIBZ
BBREFFHFANEESE F BFEHRBE= %

(LR BE R E BRI 1-2% o
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Transportation is one of the emission areas where the Group
also provides guidance to control air pollution. The table below
recorded and compared the Reporting Period and the Last

B R —EHFBIAR - AEBMEHRES]
ZHIZERISF o TRAHIW LEREHM £—
ERERERE(REEHEB O E®WATEM) D

Reporting Period'’s resultant air pollutant emissions in Hong Kong, ~ Z=ER5 RAMBERE :
where the vehicle owned by the Group is located:
Year ended 31 March

BE=ZA=t—BHLEE
Air Pollutants Unit 2025 2024 Changes
Z=R5EY By —EB-RE —E—pE gk
Nitrogen Oxides (“NOx") Kg 0.26 0.33 -19.63%
BELPI(NOX) Al
Sulphur Oxides (“SOx") Kg 0.01 0.01 -19.63%
AL ¥I(SOx) /NI
Particulate Matter ("PM") Kg 0.02 0.02 -19.63%
SEFRLTF(PM) NI

In the coming year, the Group targets to at least maintain and if
possible, continue to reduce its air pollutants emissions by 1-2%.

(i) Hazardous waste, non-hazardous waste and packaging
materials

The Group generated/consumed no significant hazardous waste,
non-hazardous waste and packaging materials due to its business
nature. The table below recorded and compared the Reporting
Period and the Last Reporting Period’s total amount of paper
usage in Hong Kong, the PRC and Japan:

EARAR—F » AEENBERREDRFARE
HiE - E— TR ERTRERE-2% ©

(i) BEERY  BTERYNCRHLHE

RNEEBNE  AREREESE THREER
EANAERERY BEERRVEBRMHY -

TRESFUHELBRBREHMN E—EARSHES
B - PEMBANBREE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

Wastes Unit 2025 2024 Changes

BEEY =) b TS —T_mEF 21

Non-hazardous waste, paper for Tonnes 2.46 2.65 -7.17%
recycling purpose

BEEEY(ARERRR) 7

Intensity of non-hazardous waste per m? ~ Tonnes/m? Insignificant Insignificant N/A
floor space of Hong Kong, the PRC and (<0.01tonnes/m3) (<0.01tonnes/m?)
Japan offices

HE(EEEEY, B REMAR B FHK FEKXR TEX TiEmM
WAZEHE) (<0.01M8 SFJ53K) (<001, F53K)

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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In the coming year, the Group targets to at least maintain and if
possible, continue to reduce its non-hazardous waste by 1-2%.

(iii) Noise and Light Pollution Emission

The Group does not generate any noise and light pollution to the
surrounding neighbors as our business operations and activities
are conducted inside our offices. Within our operation, in certain
parts of the operation, noise is generated, but the extent is far
below national and industry standard limits. During the Reporting
Period, no complaints nor warning notices were received.

(iv) Mitigation measures and reduction initiatives

The Group advocates emission reduction, energy saving and
resources saving, and is committed to achieving sustainable
operations. To this end, we have set preliminary directional
targets in terms of reducing emissions, energy use efficiency and
water efficiency. The Group will review the progress and explore
more opportunities for various environmental protection goals. In
the future, we will set more specific quantitative environmental
goals to nurture the environment and cherish natural resources.

Environmental Aspects  Targets
RRER B

S

RiE  #HBRERKRSE

EREF  AEENEERELEFRANES
BEEMIBEMEEEKT - RPN
1 E R R1-2% o

(iii) "R & EIAHTRBEN

K%l\@%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ%?i&ﬂw*ﬂtﬁ
l%&ﬁ%%ﬁiMﬂé@%E%“*

LTT"E%TF?E’J@VEEP REFHSELR
T BEREERERBEZRMT %ﬁﬁm@ﬂ
EREHA - KRBT RFHE SR -
(iv) BEEE AR HEEE

AREBELSRSE - £kt - HOER - BHIRE
EET FELE - Bl RPIERDHR 'R

RERERMERMBRKAERTERE T FNT

ﬁ&ﬁh AEEK BT ERER  URRE
LHE - DVEREBERRBR KK - RAH
REEABNENCRRERR  WRERELD
EERER -

teps Taken To Achieve The Targets

PREUEYHE 1

Air Pollutants Emissions The Group will actively implement
the air pollutants control plan and
measures to maintain or reduce the

intensity of air pollutants emissions.

RS R K%lﬂﬂiffﬁ&ﬁﬁWﬁ RUE
HIEt I R - AR D=
RS RYBEREE

Greenhouse Gas Emissions  The Group will actively implement
the electricity-saving plan and
measures to maintain or reduce

the intensity of greenhouse gas

emissions.

BERBEHEK AEEBERKERHETEEE RE
M AR SOR AR E R BB HEK
T

Carrying out regular maintenance of vehicles
with good condition for operational efficiency
Encouraging the use of public transportations

SR A B AT B 1T
e
SRR ALRE

EHIRE  ReE
BTA

Adopting LED lighting in some offices

Setting the temperature of air-conditioning

system in a range between 25°C to 26°C

Switching off lights and unnecessary energy-

consuming devices when they are not in use

Promoting environmental protection such

as saving water and electricity by slogan or

poster in office

B P A =R LEDAREA

K=/ RGHREREL25CE26°CEE

&

FEAME AR R R A 0 B RERE RS

E%“*M@m BRI A e ERIFER
C QNERJK ~ BRE
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Environmental Aspects Targets Steps Taken To Achieve The Targets
REREE B BREXHY $5 e
Waste Reduction The Group will actively implement - Using electronic document processing

the material-saving plan and
measures to maintain or reduce
the intensity of waste production.

B EEZE ) RE E AR E fE D A BT 8
KIEle - AMER SR D BER R
EENE

A2. USE OF RESOURCES
(i) Energy Consumption

Energy is the critical component of the Group’s operation, and
the Group has to acquire energy that originates from fossil fuels,
which is exhaustible and non-renewable energy. The Group has
thus established an energy consumption reduction pathway with
a long-term perspective as a directional target. Because of that,
the Group makes its every effort to reduce energy consumption
by different energy measures.

Established a resources management procedure to regulate
energy use;

Promoting environmental protection such as saving water
and electricity by slogan or poster in office;

Switching off lights and unnecessary energy-consuming
devices when they are not in use;

Setting the temperature of air-conditioning system in a
range between 25°C to 26°C;

Disseminated energy-saving message via emails; and

Adopting LED lighting in some offices.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR

system to minimise the use of paper
Encouraging printing or photocopying on
both sides of paper, where applicable
Focusing on quality management to reduce
wastage and scrap for less pollution resulted
FRAEFXHRERES - [RERM DKL
£/

*QEDEEEHEDW’EEW&?E(ZID@%)
AEREERURAIREBRE - B5

/7L
A2. BERFER
(i) BEFHFE

EREAREEENEE %ﬁﬁf@%ﬁﬁ F REE WY
/JéHXﬁETKEW‘ﬂE’JHQ B EAl IR
BARIBAMEER - Bt $E. S AR
EE%E??WETEE’]%@%H%FERT‘“ o EHIlE - AKE
BN BBETREREER D ERERE

. RTARERIEFARELRER
. ENAZREELTHRZERR - M
K E5E

- ETERRBREECMTLENEER
(=K

. BEARXRFHREREBEE2SCE26CHE
EA

. BAERMETEEES - &

. TSNP A=ELALEDERRR o
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The table below recorded and compared the Reporting Period
and the Last Reporting Period’s resultant energy consumption:

RiE  #HBRERKRSE

TR BRI L — (A S s R
R -

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLEFE

Energy Consumption 2025 2024 Changes
RETRH 76 —B-HF —E_NF i,
- Electricity Consumption (kWh)
- B HHEE(TRER) 137,798 155,801 -11.56%
Intensity (kWh/m? floor space of Hong Kong,
the PRC and Japan offices)
ZE(TEE BEMNPEPEAZTEEF T K) 47 73 -35.62%
- Unleaded petrol  Consumption (Litres)
- EEgH EEEZ () 411 512 -19.73%
Consumption (kWh) Nete &)
JEREE (T RE)HEe 3,984 4957 -19.63%
Intensity (kWh/m? floor space
of Hong Kong office)
BE(TEER BEHRAEEEFHAK) 2 6 -66.67%
Total Consumption (kWh)
FEr EFE (T L) 141,782 160,758 -11.80%

Note 3:  Energy conversion factors used for petrol are based on the
conversion factor mentioned in the ESG Reporting Code.

The significant decrease in electricity consumption was due
to the disposals of 7 of the Company’s subsidiaries during the
Reporting Period.

Wi URBT AR RERE T HERESGHE IR
31 L AR T -

RBEHE - REEN TRISHNAKBERIE
TERFRA] -
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(ii) Water Consumption

As the Group does not conduct any business relating to
manufacturing, it does not encounter any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose. The Group's key water usage arises from
consumption in offices, including toilet flushing, water tap and
drinking water. For the PRC and Hong Kong offices, we operate in
leased office premises of which water supply and discharge are
controlled by building management who considered provision of
water usage data to individual occupant is not feasible. For Japan
office, the water are mainly used for daily hygiene needs and is

considered insignificant.

(iii) Targets and steps

Energy Conservation

m
an>
(\\\}

Water Conservation

EERO)ERIN

Paper and Packaging
Materials and Other
Raw Materials
Consumption

MR BEME R
HAb R EHERE

The Group will actively implement the
electricity-saving plan and measures
to maintain or reduce the intensity of
electricity consumption.

AEBRESGETHE S ME
M AERIBPBENE o

The Group will actively implement
the water-saving plan and measures
to maintain or reduce the intensity of
water consumption.

7N 5= B % A8 A HE 1T B K 5T 8 Rt
B BFRFSURDAKERE o

The Group will actively implement
the paper-saving plan and measures
to maintain or reduce the intensity of
paper consumption.

AEERBEGEGAOAFENE
i o RFERHERROEFERE -
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Adopting LED lighting in some offices

Setting the temperature of air-conditioning
system in a range between 25°C to 26°C
Switching off lights and unnecessary energy-
consuming devices when they are not in use
BB IR =B LEDRR A

T ZE 8 RETHNR R R EAE25°CE26° CVE A
EAERRBREE RN B EREERE

Promoting environmental protection such as
saving water and electricity by slogan or poster
in office

ERAEBBEEIEROTAEERFER
& - WEK - fE

Avoid unnecessary printing and print on both
sides

Use recycled papers and reuse paper-made
products such as envelops and folders
Replace the use of papers by sharing and
storing information and documents in electronic
formats

Adopt company-wide cloud based working
environment to reduce the need of printed
documentation
BRTUENGIE - ERAEmSIE]
ERBAERYEEERATER - WEHM
BRI

WD ZFNFHE RN EMAMNERIKER
REREE
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A3. Environment and Natural Resources

The Group raises staff's awareness on environmental issues
through education and training and enlists employees’ support
in improving the Group'’s performance, promotes environmental
awareness amongst the customers, business partners and
shareholders, supports community activities in relation to
environmental protection and sustainability, and evaluates and
monitors regularly the impact of past and present business
activities impacting upon health, safety and environmental
matters. With the integration of policies mentioned in Sections
Al(iii) and A2(iii) of this ESG Report, the Group strives to
minimise the impacts to the environment and natural resources.
The principal business activities of the Group do not have a
significant impact on the environment and natural resources.

A4. Climate Risk and Resilience Management

Climate change has caused frequent extreme weather and has an
impact on the business operations of the Group. Therefore, the
Group has formulated working mechanisms to identify, prevent
and mitigate climate change issues that may have a significant
impact. At the same time, we would adjust the use of resources
and energy. In response to disasters and accidents which are
easily induced by extreme weather, we always enhance the
capability to the disaster response.

RiE  #HBRERKRSE

A3. BEREKBARER
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A4. RIREBRMNKER
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Governance

Climate change has caused frequent extreme weather and
has had an impact on the business operations of the Group.
Therefore, climate change risks are considered by our Board to
be material risks and the Board is responsible for overseeing
and formulating working mechanisms to identify, prevent and
mitigate climate change issues that may have a significant
impact.

The Group understands that stakeholders expect us to be
managing and mitigating climate change risks in line with
local and global commitments and recommendations. We
recognise that the impacts of climate change are varied and
long-ranging and the risks identified could prevent us from
meeting our strategic objectives and could result in adverse
operational, compliance and financial impacts. Thus, the Board
meets regularly to oversee our strategies and management
approaches related to climate risks and opportunities, as well as
the disclosure of information. We have implemented a climate
change policy statement to guide our operations and reduce
our impact on climate change while strengthening our business
resilience.

As the world transitions toward a lower-carbon sustainable
economy, there are inevitable areas that our Group can
contribute to this. After discussions with our stakeholders, we
have identified energy and water as immediate areas that we can
tackle to both combat climate change and reduce potential costs
in the future.

Management’s role include:

1. Oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities is
managed directly by the Board. The CEO holds the overall
responsibility for ensuring that the strategies and policies
set by the Board are effectively implemented across the
organisation.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR
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2. The Board is also responsible for the development of
appropriate skills and competencies through training
programs, professional development opportunities, and
assessments of current capabilities. This ensures that
the board members and relevant personnel are well-
equipped to oversee and address climate-related risks and
opportunities.

3. The Management Team, led by the CEO, plays a critical role
in the governance of climate-related risks and opportunities.
The Management Team is responsible for examining and
addressing climate related risks and opportunities, and day
to day implementation of policies set by the Board.

4. The Group utilises various controls and procedures, such
as internal audits, performance reviews, and sustainability
reporting, to support the oversight of climate-related risks
and opportunities. These controls and procedures are
integrated with other internal functions, such as finance,
operations, and human resources, to ensure a cohesive
approach to sustainability.

Strategy

We strive to understand the impacts brought by climate change
to our business operations and thus continuously seek to
advance the relevant studies, as well as our action plans and
mitigation measures. Subject to the on-going development
of our climate-related risk assessment and management
practices, we will further study the feasibility and practicality of
integrating the financial impacts of climate-related risk and other
sustainability issues into our financial planning at the corporate
and project levels.

Physical Acute Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such as typhoons,
heavy rain, thunder and lightning and flooding that can cause
physical acute risk. The potential consequences include delivery
or shipment delay as well as damage to documents, equipment
and even employees’ health and life. The above potential
consequences will cause economic losses to and increase
operating costs of the Group.
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2. EFSHREABHIFE  EXBRHE
SMEENFHE - RERBEENREEMEE
e HRESEKE MERARAKE
BMEMRRAEERERENED -

3. HWTREBENEEEREREERRR
HgENRERERRAS - BEEEK
BERAMEHRIEAENRERERS
AR BAERTESTSHENBR -

4. EEERBEESIMER  fPlInAEE
A BRGHEMAKERS - RXFHRIE
HEARRERENEE - ELIEHEEE
M5 28 ANERFEMABINE
Ea  BARRMAEKEERTERR—H
SRR o

R g

BFEN THRRARSECHRMER S ERRD
FE - AT S S E R R 7T IA R IR IR
TEEMERER - RERMARKBBERR
AEMEEERNSERR - RASE—ZH
TR RIEAAREE RN A R ERE RN
BREMALERIAR BEYBURSIMRITTIE
MERIME

S ERERE

AEBEDHERBmASR - fINEBE - KW - &
EMPIBALAK - ATEHEENTBIELX -
BENRRBESIEEINREE - BEX
 REEEETWEEMERD - LilEE
BRRBEHAEBEEREER R MIEINEEX
K o

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025
2024/2025 F3;

83



84

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR  HERERBRRKRE

Physical Acute Risk

SHERER
Extreme weather Preventative and mitigation measures
Him R R AR AR AR 15 B
Typhoons - Attach duct tapes to windows to avoid damage
- Move equipment to safety areas in advance
- Reinforce equipment and components that may be blown away
- Inform and negotiate with clients and third-party suppliers of potential delays in
advance
- Arrange work from home for staff according to the guidelines of local observatory
i [ -  BEFRABERE - BeRE

Heavy Rain and Flooding

KERFEEK

Thunder and Lightning

]
il

Physical Chronic Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such as sustained
high temperature during the year could cause physical chronic
risk. The potential consequences include a higher chance of
getting heatstroke for employees, increasing turnover rate and
work-related injuries. The demand for cooling for the working

RASRBERER2EE

AN E] A] BE & 1 W AE A R A AN B

TR BB ANE P M 58 = U5 {1 FE P X 195 P B FE U RERR
RIBEWERUEIES] - R THEABERTIIE

Check that all windows are shut as secure as possible

Reinforce equipment and assets which may be damaged or blown away

Arrange work from home for staff according to the guidelines of local observatory
REMAREF TR &AL 2R

INE R BE B WIRIB KV E RN E E

RIBBUST TR R AMERAMES ZHETERTE

Keep good conditions of earthing devices

Remind employees to save data and turn off computers
REFZR R B B R 4R RE

REEE TIRF BRI RARA AT B

1ertERELs

AEBDHEEGRKAR - fI—FPHENS
B FREEEMERENMKEEKX - ERNE

BREFEIHBLIIEMN - BETRKE LT
MITEEHBEM - TIERBENELFNR K SIE
o ABEEEANEE M E N F KNS EKANIE

environment will be increased, which may lead to an increase in i °
power demand and operating costs of the Group.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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The Group has established different measures as below to
prevent and minimise the negative effects of extreme weather.
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Physical Chronic Risk

BHEEER
Extreme weather

BIHRR

Preventative and mitigation measures

TE B A AR AR 4 i

AREBEHEANZIRENE » PAR KR DR
MARNWEETE -

Sustained high temperature

?d: ==
~T AR [A] /m

Keep a First-aid kit convenient

—  Keep cold water available 24 hours a day

-  ESEMBSAEASRE

- BR2A/PNERREMRK

Climate-related Transition Risk

Transition risk

R EE

Risk description

2 B 4 3t

SRR 1668 4938 K = B2

Potential Business Impact

BENERY

Mitigation Measures

RIRHE T

Legal and
policy risk

TEEMBER AR

Technology Risk

AR

Local governments may enforce
stricter carbon emission reduction
policies, potentially raising
the carbon emission costs for
enterprises’ production and
operations. This includes changes
to government policies, laws,
and regulations, such as carbon
pricing and renewable electricity
pricing.

PRPE 3D IR T AT 88 B HE 52 AN BRAR Y
R BERUR A BUR - RATBRIE IR
FRBRBE B AR A EE R
8

Technological improvements that

support the transition to a lower-
carbon system.

SFHERR A Rt B ek

Increase operation
cost and potential for
litigation.

1N E AR

Failing to upgrade
to more efficient,
sustainable,

or automated
technologies
could result in
higher operation
costs and reduced
competitiveness.

REFTREESA -
REsT-CAsE &3
AR E MR EERA
e N

Regular review of
relevant legislation.

Set up near term target

to demonstrate the

Group's decarbonisation

effort.

EHETHEER -

RELHABE - BN

& BHRARACR -

Explore new
technologies, and
techniques.

Adapt to changes in the

cost and availability of

raw materials and utilities
like renewable electricity,
water, and gas, including

the relevant costs of

securing and maintaining

sufficient supply.

RERFEMAF A -
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(AR BAE
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Transition risk

Risk description

Potential Business Impact

Mitigation Measures

[R e A [ B 6 4 BENBXRE EEETE
Market and Customers have increasingly strict  —  There will be a risk of - Expand the product/

reputation risk

IS MBERER

requirements for carbon emission
management of their suppliers,
while the decarbonisation of
products and services may
become an important standard
for customers to choose from.
Products or services that are
not low-carbon may lead to a
decrease in demand.

There are stricter requirements
for transparent carbon emissions
information, and enterprises
need to increase investment
in the management of related
performance. Poor performance
in climate information disclosure
may lead to reputation damage,
declined stock price, or difficulties
in financing.

R SR e B E T B K
BB o 7 an AR A5 BY = B
LRAIER REREENERRE
£ FEREmAEERFTEK
T - FREHBREMEDET
FIERANER  bEFRIE
MEBKRBENRE - FERIK
MHEAEERREARENEER
1B BEERERTHRIBERE -
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a decline in sales and
reputation if end-user
is getting more prefer
on environmentally
friendly products or
services and we do not
have these options for
our customers.

A0 RAR S P P 2R
i IR R Z R
SRS - IR
BLERGREFAE
HEIHE TEMBERR
Bk -

service range to cater
to a broader audience
and adapt to changing
customer preferences,
including eco-

friendly and ethically
produced lines to
attract environmentally
conscious consumers.

Obtain environmental
related certifications
like to demonstrate
commitment to
sustainability.

Adopt environmentally
friendly production
processes, such as waste
reduction and circularity
programs.
BREMSE - he
BEZOFELEEDS
B NP RL - 8
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BEEEE -
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Climate-related Opportunities

The Group recognises that climate change not only presents
a range of physical and transitional risks, but also provides
emerging opportunities for our businesses. Measures such
as improving energy efficiency, increasing the utilisation
of renewable energy, transitioning to sustainable resource
management practices, and adopting green and low-carbon
technologies have not only resulted in direct cost savings but
also a reduction in energy expenses.

Looking ahead, we anticipate the opportunities that will arise
from long-term regulatory frameworks and carbon trading. These
mechanisms will enable us to explore alternative approaches
to combat climate change, leveraging sustainable financial
instruments. As the global economy transitions towards carbon
neutrality, we remain committed to assessing and managing
the climate-related risks and opportunities associated with our
business.

Risk Assessment and Management

We have updated the assessment methodology through
a climate scenario analysis to reassess climate risks and
opportunities across our operations in Hong Kong, the PRC and
Japan under two consolidated scenarios in accordance with
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosure (“TCFD")
recommendations. The two consolidated climate scenarios
are constructed based on public available scenarios which
include Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change ("IPCC"),
International Energy Agency (“IEA") and Network for Greening
the Financial System (“NGFS”). Based on the revaluation of our
climate risk assessment results, we have updated our mitigation
measures across various operational area. The following outlines
the scenarios and assumptions employed during our climate risk
assessment.

RiE  #HBRERKRSE
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Consolidated Scenario Brown Scenario

Turquoise Scenario

meEs FeEs RRess
Timeframe Short-term - till 2030
Medium to long-term — till 2100
5 ] 0 2] 52 I 20304F
FREZE21006

Global Mean Temperature
by 2100
2RTLRE

Scenario Description

transition risk.

BRER

RIRTTE) - ERFSEHSEBERS

BERR o

By gaining insight into the significant climate risks that affect
our business across our value chain, we can develop effective
strategies and measures to manage these risks and mitigate
their financial and non-financial impacts. Within our framework,
we acknowledge climate change as a strategic business risk
and have integrated climate-related risks and opportunities into
our overall business strategy. Our objective is to enhance long-
term resilience by comprehensively assessing, managing, and
monitoring climate risks that may impact our operations.

Metrics and Targets

We strive to effectively manage and evaluate the risks and
opportunities arising from climate change. Throughout the
Reporting Period, we maintained continuous monitoring of key
metrics, specifically GHG emissions, which serve as indicators of
climate-related risks. These targets aim to reduce overall GHG
emissions and electricity consumption.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR

Global mean temperature rises of above 3°C
F2100F 2IRFITRE EFHEEE3C

The scenario represents the future that only
current policies and nationally determined
contribution are implemented with limited
investments and climate actions to
decarbonise. This would usually lead to
high level of physical risk and low level of

HEERERABEERARERBEREE
BRAVARR  WEBBETAERERE M
BAME KK

fol:::)

Global mean temperature rises of 1.5 to
2°C by 2100
22100 2 FIERE EFT1.5F2°C

The scenario represents the future that
stringent and immediate policies will
be implemented by the companies that
are actively committed to climate action
goals. This would usually result in high
level of transition risks and low level of
physical risks.
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Greenhouse Gases (GHG) Emission

Greenhouse gases (GHG) include carbon dioxide (CO;) and its
non-hazardous equivalents including nitrous oxide and methane
(collectively with CO,, “CO2e"). The Group has established an
emission reduction pathway with a long-term perspective as a
directional target. The primary source of GHG emission of the
Group is from purchased electricity and secondarily from the fuel

consumption by company vehicles.

The table below recorded and compared the Reporting Period
and the Last Reporting Period’s resultant GHG emissions in Hong

Kong, the PRC and Japan:
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BIR - HE8R

BERRE

BERE ([GHG ) i

8

s &

KARHEFE -

[ B IRER RIS - REBR)R
MEBRFEREENESN - HARRRIERN

TREEIW LR EHN £ —
7~ BB ARTEARR

BEREGHGBEE —|biCo,) R EEE
BE—8It=
c REBOERY TURERB AN

ﬂ&EﬁF(EﬁiCOz%;tm_%
=REHNE

BEHREHER
EREHFNE :

Year ended 31 March

BE=HA=t—HLEE

GHG Emissions Unit 2025 2024 Changes
BE BB By —B-EF —ToME Bk
Total GHG emissions (Scope 1 and 2) COze kg 55,849 67,353 -17.08%
RERBHNAE(BE1F2) —SREE(RT)
Scope 1Nete @ COqe kg 1,093 1,361 -19.69%
&= 150 —SREE(RT)
Scope 2 Neee ) COze kg 54,756 65,992 -17.03%
& = 2o —SmEE(RT)
Intensity (Scope 1 and 2) per m? floor COze kg/m? 20 32 -37.50%

space of Hong Kong, the PRC and

Japan offices
mE(FBEN2),/BE hEFE —SREE(AT)FEHK

PN /NEN IR
Note 4: Scope 1 refers to direct emissions from vehicles that the  ffi74 : SEIIENEREEREHRANESHAEANE

Group owns. BEHERR -

Note 5: Scope 2 refers to indirect emissions resulting from the  ffz25: &HERENEAREENE H(EEERHE

generation of purchased electricity (consumed within the

Group).
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In the coming year, the Group targets to at least maintain and if
possible, continue to reduce its GHG emissions by 1-2%.

For the Reporting Period, the Group’s business operations and
activities did not lead or participate in any events or issues that
might impact the climate or result in the change of the climate
significantly. The Group has already taken measures to lower
indirect CO2 emission and fresh water consumption for the
coming year.

B. SOCIAL ASPECTS
1.1 Social Areas Overview

The Group acts in an honest and transparent principle and
aims to support the building of a harmonious society and a
mutually beneficial relationship with our stakeholders including
employees, customers, suppliers, professional services providers,
local communities as well as the governing authorities. During
the formulation and implementation of our ESG strategies,
policies, rules and regulations, the Group incorporates our long
and short-term goals with consideration for our stakeholders and
society. The Group believes that our modest acts will ultimately
benefit the stakeholders and general society.

1.2 Employment and Labour Practices Aspects
B1. Employment

As an enterprise with social responsibility, the Group shall not
only be accountable to its customers, but also to its employees.
When seeking for accomplishment of economic targets, the
Group also assumes responsibility to the society, which in turn
enables it to achieve sustainable development. The Group
values its employees as they are key to its success. It commits
to implement a transparent and fair recruitment system and
provide a working place without discrimination and with equal
opportunities for all staff. The Group strictly complies with the
laws and regulations related to labour including but not limited
to the Labour Contract Law of the PRC K ZEE A R KB & EH4E
[B%) ), the Social Insurance Law of the PRC ({FZE AR L FEH
HEIRERIE) ), Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap 608 of the laws
of Hong Kong), Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Cap 485 of the laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group, and
takes practical and effective measures to protect employees’
rights.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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ERFE  AEBENEERELHFRENEAE
REEHEHUKTE - tnRATRERVRE @ E— PG HEHPE
K1-2% o

EREHA - AEBEHEBKESMEE RS/
H2EEMAI R ERIRNGBURIRFERE Z(b
WEFEE - ARBEDERDER - §ER
EARR— R REE — S EBE AR ICBRE

B. t¥HEEHE
HesEgE

AEBBEHEMEANRIITE - EEXH
ML EmER  YREMANFOHE B8
T FF - HER FEXRGERE  Eib
HEAREREBELENOBER o 5T
ERMOIRE  HEMEARE « BX
HMAMEGIERES - RAESRALEHA
% BRBhEREE -  AEEMEE - ROV
B Z NRAMERNEMBEBLERE -

1.1

1.2 ERERFZEIERER
1EE

ER—XAAHLEEAERNEE - AEEE
HEFRE  EHEIRE - HERERKHE
BRENRE  NEFEERARTEEME N
ERNKERR  -AKEERET - BRE
TRKINNER - NREBEAGRERBBMAF
MEBEGE - S8 TEABRK—ETTE
BOTESAMARTFENRE - NEBERE
SEBERER - BRETRNHPEARK
MESEEREDE)  (PFEARKMEHL SRR
B ARETEGOINEREDIEC08E) - (38
B RTEE T EIRG]) (BB AEF4851F) R
HAKEEEAFENRBERER - LK
B BB R EERES T o

B1.



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group is committed to eliminating prejudice and
discrimination in the workplace and prohibiting its employees
to discriminate against: (i) a person on the ground of gender,
marital status, pregnancy or breastfeeding in prescribed areas
of activities; (ii) a person on the ground of disability when
committed in prescribed areas of activities; and (iii) a person on
the ground of family status. “Family status” means the status
of having a responsibility for the care of an immediate family
member, and “immediate family member”, in turn, means a
person who is related to someone by blood, marriage adoption
or affinity. The employees of the Group must also be prohibited
from their acts of discrimination, harassment, and vilification on
the ground of someone’s race. The Group complies to the anti-
discrimination laws in the jurisdictions of its subsidiaries located.

Staff annual leaves and benefit packages of the Group were
enforced with reference to the local labour laws. The Group
rewards employees with fair remuneration based on an
individual's work performance in order to inspire their working
enthusiasm. Further, the Group adopts an incentive system under
which the management’s remuneration is related to the Group's
operating results, which provides reasonable rewards to the
managements of the Group.
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As of 31 March 2025, the Group employed 135 employees in
Hong Kong, the PRC and Japan, among which 130 are full-time
staffs and 5 are part-time staffs. Further analysis of the Group's
employment situations for the Reporting Period and the Last
Reporting Period are summarised as below:
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Figure 1: Number of Employees by Gender Figure 2: Number of Employees by Employment Type
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80
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—TRF —EME
Figure 5: Number of Employees by Geographical Region
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During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any
incidents of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare. The Group is
confident to achieve the same result for the coming year.
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The table below shows the employee turnover rate of the TR AIRMER « FE4E R RibE %) AR

business segment under our reporting scope by gender, age EHHIARERREE :

group, and geographical region, respectively.
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Figure 6: Employment Turnover Rate by Gender Figure 7: Employment Turnover Rate by Age
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Figure 8: Employment Turnover Rate by Geographical Region
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To the best knowledge of the Directors, there is no material HREZEZBMIFTA @ MEFHAY EERFA BB
violation of relevant standards, rules and regulations regarding BHEifE{E - HIEHEEZ A « TIERE - BRE -
remuneration and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working  FE#E « % ot N H b B 18 A 4R FI A 48
hours, holidays, fair opportunity, diversity and other remuneration ~ BE/AE ~ AR LIRA o

package and benefits during the Reporting Period.
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B2. Occupational Health and Safety (“OHS”)

To indicate its care for employee’s health and safety, the Group
established a safe and healthy working environment for all
employees by establishing monitoring procedures for safety
management. The Group strictly complies with relevant laws
and regulations regarding employment and labour protection
including but not limited to Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance (Chapter 509) of the laws of Hong Kong, the Labour
Standard Act (Act No. 49 of April 7, 1947, as amended), the
Industrial Safety and Health Act (Act No. 57 of 1972, as amended),
and the Labor Contract Act (Act No. 128 of December 5, 2007).

In the past three years including the Reporting Period, no work-
related fatalities or lost days due to work injury were recorded.
To the best knowledge of the Directors, there is no material
violation of relevant laws and regulations regarding provision
of safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational damage during the Reporting Period.

The Group places health and safety of its employee as its highest
priority and has taken timely actions and measures to protect
and prevent its employees from being infected. The hygiene
measures adopted by the Group are as follows:

Sanitary items provided by the Group including face masks,
alcohol-based sanitisers and ultraviolet light hand dryer;

Employees are required to wear a face mask in the office if
they are not feeling well; and

If an employee has respiratory symptoms or body
temperature higher than 37.5 degree celsius, they are
required to seek for medical treatments.

The Board will continue to ensure to comply with all applicable
laws, rules and regulations.
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B3. Development and Training

The Group provides occupational development opportunities for
its employees. Employees of the Group may pursue, depending
on their working capabilities, personal developments by means
of promotion from junior to senior positions.

The Group provides on-the-job trainings for the new employees
serving the junior positions. In particular, employees with
adequate experience are designated to provide guidance to
new employees to assist with their works, aiming to improve
new employees’ expertise and skills as required for works and to
assist them to adapt to the operations and culture of the Group
as soon as possible. During the Reporting Period, the Group
organised training sessions and seminars relating to (i) global
trend on sustainable development; and (ii) security management
of information and technologies for the Directors and senior
management of the Group. Further, certain employees amongst
design and promotion, procurement and merchandising
departments of the Group participated in a series of trainings
in learning of materials and products covering the topics such
as product variety, functions of knitwear materials and trends of
apparel products to help employees improve their knowledge in
the apparel industry and business capabilities.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR
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The participation rates of training of the Group during the

BIR - HE8R

AR s HIM £ —

BERRE

EHkE MR E B D LA

Reporting Period and the Last Reporting Period are tabulated as ~ #BZAT :
follows:
Training (No. of employees) Internal External
FiIEEHA A FhERsE A
Percentage of employees trained -2 ?JMEE BaLt
2025 —TRF - 8.89%
2024 —ZTEF - 8.09%
Percentage of trained employees by gender RHERESZIEEE DL
Male %’ﬁ
2025 S S - 16.67%
2024 —TEF - 18.18%
Female t’&
2025 —ET-RF - 83.33%
2024 —TMF - 81.82%
Percentage of trained employees by BB, ZIEEET DL

operational role
Senior management _ﬁf& EEE
2025 —EhF - 8.33%
2024 —ToMF - 18.18%
Middle management EPJEMEEAE
2025 —ThF - 33.33%
2024 —EEF - 81.82%
General staff EJEEI
2025 —= _£$ - 58.33%
2024 —ZT-mEF - -
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The training hours of the Group during the Reporting Period and ~ ZS¥x & BAFI £ —

&R & e B 15

Il B S8R 4

the Last Reporting Period are tabulated as follows: LU
Average training hours per employee Internal External
BRUE T FIHZARFH A FhERsE S
Total average training hours per employee B EEENTFIIEI R
2025 “ECREF - 531
2024 —TMEF - 375
RUEBESNEEREES
HY 7 19 35 31 B B
Average training hours for male B
2025 “ECREF - 251
2024 —ETMEF - 234
Average training hours for female 7
2025 —ERF - 6.45
2024 —EF - 436
RERBINEEREETK
9 F 9 5 3 R B
Average training hours for senior management SREEAR
2025 —EhF - 240
2024 —E-F - 7.09
Average training hours for middle management HEEEAS
2025 —TAF - 10.95
2024 —ET_mEF - 18.57
Average training hours for general staff HEET
2025 —EhF - 4.49
2024 —EMEF - -
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B4. Labour Standards

The Group is fully aware that child labour and forced labour
violate fundamental human rights and also pose threat to
sustainable social and economic development. The Group
strictly complies with relevant local labour laws and regulations
including but not limited to the Labour Law of the PRC,
the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, the Provisions on the
Prohibition of Using Child Labor of the PRC and the Employment
Ordinance (Cap 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group also
strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations in respect of
minimum working age. The Group properly handled child labour
issues in accordance with requirements of social responsibility
management and regulations to prohibit all departments to
employ child labour.

The Group established management policy for forced labour
and captive labour to prohibit any forced labour and regulate
that employee of the Group must be employed voluntarily,
undertaking that (i) no forced acts shall be allowed; (ii) no
deceptive means shall be applied in attracting workers to work
in the Group; and (iii) no threats, punishments or to gain any
benefit from employees or force employees to work.

The Group strictly prohibits the employment of any child labour
and forced labour. To prevent and any form of child labour in the
business operation, employment will only be permitted for staff
at the legal age of employment. New employees are required to
provide true and accurate personal data when they are employed.
Recruiters should strictly review the entry data including medical
examination reports, academic credentials, ID cards, household
registration, degree certificates and other information. The Group
has established comprehensive recruitment procedures to check
the background of candidates in order to prevent any child
labour or forced labour in operation. Once any violation is found,
the Group will follow up in a serious manner and handle such
case in accordance with national and local laws and regulations,
and the Group's internal rules depending on the actual situation.
For example, we will timely understand the child’s education
status, and timely contact the local education department and its
guardian to escort the child home.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with
policies and relevant laws and regulations regarding prevention
of child labour or forced labour.
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B5. Supply Chain Management

To focus the Group's resources on the provision of IRO, CRO
and apparel supply chain management services, the Group does
not own or operate any manufacturing operations. Instead,
the Group outsourced the labour intensive manufacturing
processes to third-party manufacturers with manufacturing
operations in the PRC, Thailand and/or Cambodia. The Group
strives to improve its businesses. The Group has established
procedures and a complete monitoring system for selection
of third-party manufacturers including but not limited to the
ability and efficiency of third-party manufacturers to produce
products for its customers. In addition, we evaluate if third-party
manufacturers consider the environmental and social criteria
including the prohibition on the recruitment of child and forced
labour, eliminating discrimination to employees, providing a safe
working environment, considering if the products and services
provided are beneficial to environmental protection and fulfilling
the Group's internal environmental requirement while minimising
the negative impact to natural environment, and strictly obeying
the law. The operation model of the Group is to manage the
third-party manufacturers of different scales, the Group does not
enter into any long term contracts with third-party manufacturers
and the Group engages them on a case-by-case basis depending
on the needs and requirements of customers. The Group sets
standards and goals and provides data analysis to measure the
performance of its businesses, including but not limited to the
environmental and social performance. In addition, the Group
closely cooperates with yarn suppliers, third-party manufacturers
and customers to ensure the provision of the latest information
on customer demands at every stage of its businesses, and
pays attention to the signal of market demands and makes
corresponding improvements.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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The following is an analysis of the Group’s number of suppliers
by geographical location for each of the year ended 31 March
2024 and 31 March 2025:

RiE  #HBRERKRSE

TREHERE YN E—ERE RIIRUE S
DHHEEHE -

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE

Number of suppliers 2025 2024
by geographical location BBV ES s W HERRE —E-REF T OF
Hong Kong BB 24 35
The PRC a3 165 91
Others HAh 291 213
Total it 480 339

The Group set up strict guidelines to prevent any employee,
outsourcing contractor or supplier from breaching the anti-
corruption guideline requirements by implementing appropriate
disciplinary punishment(s). The Group also stated in its anti-
corruption policy that it will not work with suppliers who
had previously violated the anticorruption requirements. As
mentioned above, the Group conducts analysis to continuously
measure the environmental and social performance of its supply
chains.

The Group complied with the child labour and forced labour
law. Suppliers were also required to comply with the same. The
Group also requires suppliers to comply with all relevant laws
and regulations to ensure health and safety of employees in all
operating conditions and environment.

B6. Product Responsibilities
Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, including but not limited to the
Product Quality Law of the PRC, the Trademark Law of the PRC,
the Advertising Law of the PRC, the Sale of Goods Ordinance (Cap
26 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Trade Descriptions Ordinance
(Cap 362 of Laws of Hong Kong) and the Trade Marks Ordinance
(Cap 559 of the laws of Hong Kong), that have a significant
impact relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters regard to products and services provided by the
Group during the Reporting Period.
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Quality Control

As an apparel supply chain management services provider, the
Group's services encompass the total supply chain from the
selection of raw materials until the final delivery of finished
products to the customers at their designated port of shipment.
The Group places great emphasis on the quality of its knitwear
products and the Directors believe that the commitment to the
high standard for quality control of its knitwear products is one
of the key factors contributing to the Group’s success. Stringent
quality control procedures such as inspection of the finished
products by a third-party inspection center prior to shipping to
the Group's customers and monitoring the production process
by keeping a production schedule have been established
throughout the total supply chain so as to ensure the quality
of the knitwear products is supplied in consistently reliable and
high standard.

To ensure that the quality of the knitwear products is in
conformity with the customers’ specifications, the Group will
perform random checks on semi-finished products produced by
the third-party manufacturers at various stages of the production
process. To ensure that the colour conforms to the customers’
specifications and standards, the Group will visually inspect the
colour on the semi-finished and finished products with colour
check light box. The merchandising quality control staff will
check whether the semi-finished products are free from major
defects and to ensure that the knitting patterns conform with
the customers’ designs and specifications. Before packaging for
delivery, all finished products will be checked by a third-party
inspection centre. Any products that fail to meet the standards
will be notified to the third-party manufacturers for rectification.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with the
relevant requirements on product liabilities and there is no
product sold or shipped subject to recall for safety and health
reasons.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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Customer Service and Product Return

All of the Group’s knitwear products are subject to final
inspections by third-party inspection centers to ensure that
the knitwear products are in conformity with the customers’
specifications and requirements. Nevertheless, as a responsible
supply chain management services provider and in order to
maintain the Group’s goodwill and the business relationships
with its customers, the Group would investigate every incident
and offer solutions to its customers to resolve such incident.
Customers are always encouraged to give their feedback and
opinions via service hotline and social media platforms. During
the Reporting Period, we did not receive any material claims
or complaints by our customers in respect of the quality of our
products and there was no incident of failure of our quality
control procedures which had a material and adverse impact on
our business operations.

Intellectual Property Rights

As an IRO, CRO and apparel supply chain management services
provider, the Group respects intellectual property rights. The
Group is committed to protecting trademarks and patents of
customers and restricts any person from using the trademarks
and patents for any unauthorised purposes. We strictly abide by
all laws and regulations related to intellectual property, such as
the Trademark Law of the PRC and Trade Marks Ordinance of
Hong Kong. The Group has policies and procedures to protect
the intellectual properties of the Group and its customers. The
product design sketches and instruction sheets may contain
confidential information regarding proprietary product designs
of the Group’s customers. Such confidential documents for each
of the respective customers will be stored in the designated
place and only the responsible merchandising team, design
staff and authorised personnel are allowed to access such
information. The Group’s employees are forbidden to reproduce
or publicise any information related to the product designs of
the Group and/or its customers. Any waste paper containing
sketches and/or product designs of the Group or its customers is
required to record in the Group’s design register and provide to
the administrative department for central management before
destruction.

The Group has established an internal management team
responsible for monitoring the implementation of the
aforementioned policy and detecting any infringement by others
or by the Group.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
infringement or potential infringement by any member of the
Group of the intellectual property rights owned by any third
parties, and no material complaint was received and no claim
was made against the Group by its customers in relation to
infringement of their intellectual property rights.

Data Privacy

Subject to compliance with the relevant privacy protection
regime, the Group will strive to protect the privacy of customer
information and repeatedly emphasise the importance of
information security in employee training and internal meetings.
Any organisations or personnel are prohibited to access customer
information without relevant authorisation by the Group. The
Group has established an internal management team responsible
for monitoring the implementation of the aforementioned
procedures.

Advertising and Labelling

Adhering to its pragmatic principle, the Group does not allow
any misleading, inaccurate and exaggerating information about
its products and services. In the sale process, we ensure that any
descriptions of our services and products are in compliance with
the Advertising Law of the PRC and Trade Descriptions Ordinance
(Chapter 362 of Laws of Hong Kong) and all other applicable
laws and standards enacted by the government and industry
associations. The Group has established an internal management
team responsible for monitoring the implementation of the
aforementioned procedures. During the Reporting Period, the
Group did not receive any complaint in relation to advertising
and labelling.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B7. Anti-corruption

The Group operates under integrity and moral principles. The
Group established relevant standards and complied with laws
and regulations, prohibiting employees from receiving any
benefits from the suppliers, customers or any party having
business or commercial relationship with companies under the
Group or offering benefits to the same. The Group requires (i) all
employee shall comply with its code of business conduct and
ethics; (ii) employees are prohibited to, through taking advantage
of their positions, offer any reward or other benefits to or receive
the same from customers, suppliers or any party having business
with the Group; and (iii) all suppliers or individuals dealing with
the Group shall not offer any commercial bribe or transfer other
benefits by any means to employees or management of the
Group.

The Group requires every employee to comply with the code of
employees and delegates appropriate authority to employees
in every job position to avoid abuse of his or her duties for
profiteering or suspected conflicts of interest. As the Group's
businesses involve the customers’ personal data, the Group has
established confidentiality codes and relevant guidelines for the
employees to reduce the risk of information leakage.

The Group prohibits employees from using the company seal/
chop of each company of the Group without prior approval
from the management of the Group, to sign beyond one’s
authority, and to approve the signing of any external contract
or terminating it and to vary the performance of contracts. The
whistle-blowing and reporting system of the Group permits
employees to report any suspected misconduct or fraud to
relevant department head through effective channels. The
management of the Group is responsible for overseeing the
implementation and monitoring of the Group’s measures to
prevent bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering and
abovementioned procedures.

The Group is in the process of allocating resources to arranging
training on anti-corruption, and therefore no training is arranged
during the Reporting Period. Looking ahead, we will continue to
invest more resource to our anti-corruption training and expand
the scope of anti-corruption training data disclosure.
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RIR  HERERBRRKRE

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not identify any
material non-compliance of laws and regulations related to the
prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering,
and there was no legal case regarding corrupt practices,
extortion and money laundering brought against the Group
or its employees. The operations of the Group complied with
policies and relevant laws and regulations regarding anti-bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering, including but not limited
to the Company Law of the PRC, the Tendering and Bidding Law
of the PRC, the Law Against Unfair Competition of the PRC and
Hong Kong's Anti-Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing
Ordinance and Prevention of Bribery Ordinance.

B8. Community Investment

In recognising that bringing resources to the community while
at the same time contributing to the economy and environment
would benefit the society in the long run, the Group is in the
process of devoting time and effort to return to the society as it
has always encouraged its employees to take part in supporting
environmental protection initiatives such as energy saving
initiatives, and participating in volunteer work for the community
during the Reporting Period, and there were no donation or
charitable campaign arranged. In the future, the Group will (i)
seek opportunities to work with charitable organisations to get
involved in various community programmes and to contribute
to the society; (ii) promote the health of its employees and
customers by organising and taking part in sports and fitness
activities; and (i) make donations to the charitable organisations.
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The Directors hereby present this report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
major activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note
35 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group in this
annual report. There were no significant changes in the nature of
the Group’s principal activities during the year ended 31 March
2025.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2025 contained the
information as required by the standards set out in Appendix C2
to the Listing Rules is disclosed on pages 64 to 106 of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As the Board is aware, there was no material breach of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by
the Group that had a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group's relationship with its stakeholders is disclosed in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page
27 of this annual report.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results and appropriations of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2025 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income on page 140 of this
annual report.

The Directors recommended a final dividend of HK1.0 cent per
share for the year ended 31 March 2025 (for the year ended 31
March 2024: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year ended 31 March 2025
in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance for the year
ended 31 March 2025, the key factors affecting its results and
financial position are set out in the section headed "Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Further, a fair
review of, and an indication of likely future prospects in the
Group’s business are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial position, results of operations, businesses
and prospects would be affected by a number of principal risks
including foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The financial risk management policies and practices
of the Group are disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.
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Further, there are certain other risks involved in the Group’s
operations which are beyond its control. In particular, the Group
relies on several major customers and the Group does not enter
into any long term contracts with them. The Group also faces
business risks such as (i) any disruption in the relationships with
the third-party manufacturers or their manufacturing operations
could adversely affect the Group’s business; (ii) there are time
lags between making payments to the Group’s suppliers and
receiving payments from its customers. Failure to handle this
cash flow mismatch may adversely affect the Group's cash flow
and financial position; (iii) the Group has relatively thin net profit
margin and is highly sensitive to any unfavourable change in
the cost of sales, selling price and sales volume; (iv) any further
decrease in retail sales value and sales volume of apparel
retail markets in Japan and the USA may adversely affect the
Group's operating results and performance; and (v) the Group's
performance and profitability may be affected by the fluctuation
of the exchange rate of Japanese Yen.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the latest five financial years is set out on page 256 in this annual
report.

SHARE CAPITAL

There has been no change in the capital structure of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2025. The share capital of
the Company only comprises ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2025, the Company's issued share capital was
HKS$5.2 million divided by 522,177,419 ordinary shares of HK$0.01
each.

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital for
the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer its new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including
the sale of treasury shares (as defined under the Listing Rules))
for the year ended 31 March 2025. As at 31 March 2025, there
were no treasury shares held by the Company.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company
and the Group during the year are set out in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 143 to
144 in this annual report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies
Act, Cap. 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately HK$55.8 million (as
at 31 March 2024: approximately HK$51.6 million).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers’ aggregate amount
represented approximately 27.3% (for the year ended 31 March
2024: approximately 37.7%) and 53.2% (for the year ended 31
March 2024: approximately 63.4%) of the Group’s total revenue,
respectively. The Group’s largest supplier and five largest
suppliers’ aggregate amount represented approximately 31.4%
(for the year ended 31 March 2024: approximately 39.7%) and
55.33% (for the year ended 31 March 2024: approximately 69.8%)
of the Group's cost of sales, respectively.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR

BREEHE

%EE\'JEJZEﬂ%ﬁ%iﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ@?ﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%z*ﬁ
E o AR MERZRLOIFIRERRIZEZHE
%ﬁ f&15

BE - HEIEEALQF LHRES

HE_ZT-_hAF=-A=+—HILFE - $@ﬁ
FEEMFARBERE HEXBOAA
(=Gl %(”?ﬁﬁ’éﬁrﬂx(m%ﬁimﬁ
) BE_ZT-_RAF=A=+—8 ' AR
WESBEREFRK -

i@t

FA - K ﬂ&$%.2{nﬁf ek E/_\)Dﬂjﬁ
RAKEE Aﬁﬁﬁ%#ﬁ%ﬁﬁ&41&$$#&%143
BEFIMBZEAESEHE -

AR IR

RZB-_RF=ZA=1—H ' ARRZAHED
/)Efﬁ{ﬁffﬁfﬁ'ﬂxﬁ%/fﬁIJ%22‘t’“T/2§( N
—FFEIFPOE - BERAREF)FERD

558§,%/%E(EA_7_E¢ A=+—H:4
516B8ET) °

FTERFRHAER
BE_ZT-_AF=-A=1— Eljtif REE
ZBERAEPMAREF ZEED AIEAEEE

Wz \Z7273%(%z§_2€_m¢_ﬂ_+—5¢
FE  H37.7%) %532% (BE T _NE=A
=+—BIFE : 49634%) - KEE 2 HAH
EEEAANBERE 2 BED MG AEBEHEERK
mﬂmm%(@%_%_mi—ﬁ—Jr HIEF
€ 1 #4939.7%) }&%5533% (B2 —ZE-_NF=A=
+—HIEFE : #69.8%) °



To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors
nor any of their close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
nor any Shareholders who or which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the Company's issued share
capital had any beneficial interest in any of the Group's five
largest customers and/or suppliers during the year ended 31
March 2025.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Washikita Kenichiro (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed with effect from 8 November 2024)
Mr. Miyano Tsumoru
Mr. Narumi Shoichi
(appointed with effect from 2 December 2024)
Mr. Chiu Chun Tak
Ms. Du Yao (appointed with effect from 2 December 2024)
Mr. Liang Fei (appointed with effect from 2 December 2024)
Mr. Shimada Tatsuji
(resigned with effect from 8 November 2024)
Mr. Maezaki Masahiro
(resigned with effect from 2 December 2024)
Mr. Miyazato Hiroki
(resigned with effect from 2 December 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Uematsu Takahiro
(appointed with effect from 2 December 2024)
Mr. Yan Ping
Mr. Kusaba Takuya (resigned with effect from 2 December 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho
Mr. Choi Koon Ming
Mr. Saito Hironobu
Ms. Zhang Cuiping
(appointed with effect from 2 December 2024)
Mr. Taniguchi Yasuhiko
(resigned with effect from 10 January 2025)
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Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles and the code provision
A42 of the CG Code, any Director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general
meeting of members of the Company after his appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. All
Directors appointed with effect from 8 November 2024 and 2
December 2024 shall retire and be eligible for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are disclosed in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company pursuant to which he has agreed
to act as an executive Director for an initial term of two years
and shall be renewed automatically upon the expiry of such
initial term. Either party has the right to give not less than three
months’ written notice to terminate the service agreement.

Each of the non-executive Directors has been appointed for an
initial fixed term of two years and shall be renewed automatically
upon the expiry of such initial term unless terminated by either
party giving at least three months’ written notice of non-renewal.
Save for the Directors’ fees, none of the non-executive Directors
is expected to receive any other emolument for holding his office
as a non-executive Director.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has
proposed or entered into any service agreement or appointment
letter with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation other than the statutory compensation.
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UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

There is no updated information of directors of the Company
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules.

CONFIRMATIONOFINDEPENDENCY OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a written annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets or profits of the Company against
all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto. Such provisions were in force during the course
of the financial year ended 31 March 2025 and remained in force
as of the date of this report.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and senior
management of the Group during the year ended 31 March
2025.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

EHESEHR

R LR AIE135180) 2 AT AT
B2 RAREERTAKR -

BRBUFHTES 2B LM

ARRERERBUIIFRTESRE LR
FIVBGEREBLIMEL 2 FERRE - AR
RERBYIFNTESTHRBIAL -

BEFFZBERX

RIBAR - EFERRARFNEES DN T
ESHE UREEE/SESFENTHRH A
BEATREEANEERATERREAREN
—PEKRER - GEREERE_T_RF
“A=+T-BENYRFERAFER - LHER
HEZBIDABR °

HE-_Z-_RAF=A=+—HIFE - KR A
EREIAENESASABEEIRR A
ERAEESHEE BIRERE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025
2024/2025 F3;

113



114

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company'’s securities.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The executive Directors, non-executive Directors, the
independent non-executive Directors and senior management
receive compensation in the form of directors’ fees, salaries,
benefits in kind and/or discretionary bonuses with reference
to those paid by comparable companies in the industry, time
commitment and performance of the Group. The Group also
reimburses the Directors and senior management for expenses
which are necessarily and reasonably incurred for provision of
services to the Group or executing their functions in relation
to the Group’s operations. The Group regularly reviews and
determines the remuneration and compensation packages of the
Directors and senior management by reference to, among other
things, market level of remuneration and compensation paid by
comparable companies in the industry, respective responsibilities
of the Directors and performance of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee reviews and determines the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors
with reference to their experience, responsibilities, workload,
time devoted to the Group and performance of the Group. The
Directors may also be offered options under the share option
scheme.

There was no arrangement under which a Director waived or
agreed to waive any emolument during the year.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEFEXECUTIVEINTHE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2025, the following Directors or the chief
executive of the Company had or were deemed to have interest
or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) which (a) would have to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which such Directors and chief executives of the
Company were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) would be required, pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or
(c) would be required, pursuant to the Model Code or Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”") as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules relating to securities
transactions by the Directors to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

INTERESTS IN THE COMPANY

Nature of interest/
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EERESTRAERARQ T REEGE
EEZED - HEROREERTZ
BERAR

RZZE-_RAF=A=1+—8  ARFTHES
KEEITHAERAR B S AMEEEE(E
ERABBEPENEZTFRPEKRI(ESH
REE®HH ) EXVEL) 2 & m - HERGOHE
EER  BEXWRAEESR - )REFESFIBE
BB EXVEE 7 R8D BAME AR R R REER
FIZ R AR (BIEREEFRBEKRYE
BIENZEEST R AN RRSTHRABREE
IREER 2R NMAR) ) IRIEEH &
EIEHI E 3528 B AZIEFTis 2 B e fit 2 4
WHIARE ¢ QR E LT AR RN ERCIATE £
BITABBHEITEER S ZIZESTA|([EES
Bl EMESETESR IR TEAME RN
B MR 2 R SRE o

RARQTF Z s

Percentage of
issued share
capital of the

Name of Directors holding capacity Number of ordinary Shares held Company
EENE/ EARFERT

EEER =X RREERYE REBAH

Mr. Chiu Chun Tak Beneficial owner 5,000,000 (L)ete 2(H1i22) 0.96

BREEE ESBAA

Notes: /‘(/915\1‘r .

1. As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s issued ordinary share capital
was HKS$5.2 million divided into 522,177,419 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each.

2. These represent the underlying shares which may be issued in
respect of options granted under the share option scheme of the

Company.

3. The letter “L" denotes a long position in the Shares.

1. HBEZE-_RF=A=+—8  ARQRADHEIT
LB ABS2ABETT © DA522,177419KF
fRTEIEB0.01 B TR E BT -

2. WEBROHARKARABRETEMRDOE
Pt R REBRTTEVARRRAR 1D -

3. FERILERBOFZHE -
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATION(S) OF MRAZAA T#8Ei LB
THE COMPANY

Percentage of

Number of issued share

Name of share(s) held in capital of the

associated the associated associated

Name of Directors corporation Capacity corporation corporation

HAEEEE

Fris i LB ERITRAEAZ

EEpnE HEEE BB 54 gvip 4= BaLt

Mr. Miyano Tsumoru EPS Holdings, Inc. Beneficial owner 10,000 0.04
EBELE ('EPS HD") E=EE A

Mr. Chiu Chun Tak EPS HD Beneficial owner 30,000 0.12
HEEEE EnEBA

Mr. Yan Ping EPS HD Beneficial owner 30,000 0.12
B F S EnEA A

INTERESTSAND SHORTPOSITIONSOF FERRRAQITRMG - HERMHD R
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES, fEREEFZEZEX

UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE

COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, so far as it is known to the Directors or RZZE_HAF=H=+—H ' REFHARQF
chief executive of the Company, the following persons, other &R TTHABMA * L TAT(ESH AR T
than a Director or chief executive of the Company, had an  F=EfTEABR)RARBRMD HAEBRHD
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of A RIZEFLKAEERGIEXVEE2K3DE 2
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company &N BRARBI KB 2 ERIAR * HIRIE
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, (FEHRKHAEEHIIE 3361 - ZFER 2Lk
or, which were recorded in the register required to be kept by RARRBIBHEIFHELME :

the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Percentage of
issued share
Name of substantial Nature of interest/ capital of the
shareholders holding capacity Number of ordinary Shares held Company“¢’
FERR BEtE/ EEDEERT
2B/ tE BB 55 g BRHA RAZ B
EPS HD Beneficial owner 375,000,000 (L)Metes 2end 4) (2224 71.81%
ERBEEA
Y&G Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 375,000,000 (L)etes 2and 4) (2254 71.81%
REtEEER
Mr. Yan Hao (‘Mr. Yan’) Interest of a controlled corporation 375,000,000 (L)MNetes 2and 4 (&2 71.81%
BEEE(REE] Rt EEER
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Percentage of

issued share
Name of substantial Nature of interest/ capital of the
shareholders holding capacity Number of ordinary Shares held Company©¢’
TERE ERtE/ EERDEE BT
EB/HE =g FREERYA 2 A=l AL
RIN HOLDING CQO., LIMITED Beneficial owner 100,000,000 (L)Motes 3and 4 (hizE3%4) 19.15%
('RIN HOLDING") EafigA
TAIGA INDUSTRIAL CO,, LTD Interest of controlled corporation 100,000,000 (L)Notes 3 and 4 (izs%) 19.15%
(‘TAIGA INDUSTRIAL") Rt AR
Mr. He Jun ("Mr. He") Interest of controlled corporation 100,000,000 (L)otes 3and 4 (544 19.15%
B RE(FEE]) S EEER
Notes: Miat

1. As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s issued ordinary share capital
was HKS$5.2 million divided into 522,177,419 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each.

2. EPS HD is owned as to approximately 67.22% by Y&G Limited, a
company incorporated in Japan which is in turn wholly-owned by
Mr. Yan. Mr. Yan is also directly interested in approximately 2.32%
of the shareholding interest of EPS HD. By virtue of the SFO, Mr.
Yan is deemed to be interested in these shares held by EPS HD.

3. RIN HOLDING is 95% owned by TAIGA INDUSTRIAL, a company
incorporated in Japan which is in turn 93% owned by Mr. He. By
virtue of the SFO, each of TAIGA INDUSTRIAL and Mr. He is deemed
to be interested in these shares held by RIN HOLDING. These
shares refer to the consideration shares which may be allotted and
issued in the event of the capitalisation of consideration pursuant
to the sale and purchase agreement dated 28 March 2023 and
entered into by the Company, RIN HOLDING and EPS Healthcare
Limited, details of which are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 28 March 2023.

4. The letter “L" denotes a long position in the Shares.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on
31 May 2017. The primary purpose of the Scheme is to provide
incentives or rewards to eligible employees and other selected
participants as specified under the Scheme.

1. RIZE-RAF=A=+—8 ' KREZE2E&T
TERARAR AN BS2B EBIT - D A522,177,4190%
FRMEEOEIITZ TRk

2. EPS HDH Y&G Limited # B £967.22% * Y&G
Limited;2 — K4 B AFEMAZEI AR » MYRG
Limited X HELEAEEEHEE - BRELENER
FFAEPS HD#J2.3206 004 - IRIBEB SR EF
Bl - BR S AR BPAEPS HDH A BV Z AR (5
HH = o

3. RIN HOLDINGHTAIGA INDUSTRIAL (—ZR A B4
M AR ) B 5%iER - A A Bl
B ERFHEFNRWER - REEFLBEK
7l » TAIGA INDUSTRIAL R fA] 0 4 & B R AR
RIN HOLDING# B MZERHF A HLD © %
LD IR AT - RIN HOLDING K Bl fE 7
BARARRZE_=F=A=Z1+ N BN
BEEWR  EHEBIMEER R M ETH
HERG  FBROTHRARRBRA-Z =
=F=ZA-F+N\BHRAE -

4 FEILERRHT 2GR -
BT E

RRARRZZE—tFRA=+T—RARH—EE
PerEstEI([5H8)) - ST REEMAERE
B REEETE < HM QR TE A TIRAR R
EJJ o
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The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group must not exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time. The total number of
shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all
options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group) to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue at the time
dealings in the Shares first commence on the Stock Exchange,
i.e. 50,000,000 Shares (representing approximately 9.58% of
the total issued share capital of the Company as at the date
of this report), without prior approval from the Shareholders.
The Company may, subject to the issue of a circular, the
Shareholders’ approval in general meeting and/or such other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules, refresh this
limit at any time to 10% of the total number of shares in issue
as at the date of the Shareholders’ approval. The total number
of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted under the Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Group to each participant in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company for the time being, without prior approval from the
Shareholders. Options granted to substantial Shareholders or
independent non-executive Directors or any of their respective
associates as defined under the Scheme which would result in
the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
under the Scheme already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in
the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
represent in aggregate in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s issued
share capital and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5.0
million must be approved in advance by the Shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days of the date
of the offer of grant of the option. A nominal consideration of
HKS$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR

RITEMBREE & kA S B E b Az i
FrEIE R M ERRITHE Z RETEBERERA]
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Options may be exercised at any time from the date of
acceptance of the share option to such date as determined
by the Directors but in any event not exceeding 10 years. The
exercise price is determined by the Directors, but shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of
the offer of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of the offer of grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal
value of a share. The Scheme does not provide for any minimum
vesting period. The exercise of any options may be subject to a
vesting schedule to be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion, which shall be specified in the offer letters.

On 28 February 2025, the Company granted share options to
employees of the Group in respect of which a total of 5,600,000
Shares may be issued under the Scheme.
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The movement of share options during year ended 31 March BEZZE-_RF=A=1+—HILFENBERE

2025 is presented as follows: FEIT -
Number of share options
RRESE
Closing
price
immediately
before date
of grant
Exercise RERILA
At 31 March price HaIZRH
At1April  Granted Exercised Cancelld  Lapsed 2025 kR WHE
Name or category of 2024 duringthe duringthe duringthe duringthe “EZTE HKSper  HKS per
grantee Dateofgrant ~ —F-Mf¥ year year year year =B=T— Exercise period share share
TRELLAER Rit B BA-B HRRY  EAGE  FARE FEAXN B s shEn SRER
Director
g2
Mr. Chiu Chun Tak 28 February 2025 - 5000000 - - - 5000000 28 February 2025 to 27 060 049
ol s “E-RE-AC February 2028 (Note)
t/\A “ECRECACTAE
FIRC\EZACT
LA (&)
Other employees 28 February 2025 - 600000 - - - 600000 28 February 2025 to 27 060 049
HfiES “E-RE-AC February 2028 (Note)
t/\A “ECRECACTAE
ECRCN\ECACT
A ()
Total #83F - 5600000 - - - 5600000

Note: The exercise period of the options is 3 years from the date of &% - ﬁ%ﬂx%ﬁ’lﬁﬁﬁﬁ MeEaRE BB =F I

grant of the options subject to the vesting schedule. The share AEBTHEBHE BERENERED /\TH:
options granted shall vest in six tranches of approximately 16%, J% ’ /DJUE/\— Z-_HAF-_A=-+NAH -

16%, 16%, 16%, 16% and 20% on 28 February 2025, 28 August —ﬁil\ﬁ +N\B - - ZEZR"FZA= +
2025, 28 February 2026, 28 August 2026, 28 February 2027 and 28 N ZZEZRENAZTNR - =+
August 2027, respectively. FZ_AZFNBERZZEZ+tFN\AZF+N\BE

B 4)16% ~16% ~ 16% ~ 16% ~ 16% * 16% *
16% ~ 16% ~ 16% ~ 16% * 20%HIAK{7D o

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options
granted under the Scheme during the year divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (excluding
treasury shares) for the year is approximately 1.08%. The fair
value of options granted at the date of grant and the accounting
standard and policy adopted is disclosed in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The number of options available for grant under the scheme
mandate at the beginning and the end of the financial year were
50,000,000 and 44,400,000 respectively. The Scheme will remain
in force for a period of 10 years commencing on the date on
which the Scheme is adopted.

Further details of the Scheme are disclosed in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Scheme disclosed above, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that
will or may result in the Company issuing shares were entered
into by the Company during the year ended 31 March 2025 or
subsisted as at 31 March 2025.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions
and Continuing Connected Transactions” below and in note 38
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report,
no Director nor any connected entity of a Director had any
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
business of the Group, to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, subsisting during or at the end of the
year, nor had there been any contract of significance entered
into between the Group, and a controlling shareholder or any of
its subsidiaries.
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DIRECTORS'INTERESTSINCOMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the year ended 31 March 2025, none of the Directors nor
any of their respective close associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules), engaged in any business that competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group, or had any other conflict of interest with the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions of the Group during the year
are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report, all of which are either a connected
transaction or a continuing connected transaction as defined
under the Listing Rules, in which certain transaction(s) constitute
fully exempt connected transaction(s) or continuing connected
transaction(s). The Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Details of the connected transactions are summarised in the
section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions” below.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section “Connected Transactions and
Continuing Connected Transactions” below and in note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report, no
other contracts of significance between the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year, whether for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by any controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries or otherwise.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Disposal of EPS Medical

On 2 October 2024, EPS Medical Consultancy Services Limited
(an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as
vendor entered into a share transfer agreement with EPS HD as
purchaser, for the disposal of the entire equity interest of EPS
Medical, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company prior to
the completion of the disposal which is principally engaged in
the provision of IRO (Innovative Research Organisation) services
at a consideration of JPY1.00. The share transfer agreement
also required that the purchaser repay the shareholder loan
and accrued interest owed by EPS Medical to the vendor in
the amount of JPY176,181,245 (equivalent to approximately
HK$9,549,119) to the vendor at completion. Completion of
the disposal took place upon the signing of the share transfer
agreement on 2 October 2024. Details of the disposal are further
set out in the announcements of the Company dated 2 October
2024 and 8 October 2024.

Since EPS HD is a controlling shareholder of the Company, EPS
HD is considered a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. As such, the disposal of EPS Medical under the
share transfer agreement constituted a connected transaction of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Disposal of EPS Innovative Group

On 19 February 2025, the Company as vendor entered into
a sale and purchase agreement with EPS HD as purchaser,
pursuant to which (i) the Company conditionally agreed to sell,
and EPS HD conditionally agreed to acquire the entire issued
share capital of EPS Innovative, at a consideration of JPY1.00
(equivalent to approximately HK$0.049092); and (ii) the Company
also conditionally agreed to sell or procure to sell, and EPS HD
conditionally agreed to purchase certain intra-group loans owned
by EPS Innovative Group for a consideration of JPY1,250,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$61,365,000). Completion of the
disposal took place on 31 March 2025. Details of the disposal are
further set out in the announcements of the Company dated
19 February 2025 and 31 March 2025 and the circular of the
Company dated 14 March 2025.
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Since EPS HD is a controlling shareholder of the Company, EPS
HD is considered a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. As such, the disposal of EPS Innovative Group
under the sale and purchase agreement constituted a connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Tenancy agreement between the Group and Firenze
Apparel Limited (“Firenze”)

On 8 January 2024, Speed Apparel (HK) Limited ("Speed Apparel
HK"), a subsidiary of the Company, entered into a renewal
tenancy agreement (the “Tenancy Agreement’) with Firenze
for the leasing of a property located at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong (the “Property”) to
the Group for a monthly lease payment of HK$100,000 from
1 February 2024 to 31 January 2026 (both days inclusive). The
Property was used as a head office and the principal place of
business of the Group in Hong Kong. Pursuant to the Tenancy
Agreement, Firenze agreed to pay management fee and
government rates and government rent. The monthly lease
payment under the Tenancy Agreement was determined on
an arm’s length basis between the parties thereto by reference
to the prevailing market rates. The aggregate lease paid by the
Group under the Tenancy Agreement was HK$1,200,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2025 (for the year ended 31 March 2024:
HK$1,200,000).

Since Firenze is owned as to 100% by Mr. Chan Wing Kai ("Mr.
Chan’), being a director of Speed Apparel (BVI) Limited ("Speed
Apparel BVI"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Firenze
is considered as a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules. As such, the leasing of the Property by the Group
from Firenze under the Tenancy Agreement constituted a fully
exempted continuing connected transaction of the Group under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Tenancy agreement between the Group and X ¥ 7K — A%k
At

Also, during the year, Speed Apparel Japan &[R4t (“Speed
Apparel Japan’), a subsidiary of the Company leased a property
from X N 7K — LKA 24, which is a management company
engaged by Yan Hao (controlling shareholder of ultimate
holding company) who is the ultimate beneficial owner of the
property. A renewal of tenancy agreement was entered into on
20 December 2023 for a monthly lease payment of JPY1,125,920
from 11 January 2024 to 10 January 2026. The property was used
as a business office in Japan. The monthly lease payment under
the tenancy agreement was determined on an arm’s length
basis between the parties thereto by reference to the prevailing
market rates. The aggregate amount of lease payment made by
the Group was JPY13,511,040 for the year ended 31 March 2025
(for the year ended 31 March 2024: JPY13,511,040). Yan Hao is
considered as a connected person of the Group under the Listing
Rules. As such, the leasing of the property from the management
company which Yan Hao is the ultimate beneficial owner
constituted a fully exempted continuing connected transaction
of the Group under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CRO services arrangement

During the Reporting Year, the three (2024: three) PRC
subsidiaries of the Group provided CRO services to its ultimate
holding company’s subsidiaries and the total revenue in relation
to the CRO services provided by the three (2024: three) PRC
subsidiaries during the Reporting Year amounted to HK$3.6
million (2023: HK$3.8 million).
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Sharing of administrative services expenses and services
costs arrangement

During the Reporting Year, five (2024: five) Japanese subsidiaries
and one PRC subsidiary of the Group shared administrative
services expenses and services costs with ultimate holding
company and related Companies. Administrative expenses and
services costs incurred during the year amounted to HK$15.4
million (2024: HKS$20.6 million). The transactions relating to
the sharing of the administrative services and services costs
between the Group and its ultimate holding company and
related Companies are on a cost basis, and such costs were
identifiable in proportion to the services received by the Group
and had been allocated to the Group on a fair and equitable
basis. Accordingly, such transactions constituted fully exempt
continuing connected transactions under Rule 14A.98 of the
Listing Rules.

Purchase from ultimate holding company

During the Reporting Year, a subsidiary of the Group purchased
from ultimate holding company in the amount of HK$110,000
(2024: Nil). The transactions relating to such purchase constituted
fully exempt continuing connected transactions under the Listing
Rules.

Supply Agreement

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company
dated 28 March 2023, 27 April 2023 and 23 May 2023 in
relation to the Group's acquisition of 65% equity interest in R&E
Corporation Limited ("R&E"). R&E has, prior to the completion
of the acquisition, entered into an exclusive long-term supply
agreement (the “Supply Agreement”) dated 13 March 2023
with Taiga Industrial Co., Ltd (“Taiga”), a Japanese supplier, for
the supply of Japanese health food for up to 10 years to facilitate
the distribution in the PRC and overseas. The purchase price in
respect of each product shall be no more than 10% markup on
the cost of the product.

The ultimate beneficial owner of the vendor, being the owner of
remaining 35% of R&E's equity interest (and hence a connected
person within the meaning of the Listing Rules), and Taiga is
the same person. Accordingly, Taiga is a connected person of
the Company at the subsidiary level. Upon completion of the
acquisition, the transactions contemplated under the Supply
Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Purchase of goods

On 27 July 2023, EP Trading Co., Ltd. ("EP Trading"), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
framework purchase agreement (the “Framework Purchase
Agreement’) with EPS Americas Corp ("EPS USA"), pursuant
to which EP Trading has agreed to purchase, and EPS USA has
agreed to sell the pre-clinical animal testing consumables for the
three financial years ending 31 March 2026. For details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 27 July 2023.

During the Reporting Year, the total purchase of pre-clinical
animal testing consumables from EPS USA amounted to HK$25.9
million (2024: HK$19.2 million).

EPS USA is a wholly-owned subsidiary of EPS HD, which is the
controlling shareholder of the Company and hence a connected
person of the Company, is therefore a connected person of
the Company under Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules. Hence,
the transactions contemplated under the Framework Purchase
Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Engagement for CRO services

On 15 December 2023, EPS Medical Consultancy (Japan) Co,,
Ltd. ("EPSMC"), a subsidiary of the Company immediately prior
to the completion of the disposal of its entire equity interest
in October 2024, EPS Corporation and EP Mediate Co., Ltd ("EP
Mediate") entered into the CRO services framework agreement
(the “"CRO Services Framework Agreement”), pursuant to
which EPS Corporation and EP Mediate have agreed to provide
the CRO services to EPSMC for the three financial years ending 31
March 2026. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 15 December 2023.

During the Reporting Year, the service fee in relation to the
provision of CRO services from EPS Corporation and EP Mediate
amounted to HK$2.9 million (2024: HK$4.6 million).
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EP Mediate is a wholly-owned subsidiary of EPS Corporation,
which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of EPNextS, Inc., which is
in turn a wholly-owned subsidiary of EPS HD, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, is therefore a connected person of
the Company under Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules. Hence, the
transactions contemplated under the CRO Services Framework
Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules prior to
completion of the disposal of EPSMC in October 2024.

Incentive Agreement

On 6 March 2024, the Company entered into the incentive
agreement (the “Incentive Agreement’) with Mr. Chan, a
director of Speed Apparel BVI, pursuant to which Mr. Chan
has undertaken to the Company to procure to meet certain
performance targets in respect of the profits and revenue of
Speed Apparel BVI and its subsidiaries for the two financial years
ending 31 March 2026, the successful fulfillment of which would
entitle Mr. Chan to certain performance bonuses. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 6
March 2024.

Mr. Chan is a director of Speed Apparel BVI, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and is therefore a connected person
of the Company at subsidiary level. Hence, the transactions
contemplated under the Incentive Agreement constituted
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the Group has not entered into any
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
during the year ended 31 March 2025 which should be disclosed
pursuant to the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
confirmed that the above non-exempt and non-fully exempt
continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such transaction on terms that are fair and reasonable and

in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.
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The Company has engaged the auditor to issue a letter
confirming the matters set out in Rule 14A.56 in respect of
the above non-exempt and non-fully exempt continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The auditor has issued
their unqualified letter containing the auditor’s findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group under this section in accordance with,
and confirmed to the Board the matters set out in, Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any part of the business of the Group were entered
into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2025.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Directors confirm that the Company complies with the minimum
of public float as required under the Listing Rules as at the date
of this report.

EQUITY FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

On 22 April 2024, (i) 10,080,645 shares were allotted and issued
to KIRABOSHI CONSULTING CO., LTD. at the subscription price of
HKS$0.992 per Share; and (i) 12,096,774 shares were allotted and
issued to OHMI LLC (&R &%L3T)T) at the subscription price
of HK$0.992 per Share (together, the “Subscription Shares”),
pursuant to the subscription agreements dated 9 April 2024 and
entered into with each subscriber, with an aggregate nominal
value of approximately HK$221,774. The Directors consider that
the raising of funds by the subscription would be a long-term
investment for business collaboration and would help strengthen
the financial position by providing cash resources to fund its
working capital and to enable the Group to further pursue
business opportunities. Details of the subscription are disclosed
in the announcements of the Company dated 9 April 2024 and
22 April 2024.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

ARARIEZEZEMMAEE K ETRANE
T4AS6IKIBEM L ER A RIIETERETFE
FRERXZEE Y - BREIIASIEFIE EE
HA - ZBMERHEREER H  HEX
HEMARIE - T 4R B 55 14A 56 16 BE 2N &2 E AR 38 K
MIFBENEERER SNBIE MR TME
EeRRTZEEHE -

BEEEH

HE_ZT-_RAF=A=+—HIFE ®ELE
BEESTAROEFE T AT ETISFEE
BRITBAL -

RHARNRERE

REBEARAAIRFRFNEN K ESFR
o EEHR  ARRREEAHREEHNS
FHRANKRERARFRERTE -

RAERLEE B
N-ZZE-MEMA-+—-H - BIFEKREA
I H) EREE R - () 10,080,645 R% 3R M AR
7B B2 3 K& 31T FKIRABOSHI CONSULTING CO,,
LTD. ' RBEASRABBERMH092EIT: &k
(i) 12,096,774 FREE A% {7 B Bl 3 K 3247 FOHMI
LLC (EREetT)  REBEAERIBER L
09928 (S RERA ) - HAEREAED
2217747870 - EERE - BARBEEELSE
CHRYEEBAENRAKRE F W AHEE
EoRHASER - BRMRIERMEARR - F
AEBgME—TYEEE - REFBERAK
ANRBHA_ETE_NFNANB R -_ZE_/UF
MA-Z+—_BMREFHEE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025
2024/2025 F3;

129



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

The gross proceeds from the issue of Subscription Shares
amounted to HK$22.0 million, and after deduction of expenses,
the net proceeds from the issue of Subscription Shares
amounted to approximately HK$21.8 million. The closing price of
the Shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of the
subscription agreements was HK$0.98 per Share. The net price
per Subscription Share allotted and issued, which is calculated
by dividing the aggregate net proceeds by the total number of
Subscription Shares based on the subscription price of HK$0.992
per Share, is approximately HK$0.98 per Subscription Share.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the net proceeds of
approximately HK$21.8 million as disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 22 April 2024 were fully utilised.
Approximately HK$18.1 million were applied for research and
development expenses of the Group on the upfront investment-
type of projects in the in-house research and development
business in order to accelerate those projects; and the remaining
balances were used for staff costs, professional fees, other
general administrative and operating expenses.

Save as disclosed above, there was no equity fund raising by
the Company, nor was there any sale of treasury shares by the
Company during the Reporting Year, and there were there no
proceeds brought forward from any issue of equity securities
made in previous financial years.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR

BITRERMOMEREBEREAE20BE BT -
mﬁﬁié BITREBROMMSHRIBEFELY
Q18 BB - ROV REEHE B HAEE AT
Frey W mE AT NR098B T » B3 K 21T
TR RBEROFELNASERABERD.98HE
TC 0 JHKFTS FOE R R A KA AR BB R 19 2 B
(RREBEBFM0992BTTAHE) ©

HE_ZT-_RAF=A=+—HIFE ' AQF
HEA-ZS _WENA —_+-_HHAEFHE
RSB REL2I8EEB T REHA -
#1811 BEBTTHEARSE BRI EK T A
BB E MM RER - UINRZFER #
2 RSRBRBERAREINA  HXE - Hit—
RITHREERY -

B Eatig TN  MEFERRLEZEES
ﬁﬁfrﬁmﬁﬁ mTﬁEﬁm@ﬁﬁgﬁ
BAESEEETHNE



AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Certified Public Accountants
resigned as the external auditor of the Group with effect from 28
January 2025. Confucius International CPA Limited (“Confucius
International’) has been appointed as the external auditor of
the Group with effect from 28 February 2025. The consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 was
audited by Confucius International.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other change in the
auditors of the Company in the preceding three years.

A resolution to re-appoint Confucius International as auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

By order of the Board
Washikita Kenichiro
Chairman and executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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TO THE MEMBERS OF
EPS CREATIVE HEALTH TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of EPS
Creative Health Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 139 to 255, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BYZHE®RE

FARETER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FARBFFHEERBRMNZEAE - RAY
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the AHIGEMBRRZBEFNTHZABEEZSFE &
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These YEBERAERMBFBEBGAVERERLTA
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the ERREITER - RMTSHELEHREHE
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our BZER

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key Audit Matter
BERENEH

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNEANAEERRETSE

Revenue recognition in trading of apparel products

HREE dn B 55 2 W ok TERR

We identified the occurrence and cut-off of revenue
recognition in trading of apparel products as key audit
matter due to revenue being one of the key performance
indicators of the Group and could be subject to
manipulation to meet targets or expectations, such as
profit and revenue guarantees.
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The Group evaluates the contractual and shipping terms
of each customer contract in order to determine the
appropriate timing for revenue recognition.
EEENAREFPEANEG N MEXRGRABE RS
HRIEZRRE o

Revenue from trading of apparel products is recognised
at a point in time when control of the goods has been
transferred to the customers in accordance with the
contractual arrangements and related agreed commercial
shipping terms. As detailed in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements, the revenue from trading of apparel
products amounting to approximately HK$329,716,000
for the year ended 31 March 2025.
EEREGRIERESN TR EAK I ENEEER
BREBRERPE  IRAREERE S 2WaE o #
WiFa B BmREAMTEsSHR BE_T_RF=A=
T—HIFE  REERESHZ K&K 329,716,000
BT °

Our audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition in
trading of knitwear apparel products included:
BAAREERE H 2 Wan R E £ LB LRI E
SRR TIIRIE

- obtaining an understanding and evaluating the
effectiveness of the Group’s key internal controls
over revenue recognition in trading of apparel
products;

LA EEEUREKERE S 2 WaER
77 T R 5 1A BB A I B B

= inspecting customer contracts, on a sample basis, to
understand key terms of sale transactions including
the terms of delivery and sale returns and assessing
if the related revenue was properly recognised in
accordance with such contractual terms and with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;
MERERTEFAL  BREERXSHNETBFN -
BREIMMEEREHRR - U HEES K
REB2RBTETERNNRERRIZEBIHE
BH) T ARER

- testing recorded revenue transactions on a sample
basis, against corresponding customer contracts,
goods delivery notes and shipping documents that
evidenced control of goods have been transferred;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter (Continued)

FARETEE®)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

(Continued)

RRETSEE(E)

BN ETNAEEREESFSHGE)

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2024 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 27
June 2024.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.
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testing, on a sample basis, whether revenue
transactions recorded around financial year end
date had been recognised in the appropriate
financial period by tracing sales invoices, shipping
documents and the terms as set out in customer
contracts; and
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revenue recognised.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B R ®RE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence, that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
action taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BYZHE®RE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B R ®RE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that are of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Confucius International CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

YIP YUEN NGA

Practising Certificate Number: P05908
Hong Kong

27 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEBEME

FOR the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE_ZE_AF=-A=1+—HILFE

2025 2024
—E-RE - UF
Notes HK$’000 HKS000
KteF FET FET
Revenue Was 5 544,522 644,615
Cost of sales SHE RN (449,944) (545,358)
Gross profit EH 94,578 99,257
Other income, gains and losses HAWA ~ Wizt REE 7 50,169 11,883
Research and development expenses A 2% Sz (18,105) (24,309)
Selling and distribution expenses HE R HRAX (35,327) (48,819)
Administrative expenses THAX (49,593) (54,994)
Profit (loss) from operations KEFTS R A (EE) 41,722 (16,982)
Finance costs R E R AR 9 (8,306) (7,070)
Profit (loss) before tax BrEi AT A (E518) 8 33,416 (24,052)
Taxation I8 10 (3,022) (2,444)
Profit (loss) for the year F R (EE) 30,394 (26,496)
Attributable to: AT AT, -
Owners of the Company ViN/NETE YN 38,585 (22,066)
Non-controlling interests FEIERR (8,191) (4,430)
Profit (loss) for the year FREN(EE) 30,394 (26,496)
Farnings (loss) per share BRAR (EE) 12
Basic and diluted (HK cents) R R 5E (B(L) 7.41 (4.41)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

REeREsEREMEZEKSER

FOR the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_T_AF=-"A=1t—HILFE

2025 2024
—E-RHE —EUFE
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET TFET
Profit (loss) for the year FRH A (EE) 30,394 (26,496)
Other comprehensive income (expense)  FREMEE KRS (FIX)
for the year
Items that may be reclassified RIZA[peEN D E R m
subsequently to profit or loss: HE :
Exchange differences on translation MEBINETG 2 [E K Z5E
of foreign operations 133 (1,456)
Release of exchange reserve upon HE KB R B R R
disposal of subsidiaries bE 54, {8 (2,519) -
Other comprehensive expense for the year FREMZEH X (2,386) (1,456)
Total comprehensive income (expense) FREERE (RSB
for the year 28,008 (27,952)
Attributable to: LA AT FELS -
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIEZSIN 36,330 (22,284)
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR M (8,322) (5,668)
Total comprehensive income (expense) FA2EKR(FAX )RR
for the year 28,008 (27,952)
EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited

EPS RIERIEEERAH



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
a8 B AR R

At 31 March 2025
RZZE-_RAF=H=+—H

2025 2024
—E-RE —E_MF
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
Ktat F#ET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Mz -~ BE NG 14 5,502 5,561
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 3,576 4,087
Other financial assets Hih o r & E 260 2,977
Goodwill EES 16 19,505 49,040
Intangible assets mREEAE 17 75,207 155,310
Refundable rental deposits RO E RS 20 1,038 981
105,088 217,956
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 18 16,648 15,747
Contract assets BMEE 19 46 985
Trade and other receivables B 5 N EmEW R IE 20 73,732 70,657
Tax recoverable A Y [ 7 IE 1,644 =
Pledged bank deposits BIRRSRITER 21 4,000 9,000
Cash and cash equivalents REeENBRESEEY 22 135,691 115,540
231,761 211,929
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables and H 5 REMERFRIEN K 23
accruals EEtE A 31,800 52,084
Contract liabilities AHaE 25 10,669 3,269
Amounts due to related parties FEfT AR A 3 IE 26 14,779 78,360
Amount due to ultimate holding FER B IR A R RIE 26
company - 45,739
Amount due to non-controlling T IR IR e TR Rk 26
interests 10,084 11,759
Lease liabilities HEARE 24 2,617 2,606
Tax payable FERIRITE 7,376 3,878
Bank borrowings RITEE 29 2,897 7335
80,222 205,030
Net current assets BRBEE 151,539 6,899
Total assets less current liabilities #&EERGEARG 256,627 224,855
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEBBRRE
At 31 March 2025
R-E-_RF=A=1+—H

2025 2024
—E-EE —E N4
Notes HKS$’000 HKS'000
Bt FAET FETT
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 1,168 1,512
Amounts due to a related party FEAT i HSE 77 RIA 26 50,540 =
Amount due to non-controlling FE FEIE AR e 2R TR0E 26
interests 29,987 50,204
Deferred tax liabilities EREF B A E 28 12,409 34,957
94,104 86,673
Net assets HEE 162,523 138,182
Capital and reserves ERR#E
Share capital R& 7K 30 5,222 5,000
Reserves e 115,462 60,355
Equity attributable to owners of  &QAT#EE AEGER
the Company 120,684 65,355
Non-controlling interests FEIERERE S 35 41,839 72,827
Total equity RSB 162,523 138,182

The consolidated financial statements on pages 139 to 255 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
27 June 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

WASHIKITA KENICHIRO

BibfE—Bp
DIRECTOR
=

]42 EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited

EPS RIEMEEEABRAT

BN EI39E 2S5 BENGEMERRERESS
RIZE-RAFANA-HHBIOERRRET)E
WHNANTEERREE

MIYANO TSUMORU
=HE
DIRECTOR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEZR2ER

For the year ended 31 March 2025

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAAERARE
Share Non-
Share Share  Special  Capital Statutory option Other ~ Exchange Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve reserve losses Total interests  equity
Bx BHEE WARE E486 AR RREBE ARE  EXRE  ZRER &% FERER RREE
HKS000  HKST000  HKS000  HKST000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000 HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS'000
fén FEr TR fEn TET TR TR &1 fér TR TEn P
(Notei] ~ (Noteii]  (Noteii)  (Noteiy) (Notev) (Note vi)
W) (Wdi) (ki) (ki) hdr) (Wi
A1 Apr 2003 e
MA-A 5000 4765 17016 4000 - - 41148 (166) (2709) 87639 4005 91 644
Lossorthe year EmER - Do % e8) 0580
Other compretiensive epense 2 AR 9 219) (1239 (14)
a\comprehensweexpenseﬁ AR
forthe year g = = (218 (22066) (2288 (5,668) (2795)
Austionof nonholy W2 ERENE
onned subsidaris N - - M T
A3 Mach 204 and 1 Apil R-B-ME=F=
4 t-BR=3W
EmA-H 5000 47656 17016 4000 - - 41148 (384) (49081) 6535 1280 138182
Proftfor the year EngR - 3BS85 38585 (8191 30,394
Other comprehiensive epense K2R (2,255 (2,255 (131 (2386)
Tota comprehensive income. ERSENE(FR)
fpense) ortheyer % (2253) 3855 36330 (8322) 28,008
lsue ofnewshares netof — B{THE » MRRD
e seeenses  S17ER m  nm 2,000 22,000
Profit aporoprete to stattory B{EAE R A
Teserve 877 877)
Recognition o equiyseted BB EREENR
wetased pament AR
A 26 266 266
Relesseupon diposal of - i EMBA TR
subsidiaries (3,267) (3267)  (22,666)  (25933)
At 31 March 2005 RoZoRE
=R=1-H 5,22 69,434 17,016 4,000 877 266 37,881 (2,639) (11,373) 120,684 41,839 162,523
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_NF=A=+—HIEEE

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

The share premium represents the difference between the par
value of the shares of the Company and proceeds received from
the issuance of the shares of the Company. The application of
share premium is governed by Section 34 of Cayman Companies
Act and the provision of the Company’s memorandum and
articles association.

Special reserve represents the corresponding movements in
reserves of the Group as a result of the group reorganisation of
Speed Apparel Limited and Firenze Apparel Limited completed
on 1 February 2016. None of these entities formed part of the
Group but were held and controlled by Mr. Chan Wing Kai, the
then controlling shareholder of the Company at that time.

Capital reserve represents the difference between the nominal
value of the one share of the Company issued as part of the
reorganisation to acquire Knit World International Limited (“Knit
World"), a subsidiary of the Company, from the then controlling
shareholder of the Company and the nominal value of the then
issued share capital of Knit World.

Statutory reserve, which is non-distributable, is appropriated from
the profit after taxation of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries under
the applicable laws and regulations in the PRC. In accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Articles
of Association of the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC, these
entities are required to appropriate 10% of the annual statutory
net profits, after offsetting any prior years’ losses as determined
under the PRC accounting standards, to the statutory reserve
before distributing a dividend. When the balance of the statutory
reserve reaches 50% of the share capital of the PRC subsidiaries,
any further appropriation is at the discretion of shareholders.
The statutory surplus reserve fund can be used to offset prior
years' losses, if any, and may be converted into share capital
by issuing new shares to shareholders in proportion to their
existing shareholding or by increasing the par value of the shares
currently held by them, provided that the remaining balance of
the statutory reserve after such issue is no less than 25% of share
capital.

Other reserve represents (i) the shareholder contribution for
providing an interest free borrowings to the Company in
connection with sales and purchase agreement; (i) the effect
arising from the business combination involving entities under
common control on 26 April 2021; (iii) the total consideration
for the acquisition of the combining entities of HK$8,842,000
which was settled through the current accounts with the
related parties and accounted for a deemed distribution; and (iv)
deemed contribution arising from the wavier of amount due to a
related company of HK$14,354,000 in the book of the combining
entities during the year ended 31 March 2023. In addition, during
the year ended 31 March 2023, there is dividend recognised
as distribution by a subsidiary under business combination
under common control before completion of acquisition of
HK$3,965,000, which was settled through current account with a
related company.

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR

Hret

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 MARCH 2025

2 E - RAF=—A=+—HIFE
2025 2024
—E-hHEF —ZUF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET TFET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES K TEE)
Profit (loss) before tax BrF AR A (E18) 33,416 (24,052)
Adjustments for: BT B IBEIERE -
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BERREITE
equipment 2,938 2,585
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRREENE 2,974 3,450
Amortisation of intangible assets |8 EE 9,900 7,984
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BEERREZ
equipment (Uhz) EE (1) 35
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries HEMB AR EE RS (43,247) =
Gain on waiver of amount due to a related FAGR FE ST AN 7 B E A Y
party Wiz (2,136) =
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries FFEHM B A R E A (11) -
Loss on early termination of lease R EHELHEEREE
arrangement 291 =
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses R EE ARG AER 2
NEGF 266 -
Finance costs BbE RS 8,306 7,070
Fair value loss on financial liabilities at FVTPL BEAVEFFABR S H
BEZAFEERE 4 -
Fair value gain on promissory note due to IR R EE A LR
non-controlling interests N EWEE (20,217) (16,059)
Impairment loss on goodwill [EESERIEY S| 18,050 -
Interest income F EHA (538) (1,090)
Operating cash flows before working capital LEEEHILERERE
changes 9,995 (20,077)
(Increase) decrease in inventories FEEEMmmEL (947) 8,608
Increase in trade and other receivables E 5 K& H M e U FRIEE N (14,295) (11,777)
Decrease in trade and other payables and B 5 REMBERFIAENR
accruals fEETE AR (17,017) (3,341)
(Increase) decrease in contract assets BREEGEI)R D (745) 1,801
Increase (decrease)in contract liabilities aRaEEmoRL) 7,712 (2,379)
Cash used in operations KEFTABR® (15,297) (27,165)
Income tax paid [RESIIEEY (2,626) (1,400)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETEEPTAIRE H5 (17,923) (28,565)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MEBRERER
For the year ended 31 MARCH 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

2025 2024
—E-RE —ZE N4
HK$’000 HKS000
FHET FEIT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KEEE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE  BELXE (5,707) (5,037)
Purchase of other financial assets BEHMSMEE (260) =
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and HEWE - BERRERERIE
equipment 2,829 -
Release of pledged bank deposit FEBR B R RITIER 5,000 =
Interest received BB 538 1,090
Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries  YXBBHMI B A7) 2 IR &M L /F58 - (16,456)
Net cash inflow on disposals of subsidiaries LEMB AT 2 RERAFRE 54,805 =
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING BREEBEL(FTA) RS FE
ACTIVITIES 57,205 (20,403)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BERE
Proceeds from bank borrowings IRITIBEEMS IR 2,897 7,335
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEE (7,335) -
Proceeds from issuance of shares BITRMHPTISRIE 22,000 -
Repayment to related parties, net M) B 7 B RUF R (8,731) (12,294)
(Repayment to) advance from ultimate holding SRR N R (B B FEEE
company, net (19,478) 46,427
Repayment of lease liabilities EEMHEAE (3,024) (3.367)
Interest paid ERFE (3,113) (4,442)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING BMEFS (A EEREFR
ACTIVITIES (16,784) 33,659
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 384 RIS Z B hinCrld>)
EQUIVALENTS HER 22,498 (15,309)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING ~ F¥IHIE & RIE & S BY
OF THE YEAR 115,540 131,471
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES  [BE R &8} » 2/ £ (2,347) (622)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND OF THE  FRHVIR S MRS HEY
YEAR 135,691 115,540

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited (the
“Company’) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company and registered in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability under the Companies Act,
Cap. 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands on 19 November 2015. The address of the
Company’s registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands and the principal place of business of the Company
is Flat A, 17/F., Gemstar Tower, 23 Man Lok Street, Hung
Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in trading of apparel products to its
customers, trading of healthcare and medicated products
and leasing of medical devices, specialised contract
research organisation (“CRO") and innovative research
organisation (“IRO") services performing in Japan and
the People’s Republic of China ("PRC"). The Group is also
engaged in in-house drug discovery and development.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in
note 35.

The immediate and ultimate holding company is EPS
Holdings, Inc., a company incorporated in Japan with
limited liability, the issued shares of which were listed
on the Tokyo Stock Exchange until its subsequent
privatisation on 17 September 2021.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars ("HKS$"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B IS SRR MY AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025

EES

2.

—ERF=A=1T—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that
are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant
("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group's annual period beginning on 1
April 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

Amendments to HKAS 1

(2020)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group's financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out
in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Annual Improvements
to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 112

Lack of Exchangeability'

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Amendments to HKAS 21

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements?
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April

2025.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2026.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2027.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date

to be determined.

Except for the new HKFRS Accounting Standards
mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate
that the application of all other new and amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B IS SRR MY AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_NF=A=+—HIEEE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS
1 Presentation of Financial Statements. This new HKFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the
requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements
to present specified categories and defined subtotals in
the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes
to the financial statements and improve aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the
financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs
have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor
amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and
HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other HKFRS Accounting
Standards, will be effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 April 2027, with early application permitted.
The application of the new standard is expected to affect
the presentation of the statement of profit or loss and
disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group is
in the process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS
18 on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1

Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA.
For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered
material if such information is reasonably expected
to influence decisions made by primary users. In
Addition, the consolidation financial statements
include applicable disclosure required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they
continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B IS SRR MY AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and
entities controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the Group's
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity
therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon
liquidation.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and
assets which includes an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs. The acquired processes
are considered substantive if they are critical to the
ability to continue producing outputs, including
an organised workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related
processes or they significantly contribute to the
ability to continue producing outputs and are
considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced
without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability
to continue producing outputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

EES

3.
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TFE=A=T—RHILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisitions of businesses, other than business
combination under common control are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured
at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed must meet the definitions of an asset and
a liability in the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”) except
for transactions and events within the scope of
HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, in
which the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to
identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination. Contingent assets are not recognised

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair value, except that liabilities or equity
instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into
to replace share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree are measured in accordance with
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after
re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the relevant subsidiary's
net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise
from additional information obtained during the
“measurement period” (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the
contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and
its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as
an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in
stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the
acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group
obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to
the acquisition date that have previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income and
measured under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
("HKFRS 9") would be accounted for on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had
disposed directly of the previously held equity
interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Changes in the Groups interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Groups interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Groups
relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-controlling
interests according to the Groups and the non-
controlling interests proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Changes in the Groups interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised.
A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and
is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to
that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRS Accounting Standards). The fair value of
any investment retained in the former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business (see the accounting
policy above) less accumulated impairment losses,
if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group's CGUs (“CGUs") (or
group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the
lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes and not larger than
an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment annually or
more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group
of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less
than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU
within the group of CGUs, the attributable amount
of goodwill is included in the determination of
the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the
Group disposes of an operation within the CGU
(or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount
of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis
of the relative values of the operation (or the
CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or
the group of CGUs) retained, unless the Group
can demonstrate that some other method better
reflects the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s accounting policies
relating to contract with customer is provided in
note 5, 19 and 25.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 Leases at inception of the contract. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms
and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office premises and office
equipment that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over
the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received:;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the
Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid
at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes
a corresponding adjustment to the related right-
of-use assets) whenever the lease term has
changed, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the date
of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible
assets that are held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes other than properties construction in
progress as described below, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets, other than construction in progress
less their residual values, over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.

Intangible assets acquiredin a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired inabusiness
combination are recognised separately from
goodwill and are initially recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Intangible assets acquiredin a business
combination (Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite
useful lives are reported at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately. Intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible assets is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets and intangible assets
other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets and intangible assets
other than goodwill (Continued)

The recoverable amount of assets other than
financial assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant CGU when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the CGU
or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets and intangible assets
other than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a
CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of
a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the
recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a
group of CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined
on a first-in, first-out method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental
costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised as and included
in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred as the Group does not have any qualifying
assets.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchange prevailing on the dates of transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group's foreign operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HKS)
using exchange rate prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange
rates at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of the exchange
reserve (attributable to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign
operation of which the retained interest becomes
a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefits scheme, state-managed retirement benefit
scheme and Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
("MPF Scheme") are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at
the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected
to be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in
the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries and annual
leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instruments. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (‘HKFRS
15"). Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial assets
or financial liabilities and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other income,
gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other item
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss ("ECL") model on
financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, pledged bank deposit and cash and
cash equivalents) and contract assets which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life
of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month
ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting
date. Assessment are done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when the instrument
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is “credit-impaired” when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets
have been occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)
significant financial difficulty of the issuer of
the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

it is becoming probably that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group
has no reasonable expectations of recovering the
relevant financial asset in its entirety or a portion
thereof. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. The Group usually writes off when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables when the amounts are over one year
past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice when appropriate.
Any recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables and
contract assets are considered on a collective basis
taking into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
 EFT_RF=A=+T—HILFE

3. HEVMEBRRZHEREEREK
SIBERER )

3.2

EXETHRER(E)

EHMT AR

EHEE(K)
BHEEERNE RER
BHEERENAERENOR
RBHNBRR(AEHAXRE
E)RBDRBROKE - ELB
RREBHBRERTIERE L BE
RETEMEE MG - BHEES
BB ERBE R NETFS 2
B ABLEEONER S EERE

]

E °

—RimE FHREEBRRAR
BREBEANERNMEANRE
mEENEEEF KRR SR
Bz MMERMAE - WIRVIAHE
REEEMNERM R -

Rt BraREMRERES
BER(MpEEZERKEER)
ETEIRERERAGHNEEDN
PHIEHEEREDREREE
TUEE -

AETERE  AEREHIED
AR E RBIA TR -

AR

BEHANMEE - BERT
E RN

SN B TR (R TTIESS) -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025
2024/2025 F3;

177



178

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined
in that foreign currency and translated at the spot
rate at the end of each reporting period.

For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not part of a designated
hedging relationship, exchange differences
are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other
income, gains and losses’ line item (note 7)
as part of the net foreign exchange gains/
(losses).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial asset

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when
the financial liability is contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 applies.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, amounts due to related parties and
ultimate holding company are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a
foreign currency and are measured at amortised
cost at the end of each reporting period, the
foreign exchange gains and losses are determined
based on the amortised cost of the instruments.
These foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in the ‘Other income, gains and losses’
line item in profit or loss (note 7) as part of net
foreign exchange gains/(losses) for financial
liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group's obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only
when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable
right to set off the recognised amounts; and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
taxation because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of the reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that
are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current
and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position
include cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that are
subject to regulatory restrictions that result in such
balances no longer meeting the definition of cash.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_NF=A=+—HIEEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Share options granted to employees (Continued)
The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share-
based payments reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of
the number of equity instruments expected to vest
based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share -based payments reserve.
For share options that vest immediately at the date
of grant, the fair value of the share options granted
is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payments
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.
When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share-
based payments reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses.

When shares granted are vested, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payments
reserve will be transferred to share capital and
share premium.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the applications of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates are based on the historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. As the future is inherently uncertain, actual
results may differ from these estimates. The estimates
and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed
below.

Estimated impairment of exclusive distribution
rights and goodwill

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of exclusive
distribution rights and goodwill were approximately
HK$75,207,000 and HK$19,505,000 (2024: HK$85,196,000
and HK$49,040,000), respectively. Goodwill is required to
be tested for impairment annually and intangible assets
with definite life whenever there is an indication that
the intangible assets may be impaired. In determining
whether the group of assets are impaired, the Group has
to exercise judgement and make estimation on whether
the carrying value of CGU to which the group of assets
belong can be supported by a recoverable amount,
which is based on its value in use calculation. Judgement
and estimation are required in establishing the relevant
assumptions and inputs thereof. Changes in facts,
circumstances or estimations relating to these factors
could result in material adjustments to the recoverable
amounts.

Details of the recoverable amount calculations are
disclosed in notes 16 and 17.
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r B B IS SRR MY AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Fair value of financial liabilities at FVTPL

The fair value of financial liabilities at FVTPL was
determined by using valuation techniques. The Group
uses its judgement to select an appropriate basis from
a variety of methods and makes assumptions, including
the discount rates, estimation of performance of the
subsidiaries and the probability of meeting their profit
targets. They are subsequently remeasured to fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Changes in assumptions
used could materially affect the fair value of the balances
and as a result affect the Group’s financial position and
results of operation. The carrying amount of financial
liabilities at FVTPL included in amounts due to related
parties and amount due to non-controlling interests as
at 31 March 2025 were HKS$4,000 and HK$29,987,000,
respectively (2024: nil and HK$50,204,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE

Revenue from goods and services

The principal activities of the Group are engaged in
trading of apparel and healthcare and medicated products

and provision of healthcare services.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
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by major products is as follows: s
2025 2024
—E-REF —ETOF
HKS’000 HKS'000
FET TET
Trading of apparel products KEmME
- Womenswear — 286,080 338,604
- Menswear — 5% 39,320 117,833
— Kidswear —E5 4,316 10,541
329,716 466,978
Trading of healthcare and medicated REERMERE S
products 162,574 133,198
Provision of IRO and CRO services R HEIRO KR CROAR TS 45,214 38,149
Revenue from contracts with customers B & #UkE 537,504 638,325
Leasing of medical devices BEaWEE 7,018 6,290
Total et 544,522 644,615
Timing of revenue recognition: W as e SRR ]
Over time R—EREEA 52,231 44,439
A point in time P JR {IE s P B 492,291 600,176
544,522 644,615
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

EES

5.

—E-RE=A=+—RALEE
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REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Revenue from goods and services (Continued)
Performance obligations for contracts with customers

Revenue from trading of apparel, healthcare and
medicated products

Revenue from trading of apparel, healthcare and
medicated products is recognised when the control of the
products has been transferred to the customers, being
at the point the goods are delivered to the customer’s
specific location. Transportation and other related activities
that occur before customers obtains control of the related
good are considered as fulfilment activities. A receivable is
recognised by the Group when the goods are delivered to
the customers as this represents the point in time at which
the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only
the passage of time is required before the payment is due.
The normal credit term is 30 to 90 days upon issuance of
invoice at product delivery.

The Group requires certain customers to provide upfront
deposits ranging from 5% to 10% of total contract sum,
when the Group receives a deposit before the apparel/
healthcare products delivery, this will give rise to contract
liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue
recognised on the specific contract exceeds the amount
of deposit.

Revenue from provision of IRO and CRO services

The Group provides IRO and CRO services to the
customers. Such revenue are recognised as this
performance obligation is satisfied over time because
the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Revenue from goods and services (Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers
(Continued)

Revenue from provision of IRO and CRO services (Continued)
The progress towards completing satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the
Group's effort in terms of inputs (i.e. direct staff costs and
other direct overhead costs incurred) to the satisfaction
of a performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
the best depicts the Group’s performance in transferring
control of products. Contract assets arise when the Group
has right to consideration for satisfaction of a performance
obligation under the relevant contracts, and the right
is conditioned on factors other than passage of time.
Contract assets are reclassified to trade receivables when
such right become unconditional other than the passage
of time. Invoices to the customers are issued upon the
milestones completed to date. The normal credit term
is 60 to 120 days upon the issuance of invoices to the
customers. Credit period of 180 days is granted to a
customer with whom the Group has a good relationship
and who is in sound financial condition. The Group
requires certain customers to provide upfront deposits
ranging from 10% to 20% of total contract sum, when the
Group receives a deposit before the commencement of
healthcare services, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on
the specific contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

HE—

5.

F-RE=A=t—ALEE

REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Revenue from goods and services (Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers
(Continued)

Revenue from leasing of medical devices

The Group engaged in medical device leasing. Rental
income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations

All the Group's contracts with customers with unsatisfied
performance obligations have expected duration of one
year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to the remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied or satisfied) as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 is
not disclosed.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker, for
the purposes of resources allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on types of goods or
services delivered or provided.

The Group's reportable and operating segments are
therefore as follows:

(a) Trading of apparel products (“Garment Business”)

(b)  Trading of healthcare and medicated products and
leasing of medical devices ("Healthcare Products
Business’)

(0) Provision of IRO and CRO services and In-house
R&D Business (“IRO with CRO and In-House R&D
Business”)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
 EFT_RF=A=+T—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. DEWERE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and REBRKEERAZHRD BEID 2 Was
results by operating and reportable segment. REBSTWT ©
Revenue Segment profit (loss)
Wz 2 EER(E8)
2025 2024 2025 2024
—E-RE —ZEE ZE-HE —ZT_pUF
HKS’000 HKS000 HKS$’000 HKS000
TFET FET FET FET
Garment business BREE %75 329,716 466,978 2,190 7,069
Healthcare Products Business 1R #EE m 275 169,592 139,488 18,187 7,711
IRO with CRO and In-House IRO X CROFN A ZBAf
R&D Business B 45,214 38,149 (34,232) (36,403)
Total 5t 544,522 644,615 (13,855) (21,623)
Bank interest income RTTH BULA 1 39
Unallocated corporate income A&7 B RZEWA
(expenses) (Fx) 47,300 (2,330)
Finance costs on lease liabilities FHEBEZHE
DN (40) (138)
Profit (loss) before tax BrERT &R K (E51E) 33,416 (24,052)

All of the segment revenue reported above is from
external customers.

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable
segments are the same as the Group's accounting policy
described in note 3. Segment profit (loss) represents the
profit earned/loss incurred by each segment without
allocation of bank interest income, unallocated corporate
income (expenses) and finance costs on lease liabilities.
This is the measure reported to the Group’s management
for the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment.

PR 2 5 HUR 4 T B S
BF -

AN ATIRE DR & At R B R 3P
MARSEE G BRMAR - 2 8% (8
B)IEE D BR8N, EEZER -
BRI EDRITHEWA - ROBEE
EURAFZD)RHERBEZBRERAN -
WARERDERRAFERALAEEE
BEREZIAENE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B IS SRR MY AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

6‘

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and

liabilities by operating and reportable segment:

As at 31 March 2025

DEE R (@)
PTHEERAEE

AEEZEERAIREDBED ZEE
REESWT

R-B-HF=A=+—H

Healthcare IRO with CRO

Garment Products and In-House
Business business R&D Business Consolidated

IROK CROH]
REX£YE REERER RIPMREK SE
HKS’000 HK$’000 HKS’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Segment assets DEEE 73,278 175,150 21,599 270,027
Other assets HEi&EE 66,822
Consolidated assets REBE 336,849
Segment liabilities NEEE 20,662 77,618 21,465 119,745
Other liabilities HMAE 54,581
Consolidated liabilities ReasE 174,326

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6.

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

DEER (B
PTHEEREE(HE)
R-ZE-_NFE=A=+—H

Healthcare IRO with CRO

Garment Products and In-House
Business Business  R&D Business  Consolidated
IRO & CROFN
REFES REEMER NIMEER R
HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000
FET FET FET FET
Segment assets DEPEE 118,001 164,011 142,313 424,325
Other assets HEmEE 5,560
Consolidated assets REBE 429,885
Segment liabilities NEPAE 88,446 99,277 100,654 288,377
Other liabilities HMAafE 3,326
Consolidated liabilities meamE 291,703
For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and HERDERRER D HBESBELEIRM
allocating resources among segments: ERE

- All assets are allocated to operating and reportable
segments other than certain property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, other financial
assets, certain other receivables and deposits and
cash and cash equivalents.

- All liabilities are allocated to operating and
reportable segments other than certain other
payables and amounts due to related parties.

BRETYWE  BFELEE - 8
REE  Hte@mEE FTH
Tﬁfﬂ&m\fﬁ'&&iuﬁfﬁi&fﬁ
TEEBYMI  MEEEGNEE
RERTREDE -

B T R A A BB R A B
HIES - Hi B BB EES
BRAGEHE -

Fa =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B IS SRR MY AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-—ZT-_AF=A=1t—HILHFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. TEER@E
Other Segment information Hithn & &R
As at 31 March 2025 R-B-HFE=A=+—H

Healthcare RO with CRO
Garment Products and In-House Segment
Business business R&D Business total  Unallocated Consolidated
IROR CROF
REsH REERER AIWERE  o¥4s AR &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FEn FiEn FiEn FiEn FEn FEn

Amounts included in the measure of HEAPENBR) AN PEER
seqment proft (loss) or segment assets ~ FTAZ 2%

Results or segment assets: $EINTEE:
Interest income UEYON 440 70 17 527 1 538
Interest expenses R 3,276 - 414 3,690 4,616 8,306
Depreciation of property, plant and 0% BERAENE

equipment 203 2,576 152 2,931 7 2,938
Depreciation of right-of-use assets PREEENE 1,751 - 680 2,831 543 2,974
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESN - 9,544 356 9,900 - 9,900
Additions to property, plant and RENE - BERRE

equipment 54 5,619 34 5,707 - 5,707
Additions to right-of-use assets RERREEE - - 1,684 1,684 1,086 2770
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B R

-EI

For the year ended 31 March 2025

HE_T-AF=A=+—HILEFE
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. DHER
Other Segment information (Continued) Hih o EER (&)
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZEZMNE=HA=+—H
Healthcare RO with CRO
Garment Products  and In-House
Business Business  R&D Business  Segmenttotal  Unallocated ~ Consolidated
RORCROF
REEh REEnEE AMREEE A Ak Fa
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HiKs 000 HKS 000
AT AT 7 7 AT AT
Amounts included in the measure of HEAPENBR) AN HEER
seqment proft loss) or segment assets ~ sTAZEHE
Results or segment assets; $EINTEE:
Interest income FIEHA 966 70 15 1,051 39 1090
Interest expenses R 6,93 = = 6,93 138 7070
Depreciation of property, plant and % BEREENE
equipment 512 1920 148 2580 5 2,585
Depreciation of right-of-use assets PREEENE 2058 - 649 2907 543 3450
Amortisation of intangible assets EYEEEH = 7,984 = 7,984 = 7,984
Additions to property, plant and RENE - BRRRHE
equipment 143 4887 - 5,030 7 5,037
Additions to right-ofuse assets REGFREEE 3,545 = 1436 4981 - 4981
Additions to intangible assets TERVAE = 94497 71,869 166,366 = 166,366
Additions to goodwil HEEN - 19919 30,148 50067 - 50067

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025
2024/2025 F3;

195



196

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B IS SRR MY AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographic information

The Group's operation of Garment Business, Healthcare
Products Business and IRO with CRO and In-House R&D
Business are located in Hong Kong, Japan and the PRC.

The Group's revenue from external customers and
information about non-current assets by geographical
location of the customers and assets respectively are set
out below:

DEER (B

i & E &

AEBEZREER REERFEAR
IROKCROMAZ A EBESTE « HA
R EEE o

REERBINBEF 2 W kB BIER
HEEZENDREFREEME
BETIAT

Revenues from external

customers Non-current assets
REMBEF 2 W= FRBEE

2025 2024 2025 2024
—E-RE —E —E-RE —EpF
HK$’000 HKS'000 HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FET FET FET
Hong Kong 55 29,444 30,602 96,486 107,338
Japan =[N 186,662 214,703 5,478 105,376
The PRC a3 151,171 134,383 1,826 1,284
Europe BUOM 90,498 71,688 - =
United States X 84,535 191,125 - -
Other countries HEM R 2,212 2,114 - =
544,522 644,615 103,790 213,998

Note: Non-current assets exclude financial assets.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6.
Geographic information (Continued)

Revenue from major customers:

Revenue from customers individually contributed over

10% of the total revenue of the Group for the year are as
follows:

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-_ZT-_AF=A=1t—HILHFE

DEER(E)
HEE R ()
KEFEEEZ Wz -

FRA/AER 2 BI85 F BL10% A
trzEPYEIT

Customer A (from Garment Business) HRPARBEREFR)

2025 2024
—E-hREF —E-F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FET
148,485 242,753

OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HtWA - WEZEREE
2025 2024
—E-RHE —EMEF
HKS’000 HKS'000
FHT TETT
Interest income F B A 538 1,090
Sample sales income BAEE WA 1,658 1,589
Sundry income MIEUA 2,604 115
Government grants AT B 67 28
Gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant [HEYH  BERKEZHE 2
and equipment Wz (E18) 1 (35)
Fair value gain on promissory note due 3'5? IR E SR A R
to non-controlling interests AN E Y (FEE26(0)
(note 26(0)) 20,217 16,059
Fair value loss on financial liabilities at ~ HAF(EFFABZ Z & @t
fair value through profit or loss BEZAFEBER(ME
(note 38(b)) 38(b)) (4) -
Gain on waiver of amount due to B A D RIEEER
related parties (note 38(b)) W zs (F7E38(0)) 2,136 393
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries  FiHMIEB A A EE R MR 11 -
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries (note [ EME A A EER K
34) (PM45E34) 43,247 -
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 16) & BEEE (FizE16) (18,050) -
Loss on exchange difference, net ME B 1B R (1,943) (6,720)
Others Hith (313) (636)
50,169 11,883
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B IS SRR MY AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

8.

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX 8. K¥AIEF (EE)
Profit (loss) before tax is arrived at after charging (crediting): BRI A (E518) Th R kR (BT A) T3
BIREFHE -
2025 2024
—E-HEF —Z O
HKS’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Auditor’s remuneration ZELEN B & 1,400 2,000
Staff costs (including directors’ BIXAN(BIEESZHM)
emoluments)
— Salaries, wages and other benefits — %%  TENHEMEF 42,500 52,252
— Contributions to retirement benefits — — RIK{EFIEH IR
schemes 2,695 2,088
— Share-based payment expenses — AR REME 2 5K
B < 266 -
Total staff costs 8 TR AN 4258 45,461 54,340
Cost of inventories recognised as an ERERXNFERA
expense 412,106 508,455
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries HERB AR EENKE
(note 34) (Kft5E34) (43,247) -
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BEREREFTE
equipment 2,938 2,585
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 2,974 3,450
Amortisation of intangible assets & E 9,900 7,984
FINANCE COSTS 9. MEMRE
2025 2024
—E-HEF —EpUF
HKS’000 HKS'000
FET TET
Interest expenses on: BB ERAX
Factoring of trade receivables 2 5 W IRRE 2,441 3,991
Bank borrowings RITEE 418 313
Amounts due to related parties JE 1<t AR 5 K08 4,795 2,628
Amounts due to ultimate holding JE S B A1 IR R B RIR
company 398 =
Lease liabilities ME&RE 254 138
8,306 7,070

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
 EFT_RF=A=+T—HILFE

Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HKS2
million of the estimated assessable profits of one of
the subsidiaries of the Company and at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits above HKS2 million under the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The assessable profits
of group entities not qualified for the two-tier profit tax
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

10. TAXATION 10. HiIE
Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss FEBRKRNIHIAR
represents:
2025 2024
—E-RF —E - pUF
HKS’000 HKS'000
FET T#ET
The taxation comprises: HIBBE -
Current tax: BNEATIE -
Hong Kong Profits Tax BBNEH
Charge for the year FASH 3,218 4,964
Overprovision in respect of prior years @k FE BB (5) (36)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PR RIS
Charge for the year FRZH 157 23
Overprovision in respect of prior years — iB{F & [E HBRAEE (160) (105)
Japan Corporate Income Tax ARDPEREN
Charge for the year FAXE 1,498 67
Overprovision in respect of prior years B F[E BRI A (111) (1,152)
4,597 3,761
Deferred tax credit for the year (note  FARIELEFIEE % (KI5E28)
28) (1,575) (1,317)
3,022 2,444
For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, Hong BEMAMNESHEEEGNE  BEZZT

THER-TE_NMF=ZA=+—HILHF
E - BEFNEGRIEARRES —KH
B QA ET SR & A 2 & 2,000,000
TCI%8.25%+T & + MR 2,000,0007 LAY
(et R EFBIIZ165%tE - TFFA
MARF SRR EHENEE T B ER
FaFl - BBEEE —IR165%EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B IS SRR MY AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

10. TAXATION (CONTINUED) 10. BB (&)

Under the Law of PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Under the rule of Japan Corporate Income Tax, the tax
rate of the Japan subsidiaries is 34.59% for both years.

Reconciliation between tax expense and profit (loss)
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss

at applicable tax rates:

RETECEMSTA(EERER
EDREEMREBEERGH - P BN
B QAN EFE 2 BRI 5525% °

RIEBADCEMSHE  BAKB AR
RREFE 2 F R A34.59% ©

FEBERNIERREFTE ZREARF
SRR AT R (B8 ) 2 $15k -

2025 2024
—E-EE —E N4
HKS’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Profit (loss) before tax BrEi A& A (E518) 33,416 (24,052)
Tax at the income tax rate of 16.5% BETEHBEI65%( ==
(2024: 16.5%) P4 1 16.5%) 5T H 2 HIA 5,514 (3,969)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible  NAJ TR B X AT 2 &
for tax purpose 5,272 1,856
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BERRWMAZ HRIGEHE
purpose (11,305) (2,995)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised m AR HIBEE 2 %
Te 7,265 15,878
Utilisation of tax loss previously not B SERIARMER 2 T IAE 1B
recognised (1,550) (808)
Overprovision in prior years WBEFEHEERE (276) (1,293)
Effect of different tax rates of RE M RLEREE &L 2 KB
subsidiaries operating in other RNETRIBR 2 &
jurisdictions (1,898) (6,060)
Tax effect of profit two-tiered tax rate ~ MARFR R 2 T 5/ & - (165)
Income tax expense PSR 2 3,022 2,444

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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11.

DIRECTORS’ CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND 11.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-_ZT-_AF=A=1t—HILHFE

EMPLOYEE’'S EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration

The emoluments paid or payable of the seventeen (2024:

fifteen) directors are as follows:

EERBETRAESHMH

HINESHBT

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE-Z-RF=A=+-HALEFE

EE  BeTTBAERESHMH

ENHEMNTTER(ZF-NF : A

Retirement Equity-
Salaries Benefits settled
and other scheme share-based
Fee benefits contributions expense Total
DR E L
FeR RUAEN ROREHZ
e Hitr i@ A HEEEN FHEX @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Executive Directors BTEE
Mr. Washikita Kenichiro! Bt LAy - 88 - - 88
Mr. Miyano Tsumoru =BHELE - 189 - - 189
Mr. Maezaki Masahiro®? Al E 5L A - 79 - - 79
Mr. Shimada Tatsuji® SHE-%4EY - 119 - - 119
Mr. Chiu Chun Tak HEEEE - 1,007 24 237 1,268
Mr. Miyazato Hiroki® BERELEY - 45 - - 45
Mr. Narumi Shoichi® ISGH—FEY - 39 - - 39
Ms. Du Yao® ML - 39 - - 39
Mr. Liang Fei® RIEFEY - 40 - - 40
Non-executive Directors FBTES
Mr. Kusaba Takuya® Bt AEY 35 - - - 35
Mr. Yan Ping BFEE 60 - - - 60
Mr. Uematsu Takahiro® BIRRELES 17 - - - 17
Independent non-executive ~ BIFHTEE
Directors
Mr. Taguchi Junichi® HAZE—E4 - - - - -
Mr. Choi Koon Ming ZRALE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho RERELE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Saito Hironobu BHRLGLE 117 - - - 117
Mr. Taniguchi Yasuhiko® ARORELAEY 91 - - - 91
Ms. Zhang Cuiping® REFLTO 38 - - - 38
598 1,645 24 237 2,504
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

11. DIRECTORS’ CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEE’'S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration
(Continued)

Notes:

(M Appointed as an Executive Director, the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer with effect from 8 November
2024

(2) Resigned as an Executive Director with effect from 2
December 2024.

(3) Resigned as an Executive Director, the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer with effect from 8 November
2024

4) Appointed as an Executive Director with effect from 2
December 2024.

(5) Resigned as a Non-executive Director with effect from 2
December 2024.

(6) Appointed as a Non-executive Director with effect from 2
December 2024.

(7) Resigned as Independent non-executive Director with
effect from 1 April 2024.

(8) Appointed as Independent non-executive Director with
effect from 1 April 2024. Resigned as Independent non-
executive Director with effect from 10 January 2025.

9) Appointed as Independent non-executive Director with

effect from 2 December 2024.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR

11.

EE  BESTRAERESHMN

(%)

EERBETHRAESHME)

Hiat -

M B2 _ME+—-AN\BRERER
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®) BTN+ A ZBEEENRT
B% -

(3) B - -ME+— A\ BEBHERT
B ITREMITHEEE -

4) BE-_Z_NE+-_A_HHEEZTA
WMiTEE -

(5) BT -NE+ - A - RA#EEEEHR
TEE -

6) B-E-_NE+-_A-_REEZTA
IEMITES -

7 BT _MFEWNA—HEREREIE
HITES -
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BB TB FEMITES -
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11.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-_ZT-_AF=A=1t—HILHFE

DIRECTORS’ CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND 11. X  ETHAEREEHFM

EMPLOYEE’'S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(%)

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration EENBETHAEEHFME)

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NFE=A=+—RIFE

Retirement
Salaries Benefits
and other scheme
Fee benefits contributions Total
Fak RIKAET
we HAEH FTEI LK 4t
HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000
FET FET FET FHET
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Okoso Satoshi® AALERAAED = 407 = 407
Mr. Gao Feng®? S IE A - 352 8 360
Mr. Haribayashi Keikyo®  SRAMKERG £ = 242 = 242
Mr. Miyano Tsumoru =HEEE - 357 _ 357
Mr. Maezaki Masahiro EILGEINHa = 182 = 182
Mr. Shimada Tatsuji® EME_f4E® — 84 — 84
Mr. Chiu Chun Tak® HEEEES - 1,194 21 1,215
Mr. Miyazato Hiroki® = ERIESLED - 25 - 25
Non-executive Directors F#H TESE
Mr. Xia Xiang Ming®© E MR EO 60 - - 60
Mr. Kusaba Takuya®” B Hth gD 24 - - 24
Mr. Yan Ping?” B RED 25 - - 25
Independent non- BYFHITES
executive Directors
Mr. Taguchi Junichi® AOE—HkE® 120 - - 120
Mr. Choi Koon Ming AR A 120 = = 120
Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho PRER KA 120 - - 120
Mr. Saito Hironobu® EEERYGEAC 55 = = 55
524 2,843 29 3,396
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

11. DIRECTORS’ CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEE’'S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration
(Continued)

Notes:

(1) Resigned as Executive Director and the chief executive of
the Company with effect from 1 November 2023.

) Resigned as Executive Director with effect from 1
November 2023.

(3) Resigned as Executive Director with effect from 20 March
2024.
(4) Appointed as Executive Director with effect from 1

November 2023.

(5) Appointed as Executive Director with effect from 1
November 2023. Mr. Chiu Chun Tak serves the Group as
employee under a subsidiary before being appointed
as Executive Director, the amount above represents his
annual salary package.

(6) Resigned as Non-executive Director with effect from 1
November 2023.

(7) Appointed as Non-executive Director with effect from 1
November 2023.

(8) Resigned as Independent non-executive Director with
effect from 1 April 2024.

9) Appointed as Independent non-executive Director with
effect from 1 November 2023.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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11.

EE  BESTRAERESHMN

(%)

EERBETHRAESHME)
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11.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-_ZT-_AF=A=1t—HILHFE

DIRECTORS’ CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 11. X  EETHAEREEHFM

EMPLOYEE’'S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) (&)
Five highest paid individual TEESHFMAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one E%%#ﬁ%ﬁ’\]ﬂ% ALTH  —H(ZZEZ
(2024: one) is a director whose emoluments are set out T —R)BEE  HEWN X
above. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the B o ﬁ@@%(_ T POF - E)EA
other four (2024 four) individuals are as follows: RFFENARREIN T ¢
2025 2024
s T 3 —E-F
HKS’000 HKS000
FET FHET
Salary and other emoluments e MEMAME 4,201 4,012
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIE R 79 77
Equity-settled share-based expense DK%@%%MHQ@Z%%%Z
B3 19 -
4,299 4,089
The emoluments of the four (2024: four) individuals with TSN E( T _NF : W)@
the highest emoluments are within the following bands: ABFE Y EER
Number of individuals
AE
2025 2024
—E-RE —TMF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ 7T 3 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 22,000,000 7T 1 1
During the year ended 31 March 2025, no emoluments HE_Z-"hAF=-A=+—HItEE -
(2024: nil) were paid by the Group to any of the directors ANEBWHE(-F _UF : ) [{EME
or the highest paid individuals as an inducement to join EREeHFMALTEIMNTAE - EA
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of MARNEB K MAKREF % 2 SEES Bk
office. BE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B IS SRR MY AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_NF=A=+—HIEEE

12.

13.

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
Basic earnings (loss) per share

The calculation of basic earnings (loss) per share is based
on the profit for the year attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$38,585,000 (2024: loss
for the year attributable to owners of the Company
HK$22,066,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 520,901,458 (2024: 500,000,000) in issue
during the year.

Diluted earnings (loss) per share

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the
year ended 31 March 2025 did not assume the exercise
of certain of share options granted by the Company since
the exercise price of those share options was higher than
the average market price of the shares for the period.

No diluted loss per share is presented as the Company did
not have any dilutive potential ordinary share outstanding
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

DIVIDENDS

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2025 of
HK1.0 cent per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount of
HKS$5,221,774, has been proposed by the directors of the
Company and is subject to approval by the shareholders
in the forthcoming general meeting. The proposed final
dividend have not been recognised as dividend payables
in the consolidated financial statements.

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31
March 2024.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

14. V¥  BERRXRE

Furniture
Leasehold and office Medical
improvement equipment devices Total
REK
HEMEEE #J#"‘“f% B @t
HK$ ’009 HK$ 00_0 HK$ ’OOQ HK$ ’OOQ
FET FET FETL FETL
COST &S
1 April 2023 R-_E-_=FMA—H 2,558 9,434 = 992
Transfer B - (2,310) 2,310 -
Additions NE - 309 4,728 5,037
Disposals HE - (70) - (70)
Exchange difference R ER - (132) (282) 414)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZ-ME=A=+—AK
—“Z-FENA—H 2,558 7,231 6,756 6,545
Additions NE - 112 5,595 5,707
Disposals/write-off e/ s - (137) (4802 (4939)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEM BT - (59) (59)
Exchange difference HEH =R - 9) 57 48
At 31 March 2025 RZE-RF=RA=1+—H 2,558 7,138 7,606 7,302
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 247
1 April 2023 N-_ZE-_=FmA—AH 2,558 6,047 - 8,605
Transfer g - (435) 435 -
Charge for the year FARMBR - 738 847 2,585
Disposals HE = (35) S (35)
Fxchange difference bE N EHE - (80) (91) (171)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-ZE-MFE=ZA=+—HK
—ET-mMEMNA—H 2,558 6,235 2,191 0,984
Charge for the year FRH = 420 2,518 2,938
Disposals/write-off Hj%/?ﬂﬂfﬁ = (137) (1,974) (2111)
Eliminated upon disposal of o B B PR A 8
subsidiaries y - (26) - (26)
Exchange difference MW =78 = 8) 23 15
At 31 March 2025 RZZE-_AF=H=+—H 2,558 6,484 2,758 11,800
NET BOOK VALUE SREE
At 31 March 2025 RZZE-_AF=HA=+—H = 654 4,848 5,502
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-MF=A=+—H - 996 4,565 5,561
The above items of property, plant and equipment, after Lt  HELREBEEZITERE
taking into account the residual values, are depreciated on ERIGEER @ JVEANTERIREG
a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum: EEHE
Leasehold improvement Over the period of the relevant THEWHERE IR E s s
lease or 5 years, whichever is (B E %)
shorter
Furniture and office 20% per annum KEANPERNERE BF20%
equipment
Medical devices Over the lease term R 2 R EHE]
The Group leases out a number of medical devices under NEFEEERKLHELHHES FEBZES
operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial W S HEEBEE A2 1% - T
period of one to ten years. None of the leases includes ST BEE2EHEL -

variable lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_T_AF=-"A=1t—HILFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

15. EHEEE

Office premises

leased for own use

BRAHEE
WAESAT
HKS000
TFETT
cosT R
At 1 April 2023 RZEZ=FMHA—H 6,271
Additions NE 4,981
Eliminated upon lease expired TS Em R EE (4,895)
Exchange differences PE X Z=%E (260)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 Eé_g_mi A=+—HBX
—ZE_NFHEA—H 6,097
Additions NE 2,770
Farly terminated IRRIERIE (1,431)
Eliminated upon lease expired 18 & fe e Bl B (1,087)
Exchange differences MEHZER (3)
At 31 March 2025 RZZE_RF=A=+—H 6,346
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 2t E
At 1 April 2023 RZZE-_=FWA—H 3,605
Charge for the year FRHIRR 3,450
Eliminated upon lease expired 0 5 JiE o P i SR (4,895)
Exchange differences M H ZRE (150)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 Efx\:;:mi_ﬂ_Jr A X
—ZE_MFEWPA—H 2,010
Charge for the year FRMkR 2,974
Farly terminated RRIARIE (1,140)
Eliminated upon lease expired 18 & JeE e Bl 8 (1,087)
Exchange differences MEH Z5E 13
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE_RF=A=+—H 2,770
NET BOOK VALUE ARTE R E
At 31 March 2025 R_E_RF=A=+—H 3,576
At 31 March 2024 RZF-MF=A=+—H 4,087

The office premises leased for own use are depreciated

over the terms of the lease.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR
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15.

16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MREMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2025
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 15. ERAEEE®
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases RERANEREEEHEBNRAXIER D
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: AT -
2025 2024
—EC-REF —F_puF
HK$’000 HKS000
FET T#ET
Depreciation charge TEEA
- Office premises leased forown use ~ — B AHEERAEIHFT 2,974 3,450
Interest on lease relating liabilities MERBAEaENE 254 138
Expense to short-term leases REAE A 743 1,148
Expense relating to leases of low-value EEEEEEHE(TEIER
assets, excluding short-term leases of BEEEMNCHHE)EH
low-value assets 87 52 10 5
Total cash outflow for leases MERIRE ML ERE 3,777 4,871

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities were approximately HK$2,770,000 (2024:
HK$4,981,000) and HK$2,740,000 (2024: HK$4,967,000)
respectively.

For both years, the Group leases various offices for its

FRN - FHEEEAELEEEES
B #) A 2,770,000 jo( — & — /4 F :
4,981,00078 7T ) } 2,740,000 T( — T =
PU4E : 4,967,000/ 7T) °

RWEFE  AEELSEZEHEET

operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term WAE - HESYIKETCHRME=F
from two to three years. A3 ©
GOODWILL 16. HE
HKS'000
T
Cost and carrying values PR K AR B
At 1 April 2023 RZZE-_=FMNA—H =
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries UM B AR FTEAE 50,067
Exchange difference PE X Z=RE (1,027)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZEZNF=A=+—HK
“E-MEPA—A 49,040
Impairment loss recognised for the year FAERZBIEETE (18,050)
Eliminated upon disposal of subsidiaries B A B RS (11,549)
Exchange difference MEH ZRE 64
At 31 March 2025 RZF-AF=A=1+—H 19,505

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

16. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and
unpatented technology with indefinite lives set out in
note 17 have been allocated to two individual CGUs,
comprising (i) R&E Corporation Limited and its subsidiary
("Taiga Group”); and (ii) Biotube Co., Limited ("Biotube”).

The carrying amounts of goodwill and unpatented
technology with indefinite useful lives (net of accumulated

16. BE®E)

MBEENARENTS mERWE17
Fra B AR Al F F 5 2 3EE R # i
EPEEMEBERESELEEMA - BI))
MmO ERAFRENB R X
A& E |) : X (i) Biotube Co., Limited
([Biotube]) °

PEEZFEUNBHERABRAER
F 8 2 FEE M Mo a0 BR T B (FORR REHR

impairment losses) allocated to these units are as follows: BEEB)ET :
Goodwill Unpatented technology
(GRS FEE R+l
2025 2024 2025 2024
—E-RE —ZTE-NE —EBE-HE —ZT-NFE
HK$’000 HKS'000 HK$’000 HKS'000
FHET T FAET FEIT
Taiga Group NAEE 19,505 19,629 - -
Biotube Biotube - 29,411 - 68,256
19,505 49,040 - 68,256

In addition to goodwill and unpatented technology above,
property, plant and equipment (including allocation of
corporate assets) that generate cash flows together with
the related goodwill and unpatented technology and
other intangible assets are also included in the respective
CGU for the purpose of impairment assessment.

The recoverable amount of Taiga Group has been
determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a five-year
period, and pre-tax discount rate of 19.96% (2024: 19.34%).
Taiga Group's cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using a steady 2.00% long-term growth rate
(2024: 2.00%).This growth rate does not exceed the long-
term growth rate for the PRC market in which Taiga Group
operates.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR

SUBEREEME - R DalpE kI
ERBEATSN EXERSRENDE - M
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[F76 B8/ B M IR B R BT A R B At 7
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NAUEEMATRE SR IREREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, with
reference to the valuation performed by an independent
professional valuer, Peak Vision Appraisals Limited
(“Peak Vision”), management of the Group determined
that there was no impairment on Taiga Group CGU.
Management of the Group believes that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not
cause the carrying amount of Taiga Group CGU to exceed
its recoverable amount. Management believes that any
reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
would not result in impairment.

The recoverable amount of Biotube has been determined
based on a value in use calculation. That calculation
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a five-year period, and
pre-tax discount rate of 23.78% (2024: 22.05%). Biotube
cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using a steady 2.00% long-term growth rate (2024: 1.60%).
This growth rate does not exceed the long-term growth
rate for the Japan market in which Biotube operates.

As at 31 March 2025, with reference to the valuation
performed by an independent professional valuer, Peak
Vision, the management of the Group has determined that
an impairment loss of approximately HK$18,050,000 (2024:
nil) arose in relation to goodwill allocated to Biotube CGU.

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
 EFT_RF=A=+T—HILFE

16. BEE (&)

HE—_ZE_hAFER-_E-_NE=A=+
—BHILEFE @ K2EBIHEGAERMS
BRFHBERAR(RENDEL ZHE -
AEEEEEEFANEERSELASE
NIWERE - AEEEEERE @ %5
BRETRERESENEEHHTISEE
NIEERcELEVNEREBRAE
AEl¢EE  c EEERE  ZERBR

REMSRTEEDETEEIORE -

Biotube M AI Bl & RE TV IZFE FAEEE
FEERE - % ERANBE S RETER
TR BEEEEMENAFHRVEEE

23.78% (ZZF P94 : 22.05%) Fi A 8538
R - BiotubeBBAFHMIREGRE
HRAEBTH200% (ZE-MHE : 1.60%)
RO REEE - ZNEREXITEHBB
Biotube & & FTEH B AT IgH R R

% o

NRZTE-_RAF=A=1+—8 KREHF
VEEGHEMEBELZHE  A%E
EIREETFE H B EBiotubeIR & ELEHENM
< PEEEE R EE 18 4918,050,000/8 7T
ZEFNF ) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

Bt 5 ARk Y o

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_T_AF=-"A=1t—HILFE

17.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17. BFEE

Exclusive
distribution Unpatented
rights Patent  technology Total
BR 7 SHE BF FEFHEAM ks
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FET FET FET FET
CoST R
1 April 2023 i EEH H — - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries Y EEHIE A 94,497 1,904 69,965 166,366
Exchange difference ME X Z5E (1,376) (46) (1,709) (3,131)
At 31 March 2024and 1 RZE-WNF=A=+—H
April 2024 r—= _m FMA—H 93,121 1,858 68,256 163,235
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBA — (1,870) (68,690) (70,560)
Exchange difference MEHZERE (589) 12 434 (143)
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE_RAF=A=+—H 92,532 = = 92,532
AMORTISATION AND #iH oRE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2023 RZZE-=FMA—AH - - - -
Charged for the year FRHIER 7,984 = = 7,984
Exchange difference MEHZR (59) - - (59)
At 31 March 2024 and RZE-_WWF=A=+—H
1 April 2024 MZFEZMFMA—A 7,925 - - 7,925
Charged for the year FAR 9,544 356 - 9,900
Eliminated upon disposal & KB~ &) Bl 85
of subsidiaries - (356) - (356)
Exchange difference MEH ZR8 (144) - - (144)
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE-_RF=ZA=+—H 7325 = = 7,325
CARRYING VALUES BREFE
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE-_RF=A=+—H 75,207 = = 75,207
At 31 March 2024 R-E-_WF=ZA=+—H 85,196 1,858 68,256 155,310

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR




17.

18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

HE_T-AF=A=+—HILEFE
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 17. BREE®)
Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis EFEERBESEEN TS HRAE#:
over the following periods:
Exclusive distribution rights 10 years R HHE 105
Patents 17 years E 174
Unpatented technology Not amortised FEF Ml s =
Exclusive distribution rights represent an exclusive rights Hﬁ’\ﬁﬁ%? — R ERE] 105 5
with a supplier to trade healthcare products in the PRC for R B E ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%éﬁn%’f%ﬂ'ﬂgﬂ o
10 years.
Unpatented technology is acquired during the acquisition FE A F My 5 7S W B — FE BT )88 2 BB B
of a subsidiary. The unpatented technology will not be WHE - RIFEAIEAFHERERFR
amortised until their useful life is determined to be finite, (BB MERRARTKERGTE) &
initiating by the completion of confirmatory clinical trial. BIBEER M T#HE -
Particulars regarding impairment testing of intangible BRERLEENREANRAFBERIE 6
assets are disclosed in note 16. W= -
INVENTORIES 18. #&
2025 2024
—E-RE —EpF
HKS’000 HKS'000
FET T#ET
Raw materials R R 3,041 1,836
Work-in-progress TR M 1,855 1,984
Finished goods BURX in 11,752 11,927
16,648 15,747
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19. CONTRACT ASSETS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B IS SRR MY AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

19. ERNEE

2025 2024
—E-hHEF —E_NF
HKS’000 HKS000
FHT FET
Contract assets from provision of RO IR0 K CROMRIEHI & 4Y
and CRO services BE 46 985

As at 1 April 2023, there are contract assets amounted to
approximately HK$2,786,000.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right
to consideration from the customers for the tailoring
provision of IRO and CRO services. Contract assets arise
when the Group has right to consideration for the work
completed under relevant contracts and their right is
conditioned on factors other than passage of time. The
contract assets are transferred to trade receivables upon
the delivery and acceptance of products by customers.

Typical payment terms are 60 to 120 days upon delivery.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current assets
because the Group expects to realise them in its normal
operating cycle which is within 12 months after the end
of the reporting period.

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note
33

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR

R-E-_=FMA—H  AEEEBE
#92,786,0008 7T, °
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& IR0 K2 CROAR 15 1) & = U B (B 2 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

20. EZRHEMEWKIEA

2025 2024
—E-EHF —EPOF
HKS’000 HKS000
FET FET
Trade debtors, net of loss allowance JE B SR (FNBR S 1E R ) 29,984 46,835
Bills receivable U E I 2,242 947
Deposits and other receivables Y N EAth e U FRI8 12,979 16,948
Prepayments SEENE O 29,565 6,908
74,770 71,638

Analysed for reporting purpose as: MMERESNTA -
Current assets MENEE 73,732 70,657
Non-current assets EMEBEE 1,038 981
74,770 71,638
As at 1 April 2023, the carrying amount of trade receivables RZZEZ=FMA—RB  BF&HES

from contracts with customers was HK$34,593,000.

As at 31 March 2025, trade debtors of HK$29,984,000 (2024
HK$46,835,000) comprised receivables from contracts with
customers and lease receivables of HK$28,248,000 (2024:HK
$46,325,000) and HKS$1,736,000 (2024: HKS510,000)
respectively.

The Group's credit terms on Garment Business and
Healthcare Products Business generally range from 30
to 90 days, while allows an average credit period of 60
to 120 days to its customers of the provision of IRO and
CRO services. Credit period of 180 days is granted to a
customer for the IRO and CRO services with whom the
Group has a good business relationship and who is in
sound financial condition.

2 B 5 e FRIE /Y BR B 434,593,000
7TE o

RZZE_RAF=ZA=+—H8 ' BRER
29,984,000/ 70( — & — PO 4F : 46,835,000
BRL)EREREFAEHNEE 2 EKRIE
28,248,000/ 7L ( ZZF — M4 : 46,325,000
77T ) N FE U AR E 308 1,736,00058 7T( —
T P04 : 510,000/87C) ©

AEBEREEEMRBERES 2EFE
HARR — AR M F30F90H » AT HIROK
CRORBREF ZEEHRFHAB60E120
H - EBAKEE RIFEFEERB BN
5RE&¥Z|RO&CROH&%§}EEJ$7§180
HZ{ZEHR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B IS SRR MY AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

20.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis
of trade debtors based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

BES R EHMERTIE )
R 2 AT

BERSHR  HERAHPEI LR
R 2 EUWARR 2 R DTN T ¢

2025 2024

—E-EHF —EOF

HKS’000 HKS'000

FET FET

1 - 30 days 1%£30H 14,194 21,858
31 - 60 days 31E60H 2,697 5,749
61 - 90 days 61290H 11,985 7,254
Over 90 days 90H K 1,108 11,974
29,984 46,835

As at 31 March 2025, included in the Group's trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$8,133,000 (2024:
HKS$5,344,000) which are past due as at the reporting
date. Out of the past due balances, HK$99,000 (2024:
HK$1,234,000) has been past due 90 days or more and
is not considered as in default. With reference to the
historical records, past experience and also available
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information
to those customers, the directors of the Company do not
consider these receivables as credit-impaired as these
customers have a good business relationship with the
Group and recurring overdue records of these customers
with satisfactory settlement history.

Included in prepayments, prepayment of inventories
of approximately HK$18,674,000 (2024: Nil) is related to
Healthcare Products Business, which are expected to be
realised within one year as at 31 March 2025.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024
are set out in note 33.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR

RZE-_RF=A=+—H  AEEZ
EHRRFIERERERGEHT - 25
BRI #4258 498,133,000 70 ( — T PO 4F -
5,344,000/ 70 ) Z FEWER X+ i ZRUER
HRBEBHEAE - EalidEst
99,0005 75 ( =B = PU4E : 1,234,000/ 7T)
DEEOBEEIA L - BW B AELD o
KBEZEXFPHNELZHE AL
BUARATESHNSEMEKRIEREEE
B RARBEEFL IR AZERWGIA
BEHREERE  RAAZERFER
SEERREEBHEE  BZEEFPH
B B SR AR N R SO 8RR AR o

W-_ZE-_RAE=A=+—8 - BNZEA
P E TR IEA18,674,0008 T( =
TONF - E\BEREBERESER B
HIN—FERNEIR -

BE_Z-_hAER-_T-_NE=/A=+
—BIFE - E5REMEWTIARR
ERHEF B EH R M 5E33 »



21.

22.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group entered into banking
facilities agreements with the amount in aggregate up
to approximately HK$7,800,000 (2024: HK$20,000,000).
Bank deposits of HKS$4,000,000 (2024: HK$9,000,000) was
pledged to secure the facilities as at 31 March 2025.

The pledged bank deposits carry interest rates with 0.4%
(2024: from 1.0% to 4.2%) per annum.

Details of impairment assessment of pledged bank
deposits are set out in note 33.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits
and short term deposits for the purpose of meeting the
Group’s short term cash commitments.

As at 31 March 2025, bank balances of approximately
HK$27,172,000 (2024: HKS$25,105,000), HK$64,875,000
(2024: HK$2,561,000), HK$21,000 (2024: HK$36,000) and
HKS$5,000 (2024: HK$17,000) are amounts denominated
in HKD, Japanese Yen ("JPY”), USD and Renminbi ("RMB")
respectively, the currencies other than the functional
currencies of the respective group entities.

The bank balances carry interest rates with a range from
0.019% to 0.39% (2024: 0.10% to 4.30%).

Details of impairment assessment of cash and cash
equivalents are set out in note 33.

21.

22.

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

B FRITIFR
RZB_FAF=A= + B A&H
AIVIRTTRERZ 2B EReOR

7800000/%71(_§ mi 20,000,000
Br) R-_ZET-_HAF=A=+—8 -
R 1717 4,000,000/ 7o( —F — U 4 :
9,000,000/ 70 ) EEHE R - LUK ZE R
iéio
BEFIRITERIZ04% (ZFE O 4F
1.0%E4.2%) M EFIEETE ©

EEBRITHF R AR ER G F B
733 °

RERREEEY
RekReEFEYERARREAEE

RER S BRI ERREIFER

RZE_RAF=ZA=+—H  BHY
27,172,000 75 ( ZZF = Y4 : 25,105,000
BIT) ~ 648750008 L( —F — Q4 ¢
2,561,0007& 7T ) ~ 21,0008 7o( —F — [
F 136,000/ 7T ) K&50008 L (ZZF =M
F 17,0008 70) 2 RITE R D BIAE
7T~ HE - EXRARERE - MAEH
BEEGEREETRB 2 NRER o

RITEBRIEN F001%2039% (ZE M
F 1 0.10%E4.30%) FRT B o

Re B EEVRRENGEFBHR
Bff5E33 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

23. TRADEAND OTHERPAYABLESAND 23. EZRHEMENSREBEUREFE
ACCRUALS H

2025 2024

—E-RE —E g

HKS’000 HKS'000

FET FET

Trade payables =) ANE/ O 17,451 32,880

Accrued staff costs JEET B TN 1,152 1,163

Accrued expenses FEET RS 8,645 9,020

Other payables E b e 508 4,552 9,021

31,800 52,084

MT%#%%%X@W% = HHfE Y 2

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of
reporting period.

B 5 RNFIRNRER DM

2025 2024

—E-EHF —E-NF

HKS$’000 HKS'000

FET FET

1-30 days 1£30H 5,590 17,957
- 60 days 31260H 1,303 10,619

61 — 90 days 61290H 5,313 1,190
Over 90 days 90H K 5,245 3,114
17,451 32,880

The credit period ranges from 30 to 45 days. The Group
has financial risk management policies in place to ensure
that all payables are within the credit timeframe.

Trade and other payables of approximately HK$5,959,000
(2024: HKS2,926,000) were denominated in RMB against
USD as at 31 March 2025, the currency other than the
functional currencies of the respective group entities.

218 EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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EEHN T30F458 - REBEH T
BRBREERE - LABRAENKE
REAZ A o

RZZE-_RAF=ZA=+—8 " BHY
5,959,000/ 7T ( =& Z 4 : 2,926,000
TTIZBSRE WEH/TAIELM\E%R%
TLEHE - MEBEBEKIIEZEBETRE Y
DIee g o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025

24. LEASE LIABILITIES

BHE—_T—

24, HHEEE

TF=A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—E-hF —ETF
HKS’000 HKS000
FET FHET
Within one year —F RN 2,617 2,606
Within a period of more than one R —FETERAMTR
year but less than two years HIE A 751 1,512
Within a period of more than two BAREENERRTERN
years but less than five years HAE A 417 =
3,785 4,118
Less: Amount due for settlement B RSB EEE TR
with 12 months shown under &8 A RN EIHR(EE FKIE
current liabilities (2,617) (2,606)
Amount due for settlement after 12 RIERB A EE T 7/REY12(E
months shown under non-current Rig 2| BB IE TR
liabilities 1,168 1,512
Lease liabilities that are denominated in currencies other AHEEEEER 2 EX AINEEET
than the functional currencies of the relevant group BExHEBEHIIWT -
entities are set out below:
2025 2024
—E-REF T OF
HKS’000 HKS'000
FET FHET
Denominated at HK$ against USD LB TT R ETTEHE 970 2,051
The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities HMEABRMMIESERFENF31%

range from 3.1% to 8.1% (2024: from 3.7% to 8.1%). £81%(ZFZMUF : 37%E8.1%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 25. EHAEE

2025 2024
—EZHF —E_NF
HKS’000 HKS000
FHT FET

Contract liabilities from trading of REREEMEZHNEH
apparel products aE 209 216

Contract liabilities from trading of RERBREREZH

healthcare products YOIV 293 822

Contract liabilities from provision of IRO 2K B H2 #IRO & CROARTE &Y
and CRO services BHBE 10,167 2,231
10,669 3,269

As at 1 April 2023, there are contract liability amounted to
approximately HK$5,648,000.

Contract liabilities are classified as current liabilities
because the Group expects to settle them within 12
months after the end of the reporting period.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

When the Group receives a deposit before the garment
and healthcare products delivery, this will give rise to
contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the
revenue recognised on the specific contract exceeds the
amount of the deposit. The Group receives a 5% to 10%
deposit on acceptance of orders for trading of garment
and healthcare products from certain customers.

When the Group receives a deposit before the completion
of milestones under provision of IRO and CRO services,
this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a
contract, until the revenue recognised on the specific
contract exceeds the amount of the deposit. The Group
receives a 10% to 20% deposit on from certain customers
when the contract for healthcare services signed.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR

NZEBE-_=FWA—H A48 ELHE
% /55,648,00078 T ©

BHRESBEARBERE H RRARARS
BEMNGERRR T —_EARENSE
WAIE -

HERRENABSHRELRZEN R
STRHEFRAT

EAKBRIRE MAREE @52
e AR ENRRBELESNE
E > BEERBEESNBIANKDBBET
LR c ARERBETEPWEIRE
KAREZEME 5 R ERUEN%E 10%H]
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B ARE BRI MHIRO R CROBIGHETR T
AT EIET € + B iSR& NG E
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25.

26.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-_ZT-_AF=A=1t—HILHFE

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 25. SREE®
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRITHRAFEERNW SR - 5
recognised in the current year relates to carried-forward REBENEE -

contract liabilities.

HKS'000
TF#ET
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE-—ZT_hF=A=+—HLEE
Revenue recognised that was included in the FAFVIENBEERNEER RS
contract liabilities balance at the beginning of
the year 3,269
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE-Z-_MEF=A=+—-HLFE
Revenue recognised that was included in the FFAFYE N B EERNE RS
contract liabilities balance at the beginning of
the year 5,648

AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES/ 26. FEREE S SR&XERAT ¥

ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY/NON- PR R ER FE

CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(a) Amounts due to related parties (a) EFABEBARE
Except from the amounts due to related parties of B B 7E 38(b) % 5% 2 JE < B BSt 5 X
HK$51,281,000 (2024: HK$56,434,000) as disclosed TH 51,281,000/ T( —ZF M4 :
in note 38(b), the remaining balances due to 56,434,000/ 7)1 - 82 TR 8
related parties (which are fellow subsidiaries of the BARAEEBETRRWEAR
Group) are unsecured, interest free and repayable A HRIEH AEET RERIZE
on demand. SKIE® o

(b)  Amount due to ultimate holding company (b) EABRLERATNRE
At 31 March 2024, amount due to ultimate holding RZE-_WNE=ZA=+—H ' &
company of HK$40,471,000 is unsecured, carried at I~ Fx R IR A B FRIE 40,471,000
fixed interest rate of 1.4% per annum and repayable TC AR W 12 [ 7E F F &1 .4%
on 30 September 2024. The remaining balance is FERERZZE-_MFEFLA=T
unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. AERE - RBAUAAEER - 28

R BNREE -

(c)  Amount due to non-controlling interests () FEEERERFE
At 31 March 2025, except for HK$29,987,000 (2024 RZE_RAF=A=+—80 " kK
HK$50,204,000) of amount due to non-controlling HIWE A TEBMNSAREED
interests that is carried at FVTPL in relation to B JRE 1<F 3F 122 PR e 43 5K T 29,987,000
contingent consideration for acquisition of Taiga (=& Z Y4 : 50,204,000 7T )
Group, the remaining balance is unsecured, interest TR AHEF ABRIN - BREEH
free and repayable on demand. REEA RERIRERERER -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025
2024/2025 F3;

221



222

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B IS SRR MY AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

27.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees in Hong Kong under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is
a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HKS$1,500 (2024: HKS1,500). Contributions to the
plan vest immediately.

There were no forfeited contributions utilised by the
Group to reduce the existing level of contributions under
the Group’s MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
and Japan are members of the state-managed retirement
benefit schemes operated by the respective government.
The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC and Japan are
required to contribute a certain percentage of their
employees’ payroll to the retirement benefit schemes to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
required contributions under the schemes. The Group
has no legal constructive obligations to pay further
contributions.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR

27. EERKEF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. DEFERRED TAX

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

28. EEFIE

2025 2024

—E-RE —E-E

HKS’000 HKS000

FHET FET

Deferred tax liabilities BERIERE 12,409 34,957

The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the
movements during the year are as follows:

R M BRRKERZEERARE
E’JE&E‘B > REFEREBMT

Intangible assets

BREEAE

HKS000

TETT

At 1 April 2023 RZE_=FMHA—H -

Arising on a acquisition of a subsidiary WHEHIE A RIFTE A 37,015

Credited to profit or loss KRBT A (1,317)

Exchange difference ME H, 3B (741)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZE-_NF=ZA=+—HK

—ZE_MFEMmMA—H 34,957

Credited to profit or loss RiBEETA (1,575)

Disposal of subsidiaries HERB AT (21,033)

Exchange difference M 5, 58 B 60

At 31 March 2025 R-ZB-HF=A=+—H 12,409

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of cumulative tax losses of HK$30,548,000
(2024: HKS187,627,000) as it is not probable that future
taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised
will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and
entity. The cumulative tax losses of HK$27,832,000
(2024: HK$168,780,000) will expire at various dates up
to and including year 2035 and HKS$2,716,000 (2024:
HK$18,847,000) do not expire under current tax legislation.

ﬁgllﬂﬁ‘f%ﬁ%ﬂlﬁ)ﬁﬂ@ﬁﬁw i.%/:[':
18 & FE 4930,548,000/8 T ( — B — P 4F :

187,627,000%7T) + JThEAN A B IBRE
ERREEABTKAIES BRI GF
AT EEE - BIBRITRIGER -

/\uﬁﬂlﬁﬁéﬂay832000/%75(_9E |
F 1 168,780,000 L) BN —E =R F (£
EZF) 2 TR BRI - ﬁﬁ2,716,000/a
TT(ZZ P04 : 18,847,000/8 7T ) BT &
FIHf o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

28. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 28, EIEBIE(H)
At 31 March 2025, temporary differences relating to ’EA_ ZT_hFE=ZRA=+—H KB
the undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted to RAEIZARD K EMEABOERER B
HK$11,056,000 (2024: HK$13,457,000). Deferred tax 11,056,000 7t ( Z & Z I £ : 13,457,000
liabilities of HK$1,824,000 (2024: HK$2,220,000) have BIL)  AEBIY AR D KZFREA
not been recognised in respect of the tax that would i AN T E Y Bt I8 B SRR ukfﬁlﬁﬁﬁ
be payable on the distribution of these retained profits 1,824,000/ 7T( ZF Z MU 4F : 2,220,000/
as the Company controls the dividend policy of these 7T) * TTERA AR A EHZENE AR
subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is probable HAREE - WEFEZZ&ME R
that these profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable RRAEIEHIK ©
future.
29. BANK BORROWINGS 29. RITHEE
2025 2024
—E-RF —EoNEF
HK$’000 HKS000
FET FHET
The borrowings are repayable as BEARNIANEE
follows:
On demand or within one year (shown ZERRKR —FREE
under current liabilities) (RREBEETYIR) 2,897 7,335
Bank borrowings are arranged at fixed interest rate at 5.5% R-_ZE-_HFE=HF=+—H ' TEE
(2024: 6.4% to 7%) as at 31 March 2025. 1255% (ZFZMMF : 64%ZE7%) 8 EE
FIES 2. -
As at 31 March 2025, the bank borrowings are secured N-_E-_RAF=R=+—H ' BTEE
by the pledged bank deposits of HK4,000,000 (2024: PAE 3R 1717 204,000,000 T ( = &E =
HK$9,000,000) as disclosed in note 21. P94 : 9,000,0007% 7T ) VEHE #R (FA BT 3E 21
BEE) -
Bank borrowings of approximately HK$2,897,000 (2024 R-_ZE-_FHFFE=HF=+—H ' $f17EE
HK$6,575,000) were denominated in HKS$ against USD as 492,897,000/ 7T ( — & —PU4F : 6,575, OOO
at 31 March 2025, the currency other than the functional BI)AEBE TR ET(AEEEIIES
currency of the respective group entities. BEE e EE)EHE o
EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. A
Details of movements of share capital of the Company are KRB ZBRAEEFBOT -
as follows:
Number of
shares Share capital
KRG EE [N
HKS000
T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each  ERREE0.01E L2 EEAR
Authorised: JEE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024,1 RZZ-_=FPMA—AH -~
April 2024 and 31 March 2025 :%?_EE_H =t+—H"
“TOMFRA—BR
—E-RF=A=+—H 1,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: EZFTRHE -
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and R-ZE-=FmMA—H -
1 April 2024 —ECWFE=A=+t—HK
—ZE-FIPA—H 500,000,000 5,000
Issue of new shares under RBRRB R ETEIR (M)
subscription agreement (note) 22177419 222
At 31 March 2025 R_ZE_RAF=A=+—H 522,177,419 5,222
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive ETRRFEAGBRBBRAREIR 2K
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled B MEBRFHE —REROAIRAARKRER
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ARG LR —F - MBEEEREARRAF
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s HREERRHZER SR -
residual assets.
Note: Miet -
On 22 April 2024, 22,177,419 new ordinary shares were allotted RZZEZWMFMNB=+=H 22,177 4190%%
and issued to the subscribers at a subscription price of HK$0.992 EBREILFAR0992B T RIB[E L8 K B
per share. Details of which are set out in the Company’s T‘_H_"f A BEFBEHRAARBHAE S
announcements dated 9 April 2024 and 22 April 2024. ZFEMANBRZENENA Z+=
E| E/J/\:l: °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B IS SRR MY AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_NF=A=+—HIEEE

31.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the
‘Scheme”) on 31 May 2017. The primary purpose of the
Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to eligible
employees and other selected participants as specified
under the Scheme.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group must not exceed 30%
of the issued share capital of the Company from time to
time. The total number of shares which may be allotted
and issued upon exercise of all options (excluding, for
this purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group) to be granted under the Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue at the
time dealings in the Shares first commence on the Stock
Exchange, without prior approval from the Shareholders.
The Company may, subject to the issue of a circular, the
Shareholders” approval in general meeting and/or such
other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules,
refresh this limit at any time to 10% of the total number of
shares in issue as at the date of the Shareholders’ approval.
The total number of shares issued and which may fall to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted under
the Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group to each participant in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company
for the time being, without prior approval from the
Shareholders. Options granted to substantial shareholders
or independent non-executive directors or any of their
respective associates as defined under the Scheme which
would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options under the Scheme already granted
and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant represent in
aggregate in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s issued share
capital and with an aggregate value in excess of HKS$5.0
million must be approved in advance by the Shareholders.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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31.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days of
the date of the offer of grant of the option. A nominal
consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the
grant of an option.

Options may be exercised at any time from the date of
acceptance of the share option to such date as determined
by the directors but in any event not exceeding 10 years.
The exercise price is determined by the directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets on the date of the offer of grant, which must be a
business day; (i) the average closing price of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of
the offer of grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal value
of a share.

On 28 February 2025, the Company granted share options
to employees of the Group to subscribe for a total of
5,600,000 Shares under the Scheme. The exercise period of
the options is 3 years from the date of grant of the options
subject to the vesting schedule. The share options granted
shall vest in six tranches of approximately 16%, 16%, 16%,
16%, 16% and 20% on 28 February 2025, 28 August 2025,
28 February 2026, 28 August 2026, 28 February 2027 and
28 August 2027, respectively.

31.

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

URGBBEBRZARRS @)

BREANREREBRESZ OB R
QB REES - EAREBRER RN

ZHEREB1.00BTT °

BREANBEREEZAAREEES
EENEREAM(EERWM BRI
F)RBERITE - THEEHEFETE -
HEAJEROEORIRELENBHR(ER
SRB)EBRMERRERMMBRAOKD
B (WBRONERREREBREZY
BHAERS AEBRZAEERER
PrEREyF M E - RGP EENK
mE e

RZE-_RF_A=-+N\B ' AQFR
T§u+iuﬁ$$IE,\&HjB%Hﬂ%LA‘{%Eﬁ
& 5,600,000 A% 17 o BERR#E 2 1715 B
AEBERERTY AHET=F  WAX
SEETEAMR - FIRH 2 BRERLY
16% ~ 16% ~ 16% ~ 16%  16% 2 20% K]
Al SO RR —_E_RAF_A = +

NE - ZT-FAFNAZ+/N\H -
“RFEZAZF+NA - _7_/\¢)\H
—+N\B  ZEZ+F_AZ+N\BXK
“TAHFNAZTN\RRE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025
2024/2025 F3;

227



228

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B IS SRR MY AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

31.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 31.
(CONTINUED)

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted was
estimated as at the date of grant, using a Binomial model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted and the following inputs to the
model:

URGBEBRZARRS (@)

Rz AaEE 2 BRENRFETD
REH B HRA B EEEL G
at o WEE MR B BE TR Z R
KAt - TREFIREPIRAB ZBAHK
&

Fair value (HKS) NFEEGET) 0.21
Exercise price (HK$) ITEE BT 0.60
Share price at the date of grant (HKS) R A B2 IRE(ETT) 0.49
Dividend yield (%) 5% BB 7 K (%) =
Expected volatility (%) T‘E,HH&VPE %) 72.99
Risk-free interest rate (%) fe F1) 2= (%) 3.18
Expected life of options (years) Tﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂxﬁéi,ﬁﬁ(i) 3.00

The expected life of the options is based on the
contractual life and is not necessarily indicative of the
exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is
indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily
be the actual outcome.

The fair value of the share options granted on 28 February
2025 was HKS$1,197,000. The fair value per option granted
was approximately to HK$0.21. The Group recognised the
share-based payment expense of HK$266,000 during the
year ended 31 March 2025.

As at 31 March 2025, the number of options which may
be granted under the scheme was 44,400,000 (2024:
50,000,000). The Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years commencing on the date on which the
Scheme is adopted.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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BREEMFHIRIESNFHET -

RBRBAIRER IR 2 TTEENIER - B

5&@&@%7?&5&@%%%%%%%2@
C HARBAERER

RZZE-_AF-_A=-+N\B ERLZ
BEARER A FEEA1,197,0008 7T - BH
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HE_Z-_AF=-A=+—HILEFE -
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RZZE_RAF=ZA=+—8 ' BIET2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has outstanding
amounts due to related parties as disclosed in note 38(b)
amounting to HK$51,281,000 (2024: HK$56,434,000) and
bank borrowings of HK$2,897,000 (2024: HK$7,335,000)
(note 29).

32.

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

EXREBER

AEBEBREANTIEBNRREARE
BRELEMEE N  EEBUEREESB
BRRKFETERMRBEEBRAS
ERARGRE @ ARREHEHRLR
HAp#rnE H R

AEEREBLEHHEARBETRS
REE - AEFRAEBREEKTH
ﬁ%ﬁ&%@i&éﬁiiﬂﬂ’]§$ﬂkﬁﬁf?ﬁﬂ’]

4 BE S (RIE 2 FRIR #5571 - 3 R R AE
ARNE BB EARIIBIEL R o

R_E-_RAF=ZA=+—8 ' A5EH
RIEE BT RAEE 75 518 4951,281,0007%8
75<_iE P4 : 56,434,0005 7T) (BT aE

b)) K R1T & 2,897,000/ T (—ZE =
mi : 7,335,000/ 70 ) (B$5E29) ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025
2024/2025 F3;

229



230

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 33. @I H
Categories of financial instruments @I AZER
2025 2024
—E-REF —E g
HKS’000 HKS000
FET FET
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFABZZeBMEE 260 2977
Financial assets at amortised cost HEEN AT EC S REE 184,896 189,270
Financial liabilities o= =N
Financial liabilities ar amortised cost IR EK A EZ B E 104,084 185,094
Financial liabilities at FVTPL EATEFAEBEGCCRBE 29,991 50,204

The Group's major financial instruments include financial
assets at FVTPL, trade and other receivables, pledged
bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
payables, amounts due to ultimate holding company,
related parties and non-controlling interests and lease
liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risk associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (interest
rate risk and currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The directors of the Company manage and monitor
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in HKS, which is the Company’s presentation
currency and functional currency.

Several subsidiaries of the Group have foreign
currency sales and purchases, which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. In addition, certain
bank balances, trade payables, lease liabilities and
bank borrowings of the Group are denominated in
HKS, RMB, USD and JPY, the currencies other than
the functional currency of the respective group
entities as disclosed in notes 22, 23, 24 and 29
respectively.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The
Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Since the exchange rate of HKS is pegged with
USD, the Group does not expect any significant
movements in the USD/HKS exchange rates.

The Group’s exposure to currency risk to RMB
and JPY is not significant and hence no sensitivity
analysis is presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_NF=A=+—HIEEE

33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from
cash at bank, pledged bank deposits, lease liabilities,
amounts due to related parties and amount due to
ultimate holding company as at 31 March 2025 and
2024,

Lease liabilities, amount due to ultimate holding
company, amounts due to related parties and bank
borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk as at 31 March 2025 and
2024,

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk is not
significant and hence no sensitivity analysis is
presented.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from cash and cash equivalents and bills receivable
is limited because the counterparties are banks and
financial institutions with high credit rating.
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33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from
contracts with customers

To minimise the credit risk, the directors of the Company
have delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any
new customer, the Group uses the credit risk management
policy to assess the potential customer’s credit quality
and defines credit limits by customers. These evaluations
are referenced to the repayment histories for recurring
customers, current past due exposure for the new
customers and the economic environment in which the
customers operate. The contract assets have substantially
the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for
the same type of contracts.

The Group has significant concentration of credit risk in
industries or countries in which the customers operate.
Significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise
when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers At the end of the reporting period, 24% (2024:

11%) and 58% (2024: 38%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group’s largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively within the garment
segment.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group
used an internal credit rating by assigning loss rates to
its trade receivables. The estimated loss rates are based
on the aging of trade receivables as well as historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_T_AF=-"A=1t—HILFE

33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from
contracts with customers (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group's historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance is not further distinguished
between the Group's different customer bases.

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 12 months. These rates are adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions during
the period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group's view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

The directors of the Company believe that there is no
material credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding
balance of trade receivables and contract assets. The
Group assessed the ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets were immaterial. Thus no loss allowance was
recognised.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of the
Company make individual assessment on other receivables
and deposits based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. The directors of the Company believe
that there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group's
outstanding balance of other receivables and deposits.
The Group assessed the ECL for other receivables and
deposits were immaterial. Thus, no loss allowance was
recognised.
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33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Pledged bank deposits/Cash and cash equivalents

The Group only transacts with reputable banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies and therefore the directors of the Company
consider the risk of default is low. The Group uses
12-month ECL to perform the assessment under ECL on
pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents
individually based on the average loss rate by reference
to credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies. The Group assessed the ECL for pledged bank
deposits and cash and cash equivalents were immaterial.
Thus, no loss allowance was recognised.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The following tables show the remaining Group’s
contractual maturities for its financial liabilities and lease
liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments computed using contractual
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of
the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can
be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from prevailing market
rate at the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-—ZT-_AF=A=1t—HILHFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 33. EMIAEM®W
Financial risk management objectives and policies MERREEBERBE(E)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) TEEZE R ()
Liquidity tables REBE XK
Weighted On
average  demand Total Carrying

effective orwithin 3months 1yearto 2yearsto  Over5 undiscounted amount at 31
interestrate  3months to1year  2years  5years years  cashflows March 2025
ZECif

nEYsy BEkY Z@AE  -FE WEE AEERE =A=t-H
ERAZ A -E AE BE BBRF  REER  BEE

% HKS000  HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000

% TEr TErx FEr TEr TEx FER FEn

2025 k- S 3
Trade and other payables BERAMERFE  NATER 22003 - - - - 2,003 2,003
Amounts due to related parties JEfIRH 3R 1308 14779 4552 53870 - - 73,201 65,315
Amount due to non-controlling interests FERFERRERTE  NATER 10,084 - - - - 10,084 10,084
Secured bank borrowings BERRORE 549 2897 - - - - 2,897 2,897
Lease liabilities HEAR 5.57 776 1,952 75 m - 3,925 3,785
50,539 6,504 54,645 422 - 112,110 104,084
Weighted On
average  demand or Total Carrying
effective within -~ 3months  Tyearto  2yearsto  Over5  undiscounted  amount at 31
interestrate ~ Imonths  toTyear  2years  5years years cashflows — March 2024
it 112
Mg RERE ZERE 2 mEER KBRS A=A
ERAE  =EAR —F mE I BRLE  RELE  (BEE
% - HKSOOO - HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSOO0 HiKS 000 HKS 000
¥ TEr TEr TEr TEn  TEn 7 AT
2024 it 1.3
Trade and other payables BHRAMERTE  NANER 490 - = - - 41,901 41,901
Amounts due to related parties B3R NARER 35000 435 - - ) 7859% 78360
Amount due to non-controlling interests  EFTFEERERZE  NATER - T8 = = = 11759 11759
Secured bank borrowings BERRES 688 7335 = = = = 7335 7335
Amount due to ultimate holding EfgA R
company E 140 5268 433 - - - 48572 45739
Lease liabiltes BERE 720 08 199 155 - - 4363 4118
90312 100,656 1556 - - 192,524 189212
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33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liguidity tables (Continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause as
at 31 March 2025 are include in the “on demand” time
band in the above maturity analysis. The carrying amount
of the bank borrowings amounted to HK$2,897,000 as at
31 March 2025 (2024: HKS$7,335,000). Taking into account
the Group’s financial position and assets pledged for the
bank borrowings, the directors of the Company do not
believe that it is probable that the financial institutions
would exercise the discretionary rights to demand
immediate payment. As at 31 March 2025, the directors
of the Company believed that such borrowings will be
repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreements. The aggregate principal
and interest cash outflows amounted to HK$2,914,000 as
at 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$7,487,000)and the amount
will be repaid within one year.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair value of financial asset.

Financial assets measured at fair value

The management of the Company is responsible to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and key
inputs for fair value measurements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_NF=A=+—HIEEE
33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
(Continued)

Financial assets measured at fair value (Continued)

Information about the valuation techniques and key inputs
used in determining the fair value of the financial asset are
disclosed below.

Financial instruments Fair value as at 31 March
SRMIE R+t=-ZB=+—-BzA¥E

2025 2024
—E-RFE —ENE
HKS$’000 HKS000
FET FEr

33.

Fair value
hierarchy

€T EE)
SMIAECATESE®E)

BAFPHEIBZEHMEE ()

FRETeREEATEMANMGED
EREBHABIENEMRN TXHE -

Valuation technique(s)and key
input(s)

DFERH HEFERTEGARE

Other financial assets 260 2,977

HitepEE

Amount due to 29,987 50,204
non-controlling interests

AN C Fap

Amount due to a related party 4 -

FE{ B D7 TUOR

238 EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIE@RHZ SE@BER AR

Level 3

F=R

Level 3

Level 3

Asset-based approach with adjusted
net asset values as key unobservable
input
WERBEEFERTENITHES
ANBAREEE

(i) actual and projected profits interests
before interests, taxes, depreciation
and amortisation of Taiga Group for
three years from 1 April 2023 to 31
March 2026 of HK$58,250,000; and
(ii) projected adjusted Issue price of
HKS$1.00 per share and (iii) market
price of HK$ per share!”
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Probability-weighted method with
income approach by reference to
the present value of the discounted
cash flows model to be derived from
the future cash flow, based on an
appropriate discount rate?”
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33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
(Continued)

Financial assets measured at fair value (Continued)

Notes:

M

The actual and projected profits before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation of Taiga Group are key
unobservable input. A 5% increase/decrease in the actual
and projected profits before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortization holding all other variables constant
would increase/increase the fair value of amount due to
non-controlling interests by HK$550,000.

The actual and projected profits before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation of Speed Apparel (BVI)
Limited and its subsidiaries is key unobservable input. A
5% increase/decrease in the actual and projected profits
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation
holding all other variables constant would increase/
increase the fair value of amount due to a related party
by HK$3,000.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

33. €I A
SRMIAZATEHNE(E)

BAFPHEBZEHMEE ()

Hfet

M

KUEBRNMBFE « B - E
FEEMERETEN RN AEER
AR AT o RMBRAE -~ &
IH - TE REHEATAERR R TE RS F
B, W Aswmpra i EEEET
& o B fEfS IR AR RS BB MY A B
1512 hn, 74> 550,0008 7T

Speed Apparel (BVI) Limited 5 £ fft
NAIRMBRHE - BB - & REH
AR ERRBAGEFN AEETAIHR
BABUER o RIBRFIE - BiIE - TE
R S8 AT RO B B I BRI 138 o0, R
oo e B S T E - BIE
TEAR 7 SRIEM A EE R i‘i][l//ﬂi”\
3,000/7T °

FB=RAFHETEBHH K

Amount Amount

Other  due to non- due to

financial ~ controlling a related

assets interests party

Hfth  FERIEEERR &L

TREE HERIE BT IR

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

FET FET FEIT

At 1 April 2023 A :_EEH H 2,977 = =

Acquisition of subsidiaries BB A = 66,263 -
Fair value change recognised in profit E’\\\TEEWEE:WE'] N

or loss & - (16,059) =

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZE-_WE=A=+—H

NZ_Z_MFEMNA—H 2,977 50,204 -

Additions NE 260 - -

Disposal of subsidiaries HENE R A (2,977) = =
Fair value change recognised in profit R8s RNHERH A FE

or loss EE - (20,217) 4

At 31 March 2025 RZE-_RF=A=+—H 260 29,987 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

HE—

33.

34.

F-RE=A=t—ALEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
(Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements
(Continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the
end of the reporting period in which they occur.

The fair value change arising from the remeasurement of the
other financial assets and amount due to non-controlling
interests measured at FVTPL are presented in the “Other
income, gains and losses” line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Fair value of financial assets carried at other than
fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments
carried at amortised cost were not materially different
from their fair values as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Disposal of EPS Innovative Medicine (Hong
Kong) Limited (“EPS Innovative”) and its
subsidiaries (“Disposal Group”)

On 19 February 2025, (i) the Company conditionally
agreed to sell, and EPS Holdings, Inc,, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, conditionally agreed
to acquire the entire issued share capital of EPS
Innovative, at a consideration of JPY1.00; and (i) the
Company also conditionally agreed to sell or procure
to sell, and EPS Holdings, Inc. conditionally agreed
to purchase the sale loans for a consideration of
JPY1,250,000,000. The transaction was completed on
31 March 2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

Disposal of EPS Innovative Medicine (Hong
Kong) Limited (“EPS Innovative”) and its
subsidiaries (“Disposal Group”) (Continued)

The respective amounts of assets and liabilities of
the Disposal Group on the relevant date of disposal
were as follows:

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-_ZT-_AF=A=1t—HILHFE

34. HEMBAT W)

(@) H £ EPS Innovative Medicine
(Hong Kong) Limited ([EPS
Innovative |) X H [t B A A ([ K
E58 ) (&)

HESENERELE R HaiE
BENMBESBWT

HKS000

FET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost: % EZ4IENEEREEINNT:
Property, plant and equipment nE - BERZE 33
Other financial assets HivoREE 2977
Intangible assets BVEE 70,204
Goodwill HE 11,549
Trade and other receivables 8 5 R E R UGIE 6,839
Amounts due from related parties JE i BB 7 20R 6,759
Cash and cash equivalents Be MReEEY 7,516
Trade and other payables and accruals E%&ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁ%&%ﬁ%ﬁ (2,068)
Amounts due to related parties JEf RS 5 2R (362)
Amount due to ultimate holding company ERN R ER N RIFIE (87,699)
Tax payables ,mﬁ%ﬁilﬁi (286)
Deferred tax liabilities EXEREEE (21,033)
Net liabilities disposed of EHENREFE (5571)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBATEEN RS
Consideration received BUEEIKE 63,958
Net liabilities disposed of BHENAETE 5,571
Sale loans disposed of Eﬁﬁﬂ'ﬁﬁ%%m (63,980)
Non-controlling interests RS 22,666
Reclassification of cumulative exchange reserve EMOBRRELHEE 1822
Reclassification of other reserve ENOBEMEE 3,267

33,304
Net cash inflow arising on disposal of subsidiaries: HEKBARELENRERATE:
Cash consideration received BRERRERE 63,958
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of B ENENRERREEEY (7,516)

56,442

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025 9/ ]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_NF=A=+—HIEEE

34. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Disposal of EPS Medical Consultancy (Japan)
Limited (“Disposal Company”)

On 2 October 2024, the Group entered into the sale
and purchase agreement with EPS Holdings, Inc, a
controlling shareholder of the Company, to dispose
of all its 100% equity interest of the Disposal
Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group
which is principally engaged in the provision of
IRO services. The consideration in respect of the
disposal is JPY1.00 in cash.

The respective amounts of assets and liabilities
of the Disposal Company on the relevant date of

34.

HEMBE Qa4

(b)

i € EPS Medical Consultancy
(Japan) Limited([ HE 2R ])

RZZE_MFEF+HAZH  ~&E
EAEPS Holdings, Inc. (B R B Ay
RIRR)FTZEE W= - WHER
E@Hﬂ%’&ﬁ(ﬁ$§%ﬁ'\]’£\§5ﬁ%
ﬂ T 2RERMBIROIRK) B
TEIR AR c HEFHZRE
z%fﬁﬁrooa 2

HEARNER L E A a0 1E R
BENMABESBWT

disposal were as follows:

HKS000
FET

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost: X E=Z4IENEEREEINAT:
Contract assets BREE 1674
Trade and other receivables E%&ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁl 4273
Amounts due from related parties FE W BB 7 50 IR 949
Cash and cash equivalents fﬁ%&fﬁé\#fﬁi% \ 1637
Trade and other payables and accruals E%&ﬁ@ﬁéﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁ%&ﬁﬁf%ﬁ (1,103)
Contract liabilities BNEE (217)
Amounts due to related parties FH RAES R (14,019)
Amount due to ultimate holding company JE{T Bt 1% HRATAIE (2431)
Tax payable FERHIE 9)
Net liabilities disposed of EHENREFE (9,246)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMB A REENKE

Consideration received EWH}(WRE _ -
Net liabilities disposed of EHENBETE 9,246
Reclassification of cumulative exchange reserve BN BERGELREE 697
9,943

Net cash outflow arising on disposal of a subsidiary: HEMNBLARNEENRSRILFE:
Cash consideration received EURNRERE =
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of W EHENRE KA EED (1,637)
(1,637)

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

35.

AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The following list contains only the particulars of
subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets or
liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary
unless otherwise stated.

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

TEEW%’AE&?FEHHE%Z%
B

TREFHAEEXSE  BEEXBE
BEATENMBRRNGFE - B3
S - BT RIS e AR

Proportion of ownership interest

FEEREL A
Issued and paid Group's Held Held
Place of Place of up share capital/ effective by the bya Principal
Name of subsidiaries incorporation  operation registered capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  activities
WEARER ARmIEs SEwH BRATRAR 5@ AhE -AWE IERE
BE/HRER  RBEE  BE  0WRA
Knit World International Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% - 100%  Apparel supply chain
Limited HK$4,000,000 management services
Knit World International & B LRR4000000% T 100% - 100%  FREHERERRS
Limited
Speed Apparel (BVI) Limited ~ BVI Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% - Investment holding
Uss101
Speed Apparel (BV) Limited ~ EBRZEE A LERI0ET 100% 100% - RARR
Speed Apparel (HK) Limited ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% - 100%  Apparel supply chain
HKS10,000 management services
HiE(BR)BRA B Bt LRR10000ET 100% - 100%  BREUEEERRS
i R (R ) E%ﬁ The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100% _ 100%  Apparel supply chain
RMB800,000 Management services
RS RN ERERLA HE Gl AMERARY 100% - 100%  fREAEEERRR
800,0007T
Speed Apparel Japan BFIS4t Japan Japan Registered capital 100% - 100%  Design and customers
Japanese Yen account services
("JPY") 5,500,000
Speed Apparel Japan AR2H B AR FHE 455,500,0008 100% - 100% A REPRE
Shanghai EPS Pharmaceutical ~ The PRC The PRC Registered capital 95% - 100%  Development of new
Development Co, Ltd. (18 RMB5,320,944 drugs
AHEEARARLNA)”
LERHBEERERARY HE HE AMERARK 95% - 100%  FEHED
53209447C
Suzhou EPS Tigermed The PRC The PRC Registered capital 51% - 100%  Development of new
Phar maceut\ca\ Techno\ogy RMB9,803,900 drugs
Co, Ltd. BRMEAEIRE
M&ﬁ RAT)
FNAHRREENRAR TE e AMARARE 51% - 100%  FEHMEN
NS 9,803,9007C
Bejjing Global Pharmaceutical ~ The PRC The PRC Registered capital 51% - 100%  Development of new
Research Co, Ltd. (1 % RMB500,000 drugs
HABEREERAR)
TRBHRREHEERAT B Gile AMERARE 51% - 100%  FEHNEN
500,0007C
EP Trading Co, Ltd. (PESE  Japan Japan Registered capital 100% = 100%  Trading of healthcare
(NG ANV ) JPY80,000,000 products
A1)
PESERAR/PPRL— AR AA #1& 4%80,0000008 100% s 100%  REEMZ
T4 T gt
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
—ECRF=A=T—HIFE

EES

35.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 35. T EffBATIRIFIERER 25

AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(CONTINUED)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that have
material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-

controlling interests:

S

160

TREINEBEAFERERHAE
FE2EHBERRRFS

BEEAFEREZNFZEWE AT

i

Incorporation/  Proportion of ownership  Proportion of voting
principal place of  interest held by non- power held by non- Loss allocated to non- Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiaries business  controlling interests controlling interests controlling interests controlling interests
BMAL/  FERREREN FEREREEN
it NGRS IEGEnY Gt 4 3-041] RERLA ARFHERERNER EHEZIL I
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
“E-RE -E-MF CECEHE CEoME CECRE CEZCNF CECRE ZEoNF
HK$'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000
.  TEr  TEn TEn
R&E Corporation Limited® Hong Kong 35% 35% 35% 35% (3,239) (605) 39,523 36,285
Rk ERAR" B
Biotube Japan - 49% - 49% 9,035 1575 - 37,235
Biotube A%
Suzhou EPS Tigermed
Pharmaceutical
Technology Co, Ltd® The PRC 49% 49% 49% 49% 108 1618 1,972 2080
FMERRREENEERATY el
EPD #t 24t Japan - 49% - 4%% 2,652 2781 - (2883)
PD ot @it B
Individually immaterial subsidlaries
with non-controlling interests (234) 299 344 10
[ERTERSERERNEAT
8,322 5,068 41,839 72827

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited

EPS RIEMEEEABRAT




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-_ZT-_AF=A=1t—HILHFE

35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 35. FEMfBATIRIFEZERER 2

AND NON-CONTROLLINGINTERESTS B

(CONTINUED)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that have BEEAFERERNFZEHRBEAR

material non-controlling interests (Continued) F1E(E)

Notes: Htet -

(1) This entity was established as wholly foreign-owned M ZEBRPEBIKY - URINGEE R
enterprise in the PRC. E 30

i

BRAPEKY - YRGS

2) These entities were established as equity joint venture )
enterprises in the PRC.

\;
/!

> 3
e

(3)  The subsidiary of R&E Corporation Limited is Taiga SCM 3) =B ERARNNB AR REE
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd, a company established as wholly HR B K 37 B0 SN P OB B 1 2 KT it FE
foreign-owned enterprise in the PRC. EEORIDAF o

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, KRABEERE  FRINEZERTHE

in opinion of the directors of the Company, principally HASEAFEZEZERETEATE NN

affected the results of the year or formed a substantial BRAEEEEFEEABHZIMELR
portion of the net assets of the Group. All subsidiaries Ao ERVEZFEMBRRIEAER

listed above are limited liability companies. BERAA o

Summarised financial information for the years ended TXAHEERBRNEEMBEERNNEE

31 March 2025 and 2024 in respect of the Taiga Group's —E-RAFERZFENFE=A=+—H

financial information below represents amounts before IEFEZHMBEMRE - HIEEEAR

intragroup eliminations. RIEMEHATEY 258 ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025 Q45
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 35.

TEMNBRARARFERERS ZF

AND NON-CONTROLLINGINTERESTS 16D
(CONTINUED)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that have BREERFEREZNHFZENB AT
material non-controlling interests (Continued) HiE(®E)
Taiga Group A
2025 2024
—E-hF —ToNEF
HK$'009 HKS\’OO_O
FHET FET
Non-current assets FEMBEE 94,712 104,824
Current assets mENEE 49,995 32,638
Current liabilities mBRE (19,392) (19,749)
Non-current liabilities ERBAER (12,409) (14,284)
Total equity R AERE 112,906 103,429
Revenue Yoz i 98,491 91,680
Other income, gains and losses HEapla A~ Uz MEE 1,747 796
Expenses ] (88,641) (87,302)
Income tax expenses F1SHi R < (1,506) (1,769)
Profit for the year F X A 10,091 3,405
Other comprehensive expense for the year FRE AL 2 HE X (838) (1,198)
Total comprehensive income for the year F R EN 4258 9,253 2,207
Profit for the year attributable to AT ALRIEFAEF
— the owner of the Company —ARRANER A 6,559 2,213
- non-controlling interests of Taiga Group — AU =B &) FEIE i 5 3,532 1,192
Profit for the year =SNprg A 10,091 3,405
Other comprehensive expense for the AT ATEEEREAM
year attributable to i\ﬁﬁﬂ -
— the owner of the Company —ZRRRINHEE A (545) (611)
- non-controlling interests of Taiga Group ~ — AJAI £ BRI IEIE R A 25 (293) (587
Other comprehensive expense for the year FARE L 2 HE X (838) (1,198)
Total comprehensive income for the year WA T A TEEFAREME
attributable to ”ﬁlﬁﬁh B
~ the owner of the Company o VNG E’]}'Z’Eﬁ/\ 6,014 1,602
- non-controlling interests of Taiga Group — AU S B A FEIE A A 25 3,239 605
Total comprehensive income for the year F N2 E Nz 4R%E 9,253 2,207
Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating A& Z/EBEAIRE (RH)
activities MAFER (1,629) 6,794
Net cash (outflow) inflow from financing BB EBELIRE(RH)
activities MAERE (1,690) 15
Net cash (outflow) inflow RBe (R mAFE (3,319) 6,809

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

BE_ T -_AF=—A=1T—RHLEE
36. COMMITMENTS 36. &g
Capital commitments outstanding, which is not provided WARTEARE B AAE L B 2 R
for, in the consolidated financial statements were as BAAEWNT
follows:
2025 2024
—E-RHE —EUEF
HK$’000 HKS\’OO_O
FHET FET
Contracted for E&I4 \ ]
Investments in limited partnership RBEREZLEZIRE - 2,585

37.

As at 31 March 2024, the commitment relates to the
unpaid capital commitment on investment in the limited
partnership included in other financial assets.

RZZE_MF=A=+—H - @RER
EELEZRENASINENAERR
ZHEETF AR MEREE

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 37. REZEFIELEENYER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities Ti‘%%}iﬁu$’$la’]@1:§%@]}ﬁﬁﬁig1ﬁ
arising from financing activities, including both cash HNEBNES DRSS NIER S EH) o
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing MEESELANEBEAR S REN X
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future RIernEeRNANERGSRERER
cash flows will be classified in the Group’s consolidated RS EARES TSRS TENEARE -
statement of cash flows from financing activities.
Amounts Amount due
dueto to ultimate
Lease Bank related holding
liabilities borrowings parties  compan Total
AN J«Eﬁ-%:\ :|:
HESE ROTEE BEIRE RAAX L
HK$000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS ’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-=FMNA—H 2,705 - 91,110 318 94,133
Financing cash flows: MERSRE (3,505) 7,022 (12,294) 46,427 37,650
Finance costs RENA 138 313 2628 - 3079
Addition NE 4,967 - - - 4,967
Exchange difference & 5 508 (187) - (3,084) (1,006) (4,277)
At 31 March 2024 and R-B-ME=B=1+-AR
1 April 2024 “E_NENA-H 4,118 7,335 78,360 45,739 135,552
Financing cash flows: BERSRE : (3,278) (4,856) (8,731) (19,478) (36,343)
Finance costs REBKA 254 418 4,795 398 5,865
Addition ME 2,770 - - - 2,770
Disposals of subsidiaries HERB A - - (6,673) (26,150) (32,823)
Fair value loss on financial BATEFABE 2/E
liabilities at FVTPL VAN 7 - - 4 _ 4
Waiver of amounts due to R IER B A TR
related parties - - (2,136) - (2,136)
Exchange difference 0 5 J5 % (79) - (300) (509) (888)
At 31 March 2025 R-ZB-HEF=A=+-H 3,785 2,897 65,319 - 72,001
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

38. ERBEHBAIRS

(a) Related party transaction (a) BELTRS
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere BRire M BHRREME liﬁtz
in the consolidated financial statements, the Group X%ﬂ\ C RE B EEEE BT
had the following transactions with related parties: THRS -
2025 2024
—E-RF —ZE U4
HKS’000 HKS000
FHT FET
Interest expenses on lease liabilities M F X2 HEEE
paid to a related party (note a) FEFZ (HfizFa) 1,200 1,200
Interest expenses on lease liabilities M&RAIZRH (2 HE
paid to ultimate controlling party ~BE&EF SR (Hitb)
(note b) 690 713
Lease liabilities incurred to a e L < HERRE
related party (note a) (Biata) 970 2,051
Lease liabilities incurred to ultimate BN &AIER AR 2 HE
controlling party (note b) aE(Hatbp) 513 1,144
Administrative expenses and AR A RIS E 2 1T
service cost recharge by ultimate Eﬂﬁ&ﬂlﬁkﬁﬁiﬁ
holding company 6,176 7,677
Administrative expenses recharge B8 75 WER 2 FT U 2
by related parties 9,236 12,916
Revenue to ultimate holding MEREERARS A2
company Wz - 8
Revenue to related parties e BB 5 A 2 Wias 7,619 4423
Purchase from ultimate holding MR A RS
company 110 =
Purchase from related parties m) 28 Bt 7 R B 26,016 19,150
Purchase from non-controlling M IR R e B
interests 65,003 56,747
Notes: Htet -
a. During the year, a subsidiary of the Group a. FR - NEE B A B MFirenze

leased a property from Firenze Apparel Limited
("Firenze”"), a company beneficially owned by Mr.
Chan Wing Kai, who is also a director of Firenze.

b. During the year, a subsidiary of the Group
leased a property from Mr. Yan Hao (controlling
shareholder of ultimate holding company), who is
the ultimate beneficial owner of the property.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR

Apparel Limited ([ Firenze |) 1 A —F7
)2 © Firenze 7% — Al BB R K B SE 4
BEmBEANAT - BOKELETNA
FirenzefEE ©

b. FR '$’§l IR B8 2 Al M B 5
A (RAAE R R A RO AR R ) T A —
s - MECESEERZMENRE
BEGBEAA o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Borrowing and profit guarantee in relation
to a sale and purchase agreement, incentive
agreement and subscription agreement

On 26 April 2021, the controlling interest in the
Group was disposed to EPS Holdings, Inc. by Speed
Development Co. Ltd, the preceding controlling
shareholder of the Company which was controlled
by Mr. Chan Wing Kai (the “Disposal”). Pursuant
to the sale and purchase agreement, Speed
Development Co. Ltd provided profit and revenue
guarantees and Mr. Chan Wing Kai provides
guarantee on the profit and revenue guarantees,
in favour of EPS Holdings, Inc. up to 31 March 2024
(the “Agreement”’). Mr. Chan Wing Kai retains as a
management of the garment business of the Group
after the Disposal and Speed Development Co. Ltd
is considered to be a related party of the Group.

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement,
Speed Apparel (BVI) Limited (“Speed Apparel
BVI"), a subsidiary of the Company, issued to Speed
Development Co. Ltd three interest-free notes (the
“2021 Notes”) with a total principal amount of
HKS$65 million in relation to the profit and revenue
guarantees for the years ended 31 March 2022,
31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024. If the profit or
the revenue is lower than the guaranteed profit
or guaranteed revenue, part or the entire 2021
Notes of the respective year will be waived and
Speed Development Co. Ltd will be obliged to pay
the amount equal to the audited loss after tax of
garment business for the year to the Company.
Speed Development Co. Ltd has also provided a
HKS$35 million interest-free revolving facility to the
Company which is due for repayment on 31 March
2024.

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
 EFT_RF=A=+T—HILFE

38. ERBEEHAIRS &)

(b)

REEWHE  RBHERZREG
2Rz BERBFRE

RZEZ—FMOMAZ=-t+xA -
B 7N £ B | 42 R R &R R PR oK RR
o A P ) B AN A B) BT R IR R R
Speed Development Co. Ltd f§
£ F EPS Holdings, Inc. ([ HEE
B RBEEEHZ([ZWmE])
Speed Development Co. LtdBAEPS
Holdings, Inc X m ARHEEC
E-NFE=A=+—B8ItAEF
R ESRE - BoKEUE AR A%
A R ES IR B EEER o £
BEEIHE  BKREERBEEE
EFAREEREEZFHEIEE - M
Speed Development Co. Ltd#§ 4%
RANEERRE S -

BRIBEEEHE  ARAHNMNEB
/X Al Speed Apparel (BVI) Limited
([speed Apparel BVI]) [[]Speed
Development Co. Ltd# 1T =5k A
THRBERSCABETLNEERRE
(ZZ2=—-5F8]) EFREZ
“E-F=A=+—H - =%
T=H=A=t—HKkZ=ZZE_/H
FZA=T—BLFEMNRMNKR
W IRFE o fleias A1) 3k e & R R

AR W HEFE
WBLHEH T - —FEER

EE % - i1 Speed Development
Co. Ltd i A& #& [ AN 1 A] X% i 48
ERHEFEREEBRLEEX
BREBEEBEESEHET  Speed
Development Co. Ltd IR E AR
ARMISEEEB TR SERR
B ZEBBER_ZT-_MF=A
=+—HIHEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

BE_T—

TFE=A=T—RHILFE

38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Borrowing and profit guarantee in relation
to a sale and purchase agreement, incentive
agreement and subscription agreement
(Continued)

The revenue and profit after tax of the Group
attributable to the Garment Business for the year
ended 31 March 2024 is HK$S466,977,764 and
HKS$7,863,869 respectively while the targeted
revenue and profitis HK$240,000,000 and
HK$10,000,000 respectively. As the profit after tax
is lower than the guaranteed profit pursuant to
the Agreement, Speed Development Co. Ltd and
Mr. Chan Wing Kai were required to compensate
the Company by waiving a portion of the 2021
Notes. As such, HKS$2,136,131 out of HK$21,666,000
of the Notes will be waived. The profit guarantee
adjustment is recorded by the Group after the
contractual right to receive the related benefit is
established. During the year ended 31 March 2025,
there is profit guarantee adjustment relating to the
year ended 31 March 2024 of HK$2,136,000 (year
ended 31 March 2024 relating to the year ended 31
March 2023: HK$393,000), being recorded in profit
and loss as “Other income, gains and losses” (note 7).

On 6 March 2024, the Company entered into the
incentive agreement (the “Incentive Agreement”)
with Mr. Chan Wing Kai, a director of Speed
Apparel (BVI) Limited, pursuant to which Mr. Chan
Wing Kai has undertaken to the Company to meet
certain performance targets in respect of the
profits and revenue of Speed Apparel BVI and its
subsidiaries for the two financial years ending 31
March 2026, Mr. Chan Wing Kai would entitle to
certain performance bonuses upon fulfillment of
the profits and revenue targets. In the case if the
actual profit or revenue is lower than the profit and
revenue targets, Mr. Chan Wing Kai shall pay to the
Company certain amount for the shortfall.

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
EPS RIRRIREBBRAR

38. ERBEHBAIRS &)

(b)

HEEWHE  RBHERREG
Rz BERBFRE(E)

HE_Z-_WE=ZA=+—H
LEEE  AEEEBERREZE
T E W= K B & s B 9 Bl &
466,977,764 7 L & 7,863,869 &
7 m B ZEWE KE Ao R A
240,000,000 % 7T & 10,000,000
BT o R EEMNER
Z T H IR E R F - Speed
Development Co. Ltd & PR 5k R %t
EWEBERBELD T —FF
BLABEARARR - At = F
— —FE1 216660008 T HF B
2,136,131 B T ER R &R
BABTWHAABEAZHE OE
FELEAAEEAR - #Z=
E_RFE=RA=+—HIEE -
REBE_FT-_MOMF=A=+—H
IEEE 221360008 T(BHE-E
“WE=ZA=1+—HILtFEE : &
BHE_ T -_=F=A=+—HB1t
F [ 2393,000/8 70 ) B s FIR &
AR WRBRAIEAMmWA - I
wmNMEE ITE T ABRMIZE?) ©

RZZFEZWMFE=A/AH '+ XAF
EiSpeed Apparel (BVI) LimitedZE %
BROK R SC ERT S B2 B o ([ SR
WE - B BRKBUEAEE M
KRR AIFGHE G Speed Apparel
BVIREWBARNBEE TN
FZA=+T—HLEMEMEREE
EBsMRWRETEMNE TER
BiE - mEK RN R B R
PR Sk R S A 8 B M MR TR
TBAL - RN EERFEE
mH ks B R - oK EE
BREBMARAZNETEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Borrowing and profit guarantee in relation
to a sale and purchase agreement, incentive
agreement and subscription agreement
(Continued)

On 6 March 2024, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with Mr. Chan Wing Kai,
pursuant to which the Company issued to Mr.
Chan Wing Kai a note with principal amount of
HK$50 million, interest-bearing at 6% and due for
repayment on 30 June 2026 (the “2024 Note").
Upon the issuance of the 2024 Note, the remaining
outstanding balance of 2021 Notes and the
interest-free revolving facility were settled.

The amounts due to Speed Development Co. Ltd
and Mr. Chan Wing Kai are initially measured at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost.

Included in “amounts due to related parties” line
item of the consolidated statement of financial
position and as disclosed in note 26, were amount
due to Speed Development Co. Ltd of nil at 31
March 2025 (2024: HK$56,434,000); and amounts
due to Mr. Chan Wing Kai of HK$51,281,000, which
comprised of (i) HKS$4,000 is carried at FVTPL
in relation to contingent payable for Incentive
Agreement; (ii) HK$50,535,000 in relation to the
2024 Note and (iii) HKS742,000 is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand at 31 March
2025 (2024 nil).

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

38. EXBEELIRZ @)

(b)

HEHGR  RBHBERIBEH
2z BERBNRE(E)

RZZFE-_WF=A/NH ' KQF
/\Bﬁﬂgyﬁin]—iwuﬁﬁﬁ% EI:E
it AR A AR KRN BT —
RASEEAS0OBEBIT © KoERT
BUYR-ZZE-_ARFNA=1+HE
HHE’J—J—?J%U:g_IﬁmEJ)
% TT—i IEE?RT’FT% —r
—FEENEEBREMENERT
HAEBELEMHRAITEE -

D

&5t Speed Development Co. Ltd &
BROKBUE ERFIBYI SR A FE
u‘l’i Ef&?ﬁ&&%ﬁ&$u+i ©

RZTE-_RAF=A=+—8"
J& < Speed Development Co. Ltd

E"\]%’)’(I}EE /%TE( F"E IEE
564340008 7L) MR Z-_ZT - Hh

FZA=+—H - ENBEXEL
EB@ R I 551,281,000 7T ( B 3
(VEAFEAEZ B HIBEW
E%JZEFHZ%?AIEEF%Zmoo;e
(W -NFEEFBR 2
50535000/%73 K(iEEHF - 5
8 NIk BESREE 2 742,000 7T )
(_% U4 : 487) - \?V?Aﬁﬁ
?f%;'ﬂlj:ﬁ%%mw’éﬁfﬂﬂ A B
BN IKW&%&%°
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B IS SRR MY AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. EXEEAIRXZ (&)
(CONTINUED)
(c)  Key management personnel remuneration () EEEEEZFHMH

Remuneration for key management personnel
of the Group, including amounts paid to the
Company'’s directors and certain of the highest paid
employees as disclosed in note 11, is as follows:

AEBETEZEEE 2 H M (2EH
AN BEEXN T ARRES R
ETHRSHFMNEE2SF)WT

2025 2024

—E-RE —E-pEF

HKS$’000 HKS000

FET FET

Salaries and other benefits e RHEHMEF 5,208 3,428
Retirement benefit scheme and RIKEFIFTEI R R

contributions 104 29
Equity-settled share-based expense  LAMEz & E LAMK D &

B AR 256 -

5,568 3,457

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see

note 11). BABEET1) °
39. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 39. KEHELH
The Group as lessor FEEEREHBAA

All of the machineries held by the Group for rental
purposes have committed lessees for one to ten years.

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as

REBEERABARBZEFEHERS
BTE RN — 2 TFAMHRER -

A EHER AR RKHEEFTRNT

follows:
2025 2024
g S T S —E_mEF
HKS’000 HKS000
FHT TFET
Within one year R—FNR 4,420 2,715
In the second year F-F 3,841 1,511
In the third year E=F 2,306 937
In the fourth year FIUF 125 54
In the fifth year EFRF 23 15
After five years hF® 17 7
10,732 5,239
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40.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

As disclosed in note 38(b), the Company had amount
due to related parties, Speed Development Co. Ltd, of
approximately HK$56,434,000 in relation to the 2021
Notes as at 31 March 2024, which was due for repayment
on 31 March 2024. During the year ended 31 March
2025, the amount due to Speed Development Co. Ltd
of HKS$56,434,000 was settled by (i) offsetting with the
2024 Note with principal amount of HK$50,000,000; (ii)
approximately of HK$2,136,000 was waived pursuant
to the terms of 2021 Notes and (iii) settled in cash for
approximately HK$4,298,000.

400

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

HRERS

BANKTEE38(b) FT I EE - M ZT I F
ZA=+—8 ' A2FEAR=-ZE-NWN
FZA=+—HEHEEZ2-_T—_—F
S5 i FE 15 B3 Bt 75 Speed Development
CO Ltd 2X 78 #9 56,434,000 78 7C > &
ZERAF=A=+t—HLEFE "
FEHSpeed Development Co. Ltd FX I8
56,434,000/ 7L LA T3 5 RE T : ()
fﬁ$i§550000000/%7132_§_@¢
ZR(IWVMBE_E_—FEE KRR
R#492,136,0008 7T ¢ K (i) AIR S BT 4
4,298,000/ 7T °©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B IS SRR MY AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZT_AF=A=1T—HILHFE

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 41. AAXATFMKARREK
THE COMPANY

2025 2024
—E-EHF —TOF
HKS’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investment in subsidiaries KERKTBAA] 1,011 1,021
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other ENRIE - ek
receivables Eﬁﬂ}rqﬁli 128 70
Amounts due from subsidiaries JEUS B B A Bl FRIE 94,035 173,071
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEe%F f’i% 65,563 554
159,726 173,695
Current liabilities REBAE
Accruals and other payables ‘|‘§Fﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂﬁ§ﬁw\ 2,429 3,160
Amounts due to related parties JEHF%? KIE 4,217 =
Amounts due to a subsidiary FEAT—FA WJ* A FKIE 12,530 64,782
19,176 67,942
Net current assets BERBEE 140,550 105,753
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBAR 141,561 106,774
Non-current liabilities 5”%@]&15
Amounts due to a related party JE 1~ BB 77 FR0E 50,540 -
Amount due to non-controlling interests  FE{T JEFEAR#E 25 /TAIE 29,987 50,204
80,527 50,204
Net assets BEE 61,034 56,570
Capital and reserves EARRHE
Share capital LN 5,222 5,000
Reserves fE 55,812 51,570
Total equity ERBHE 61,034 56,570
254 EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_T_hF=-"A=1t—HILFE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 41. ZAATBBRREKE)
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Movement of the share capital and reserves are stated as IR K 2 EE T -
below:
Retained
Share earnings
Share Share option (accumulated
capital premium  reserve losses) Total
iBIRE REEF
BE  ROEE wE  (RIER) e
HKS’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS’000
FEr TFErT TFEx FEr FEn
1 April 2023 R-E-=FHF—H 5,000 47,656 - (4,053) 48,603
Profit and total comprehensive F A3 1| K 2 H U 2
income for the year BEE - - - 7,967 7,967
At 31 March 2024 RZT_ME=A=+
and 1 April 2024 —BRZTMF
mA—H 5000 47,656 - 3914 56,570
Loss and total comprehensive F R EB R Z2HE MY
expense for the year Fk-c) - - _ (17,802) (17,802)
Issue of new shares, BATHAR - HORRAR D
net of share issue expenses BTER 222 21,778 - - 22,000
Recognition of equity-settled W 5B LAME 23 45 E LARR (9
share-based payment RER 2NFHAE - - 266 - 266
At 31 March 2025 RZE-_RAF=H
=+—H 5,222 69,434 266 (13,888) 61,034
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY OF THE GROUP
FEELFUBHE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LGEBZ221)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT ORLOSS #IEE#HEK

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—ECRE ZEBENF —E-—F —T--F —EBE-_—F
HKS’000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000
FET FET FET FET FET
Revenue Wz 544,522 644,615 452,906 519,947 405,445
Profit (loss) before tax BrEE AR F) (E518) 33,416 (24,052) (48,161) (22,744) 7,136
Income tax expense FriS R X (3,022) (2,444) (2,125) (3,529) 631)
Profit (loss) for the year — F i@ FlJ (E518) 30,394 (26,496) (50,286) (26,273) 6,505
Attributable to: AT AL FEL
Owners of the Company AR AHEA A 38,585 (22,066) (45,737) (22,600) 6,505
Non-controlling interests ~ JE¥E AR #E 25 (8,191) (4,430) (4,549) (3,673) -
30,394 (26,496) (50,286) (26,273) 6,505
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL e BBEMRRR
POSITION
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E_RE —EBE-NFE —F-=F —FT-_—F —EE-—%F
HK$’000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Current assets MENEE 231,761 211,929 216,732 284,643 146,955
Non-current assets ERBEE 105,088 217,956 10,762 11,917 4212
Total assets EEE 336,849 429,885 227,494 296,560 151,167
Current liabilities REAaE 80,222 205,030 115,184 82,288 17,892
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 94,104 86,673 20,666 74,408 130
Total liabilities weE 174,326 291,703 135,850 156,696 18,022
Net assets FEE 162,523 138,182 91,644 139,864 133,145
Equity R
Equity attributable to PN/NSIE Y PN
owners of the Company R 120,684 65,355 87,639 131,319 133,145
Non-controlling interests  FE¥5 A& 25 41,839 72,827 4,005 8,545 —
162,523 138,182 91,644 139,864 133,145

EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited
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